

National Library of Canada

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

395 Wellington Street Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4 Bibliothèque nationale du Canada

Direction des acquisitions et des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

Your life - Votre reference

Out life Note reference

AVIS

The quality of this microform is heavily dependent upon the quality of the original thesis submitted for microfilming. Every effort has been made to ensure the highest quality of reproduction possible.

NOTICE

If pages are missing, contact the university which granted the degree.

Some pages may have indistinct print especially if the original pages were typed with a poor typewriter ribbon or if the university sent us an inferior photocopy.

Reproduction in full or in part of this microform is governed by the Canadian Copyright Act, R.S.C. 1970, c. C-30, and subsequent amendments. La qualité de cette microforme dépend grandement de la qualité de la thèse soumise au microfilmage. Nous avons tout fait pour assurer une qualité supérieure de reproduction.

S'il manque des pages, veuillez communiquer avec l'université qui a conféré le grade.

La qualité d'impression de certaines pages peut laisser à désirer, surtout si les pages originales ont été dactylographiées à l'aide d'un ruban usé ou si l'université nous a fait parvenir une photocopie de qualité inférieure.

La reproduction, même partielle, de cette microforme est soumise à la Loi canadienne sur le droit d'auteur, SRC 1970, c. C-30, et ses amendements subséquents.

Canadä

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

(ALKOXY)ARYLDIOXIRANES FROM OZONATION OF ALKENES

BY



A THESIS SUBMITTED TO THE FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH IN PARTIAL FULFILLMENT OF THE REQUIREMENTS FOR THE DEGREE OF DOCTOR OF PHILOSOPHY

DEPARTMENT OF CHEMISTRY

EDMONTON, ALBERTA

FALL, 1994



National Library of Canada

395 Wellington Street

Ottawa, Ontario K1A 0N4

Acquisitions and Bibliographic Services Branch

des services bibliographiques

395, rue Wellington Ottawa (Ontario) K1A 0N4

du Canada

Bibliothèque nationale

Direction des acquisitions et

Your life - Volre référence

Our life Notre référence

The author has granted an irrevocable non-exclusive licence allowing the National Library of Canada to reproduce, loan, sell copies distribute or of his/her thesis by any means and in any form or format, making this thesis available to interested persons.

L'auteur a accordé une licence et non exclusive irrévocable Bibliothèque permettant à la nationale du Canada de reproduire, prêter, distribuer ou vendre des copies de sa thèse de quelque manière et sous quelque forme que ce soit pour mettre des exemplaires de cette thèse à disposition des la personnes intéressées.

The author retains ownership of the copyright in his/her thesis. Neither the thesis nor substantial extracts from it may be printed or otherwise reproduced without his/her permission.

L'auteur conserve la propriété du droit d'auteur qui protège sa thèse. Ni la thèse ni des extraits substantiels de celle-ci ne doivent être imprimés **UO** autrement reproduits sans son autorisation.

ISBN 0-315-95292-X



YUXIE Chemistry Organic

Dissertation Abstracts International is arranged by broad, general subject categories. Please select the one subject which most nearly describes the content of your dissertation. Enter the corresponding four-digit code in the spaces provided. Name

SUBJECT TERM



Subject Categories

THE HUMANITIES AND SOCIAL SCIENCES

Li

COMMUNICATIONS AND THE A	RTS –
Architecture	
Art History	0377
Cinema	0900
Dance	0378
Fine Arts	0357
Information Science	0723
Journalism	0391
Library Science	0399
Mass Communications	0708
Music	0413
Speech Communication	0450
Theater	
INCORT	

EDUCATION

General	0515
Administration Adult and Continuing	0514
Adult and Continuing	
Adult and Continuing	
Agricultural	
Ant	0273
Art. Bilingual and Multicultural	02/32
Business	0658
Community College	0275
Curriculum and Instruction	
Curriculum and instruction	
Early Childhood	
Elementary	
Finance	
Guirlance and Counseling	0.519
Health	0440
	0745
tligher	
History of	0520
Home Economics	
Industrial	0521
Language and Literature	J279
Mathematics	0280
Advala	0522
Music	
Philosophy of	
Physical	0523

Psychology Reading U535 Religious 0527 Sciences 0714 Secondary 0533 Social Sciences 0534 Sociology of 0340 Special 0529 Teacher Training 0530 Technology 0710 Tests and Measurements 0288 LANGUAGE, LITERATURE AND

LINGUISTICS ما

anguage	
Genera	- 0679
Anrient	0289
Linguistics	. 0290
Modern	0291
terature	
General	0401
General	
Classical	
Comparative	0273
Medieval	0297
Modern	0298
African	0316
American	0591
Asian	. 0305
Canadian (English)	0352
Canadiar (French)	0355
English	00000
English	
Germanic	
Istin American	
Middle Eastern	0315
Romance	0313
Slavic and East European	0314

THE SCIENCES AND ENGINEERING

BIOLOGICAL SCIENCES

1

Generol	
Agronomy	0285
Agronomy Animal Culture and	
Nutrition	
Animal Pathology	0476
Eard Science and	
Technology	0359
Technology Forestry and Wildlife	
Plant Pathology Plant Physiology Range Management	0480
Plant Physiology	
Range Management	0777
Wood Technology	0746
Biology	
General	
Anatomy Biostatistics	
Biostatistics	
Bolany	
Celi	
Ecology	
Entomology	0353
Genetics	
Limnology	0793
Microbiology	
Molecular	
Neuroscience	
Oceanography	
Physiology	
Radiation Veterinary Science	
Veterinary Science	
20010gy	
Biophysics	070/
Guneral	
Medical	0/60
EARTH SCIENCES	
EAR IN SUERIES	0425
Biogeochemistry	
Geochemistry	

0370 Geodesy Geology 0372 Geology 0372 Geophy: cs 0373 Hydrology 0388 Geophy: Cs Hydrology Minerclogy Paleobotany Paleobotany Paleobotany 0411 0345 0426 0418 Poleontology Palynology 0427 Physical Geography 0368 Physical Oceanography 0415 HEALTH AND ENVIRONMENTAL SCIENCES 0566 General Audiology Chemotherapy 0992 Dentistry Education 0350 0769 Hospital Management Human Development Immunology Medicine and Surgery Mental Health 0982 0564 0347 Nursing Nutrition 0570 Obstetrics and Gynecology 0380 Occupational Health and 0254 .0354 Ophthalmology 0571 Pathology Pharmacology rnarmacology 03/19 Pharmacy 05/2 Physical Therapy 0382 Public Health 05/23 Radiology 02/20

PHILOSOPHY, RELIGION AND	
THEOLOGY Philosophy	0422
Religion General Biblical Studies Clergy History of Philosophy of Theology	0318 0321 0319 0320 0322 0469
SOCIAL SCIENCES American Studies	0323
Anthropology Archorology Cultural Physical Business Administration	UJZO
General Accounting Banking	0310 0272 0770
Management Marketing Canadian Studies Economics	0454 0338 0385
General Agricultural Commerce-Business Finance History Labor Theory	0503 0505 0508 0509 0510 0511
Folklore	0358
History General	0578

Ancient	057	10
Mindieval	056	ń
Modern	056	12
Block	030	δū.
Alatana	031	11
Alrican Asia, Australia and Oceania	033	22
Asia, Australia and Oceania		
Canadian		
European	030	2
Latin American	033	20
Middle Eastern	033	17
United States	033	ie.
History of Science	030	5
Law	035	0
Political Science General	~~	c
General	001	2
International Law and	~	
Relations Public Administration	201	9
Public Administration	001	'.
Recreation	081	4
	045	2
Sociology	~ ~ ~	
General	004	0
Criminology and Penology	1001	2
Demography	093	SR.
General Criminology and Penology Demography Ethnic and Racial Studies	063	51
Individual and Family Studies	~	
Studies	062	28
Industrial and Labor		
Relations Public and Social Welfare	062	29
Public and Social Wellare	063	80
Social Structure and		
Development Theory and Methods Transportation Urban and Regional Planning	070	N)
Theory and Methods	034	4
Transportation	070	99
Urban and Regional Planning	099	9
Women's Studies	045	53

PHYSICAL SCIENCES **Pure Sciences** Chemistry General 0485 Agricultural 0749 Analytical 0486 Biochemistry 0487 Nuclear 0738 Organic 0490 Pharmaceutica 0491 0494 Physical Polymer Radiation 0495 0754 0405 Mathematics Physics 0605 General Acoustics Astronomy and 0986 0606 Astrophysics Atmospheric Science 0608 Optics 0752 Rodiation 0756 Solid State 0611 **Applied Sciences**

Lugueenng	
General	.0537
Aerospace Agricultural	0538
Agricultural	. 0539
Automotive	0540
Biomedical	0541
Chemical	.0542
Civil	.0543
Electropics and Electrical	0544
Heat and Thermodynamics	0348
Hydraulic	0545
Industrial	0546
Marine	0547
Materials Science	0794
Mechanical	0548
Mechanical	0743
Metallurgy	0743
Mining	
Nuclear	.0332
Packaging	.0349
Petroleum	
Sanitary and Municipal System Science	0334
System Science	0790
Geotechnology	0428
Operations Research	0796
Plastics Technology	0795
Textile Technology	0994
PEYCHOLOGY	
DETENNET	

PSYCHOLOGY

Engineering

General	
Behavioral	0384
Clinical	
Developmental	
Experimental	
Industrial	
Personality	0625
Physiological	0989
Psychobiology Psychometrics	
Psychometrics	
Social	045

 (Ξ)

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

RELEASE FORM

NAME OF AUTHOR: YU XIE

TITLE OF THESIS: (ALKOXY)ARYLDIOXIRANES FROM OZONATION OF ALKENES

DEGREE: Ph. D.

YEAR THIS DEGREE GRANTED: 1994

Permission is hereby granted to the University of Alberta Library to reproduce single copies of this thesis and to lend or sell copies for private, scholarly or scientific research purposes only.

The author reserves all other publication and other rights in association with the copyright in the thesis, and except as hereinbefore provided neither the thesis nor any substantial portion thereof may be printed or otherwise reproduced in any material from whatever without the author's prior written permission.

Mi die

Permanent Address: Xiamen, Fujian P. R. of China

Date: October 6, 1994

UNIVERSITY OF ALBERTA

FACULTY OF GRADUATE STUDIES AND RESEARCH

The undersigned certify that they have read, and <u>monoral</u> to the Faculty of Graduate Studies and Research for eceptan <u>second</u> a mesis entitled

(ALKOXY) ARYLDIOXIRANES

FROM OZONATION OF ALK^T ES

submitted by YU XIE in partial fulfillment of the ___uirements for the degree of Doctor of Philosophy in chemistry.

ADCC' : Superviso K. R. Kopecky H. Liu D. D. Tanner M. Cowie **P.** Sporns

A. P. Schaap

Date: September 30, 1994

Abstract

All or some of the following products are produced from ozonation of E- or Z-1,2-dialkoxy-1,2-diarylethenes under different conditions: the alkyl 2,3-dialkoxy-2,3-diaryloxiranes, 3.4-dialkoxy-3.4benzoates, 3,6-dialkoxy-3,6-diaryl-1,2,4,5-tetroxanes, and diaryldioxetanes, (alkoxy)aryldioxiranes. The formation of the oxiranes and dioxetanes is stereospecific. Product formation and distribution vary with starting material, initial concentration of the alkene, reaction temperature, solvent, and the method of the ozonation. The initial interaction between ozone and the alkene results in the formation of two intermediates, i.e., the primary ozonide and oxygenated oxirane of the alkene. Decomposition of the oxygenated oxirane gives the oxirane and singlet oxygen which reacts with the unreacted alkene to give the dioxetane. Cleavage of the primary ozonide gives the benzoate and the (alkoxy)arylcarbonyl oxide which can either dimerize to the tetroxane or cyclize to the dioxirane. The dioxirane can either react with the unreacted alkene to give the oxirane and benzoate or remain as one of the final products. This study has shown for the first time that the dioxiranes can be produced by solution-phase ozonation of the alkenes.



Ozonation of two 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethenes gives similar types of products as above but no evidence was obtained for the formation of dialkoxydioxiranes.

The results of ozonation of E-1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene indicate that acetoxy group is an electron-withdrawing substituent. Inverse ozonation of E-1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene yields (methoxy)phenyldioxirane in a good yield.

No evidence was found for the formation of dioxiranes from (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides, (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide, and diphenylcarbonyl oxide.

This study also shows that tetroxanes are a new class of chemiluminescent molecules.

Acknowledgments

I wish to express my sincere appreciation and gratitude to Professor K. R. Kopecky for his outstanding guidance throughout this research project.

I would like to thank all my teachers in Xiamen Shiyan Elementary School, Xiamen Shuangshi Middle School, Xiamen University, and University of Alberta.

I am very grateful to my wife and my family for their support.

Finally, I would like to thank the University of Alberta for providing a teaching assistantship.

Table of Contents

I. Introduction
II. (Alkoxy)aryldioxiranes from Ozonation of 1,2-Dialkoxy-
1,2-Diarylethenes 14
A. Discovery of (methoxy)phenyldioxirane from ozonation
of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene14
B. Steric effects on ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-diethoxy-1,2-
diphenylethene and E- and Z-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-
diphenylethene45
C. Electronic effects on ozonation of E -1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-
bis(4-methoxyphenyl) ethene and $E-1,2$ -dimethoxy-1,2- $bis(4-$
nitrophenyl)ethene57
D. More discussion of (alkoxy)aryldioxiranes62
E. Conclusion 70
F. Experimental71
III. Synthesis and Ozonation of 2-[(Methoxy)phenyl]methylene-
1,3-dioxolane and 1,1,2-Trimethoxy-2-Phenylethene 106
Results and Discussion 107
Conclusion 122
Experimental 123
IV. Ozonation of E-1,2-Diacetoxy-1,2-Diphenylethene and
E-1-Acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-Diphenylethene 129
Experimental 142
V. Investigation of Other Carbonyl Oxides146
A. Ozonation of 1,2-dialkyl-1,2-dialkoxy alkenes

and 1,2-dialkyl-1,2-diaryl alkenes146
B. Ozonation of Z-1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene
and 2-methoxy-1,1-diphenylpropene155
C. Conclusion 159
D. Experimental 160
VI. Discovery of Tetroxanes as a New Class of
Chemiluminescent molecules 170
References 177
Appendix
The Question of Dioxirane Formation in the Ozonolysis
of Tetramethylethylene 186

List of Tables

Table 1. Product distribution from the ozonation of <i>E</i> - and <i>Z</i> -1,2-
dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ 26
Table 2. Product distribution from the ozonation of mixtures of
0.04 M 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a and
$0.08 M 2,3$ -dimethyl-2-butene 5 in CD_2Cl_2
Table 3. Product distribution from the ozonation of <i>E</i> - and <i>Z</i> -1,2-
dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a in CD ₃ OD/CD ₂ Cl ₂ 40
Table 4. Product distribution from the ozonation of E - and Z -8a
in the presence of CD ₃ ONa in CD ₃ OD/CD ₂ Cl ₂ 4i
Table 5. Product distribution from the ozonation of <i>E</i> - and <i>Z</i> -1,2-
diethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8b in CD ₂ Cl ₂ 50
Table 6. Product distribution from the ozonation of <i>E</i> - and <i>Z</i> -1,2-
diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8c53
Table 7. Product distribution from the ozonation of <i>E</i> -1,2-dimethoxy-
1,2-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)ethene 8d and E-1,2-dimethoxy-
1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene 8e in CD ₂ Cl ₂ 59
Table 8. Relative reactivities of competitive epoxidation of various
alkenes and cyclohexene with (methoxy)phenyldioxirane
13a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ 67
Table 9. Epoxidation of methyl <i>E</i> -cinnamate by
(methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ at -20 °C92
Table 10. Epoxidation of methyl E-cinnamate by
(methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ at -40 °C94
Table 11. Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene

	<i>E</i> -8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane $13c$ in CD_2Cl_2 at
	–20 °C96
Table 12.	Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene
	<i>E</i> -8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c in CD_2Cl_2 at
	-40 °C98
Table 13.	Epoxidation of methyl E-crotonate by
(methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ at -20 °C······100
Table 14.	Epoxidation of methyl E-crotonate by methoxy(4-
	methoxyphenyl)dioxirane 13d in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C102
Table 15.	Epoxidation of methyl E-crotonate by methoxy(4-
	nitrophenyl)dioxirane 13e in CD ₂ Cl ₂ at -20 °C······104
Table 16.	Product distribution from the ozonation of 2-
ł	[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane110
Table 17.	Product distribution from the ozonation of <i>E</i> -1-
	acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene in CD ₂ Cl ₂ 137
Table 18.	Enthalpies of formation (kcal/mol) used in
	thermochemical calculations

List of Figures

Figure 1. The ¹ H NMR signals of the methoxy groups of cis-3,6-
dimethoxy-3,6-diphenylethene at various temperatures20
Figure 2. The ¹ H NMR spectrum of the methoxy groups of ozonation
products of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene23
Figure 3. The ¹ H NMR spectrum of the methoxy groups of ozonation
products of Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene24
Figure 4. Concentration effect on the yields of product in
the inverse ozonation of E -8a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C36
Figure 5. Concentration effect on the yields of product in
the inverse ozonation of Z-8a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C36
Figure 6. Epoxidation of methyl <i>E</i> -cinnamate by
(methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C93
Figure 7. Epoxidation of methyl <i>E</i> -cinnamate by
(methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ at -40 °C 95
Figure 8. Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-
diphenylethene E-8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane
13c in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C97
Figure 9. Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-
diphenylethene E-8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane
13c in CD_2Cl_2 at -40 °C99
Figure 10. Epoxidation of methyl <i>E</i> -crotonate by
(methoxy)dioxirane 13a in CD ₂ Cl ₂ at -20 °C101
Figure 11. Epoxidation of methyl <i>E</i> -crotonate by methoxy(4-
methoxyphenyl)dioxirane 13d in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C103
Figure 12. Epoxidation of methyl E-crotonate by methoxy(4-

nitrophenyl)dioxirane 13e in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C.....105

List of Schemes

	1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenyloxirane in CD ₃ OD115
Scheme 17.	Possible ozonation mechanism of
	2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane120
Scheme 18.	Proposed mechanisms for ozonation of
	<i>E</i> -1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene131
Scheme 19.	Ozonation mechanism of E-1-acetoxy-2-
	methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene141
Scheme 20.	Synthesis of <i>E</i> - and <i>Z</i> -2,3-dimethoxy-2-butene147
Scheme 21.	Synthesis of 2,3-dimethyl-1,4-dioxene148
Scheme 22.	Synthesis of Z-1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene
	and 2-methoxy-1,1-diphenylpropene157
Scheme 23.	A chemically initiated electron-exchange luminescence
	(CIEEL) mechanism proposed for the thermolysis of
	a tetroxane in the presence of a fluorescer

Table of Codes



From 8a-e to 14a-e

a: $Ar = C_6H_5$, $R = CH_3$ **b**: $Ar = C_6H_5$, $R = C_2H_5$ **c**: $Ar = C_6H_5$, $R = CH(CH_3)_2$ **d**: Ar = p-CH₃OC₆H₄, $R = CH_3$ **e**: Ar = p-O₂NC₆H₄, $R = CH_3$



























I. INTRODUCTION

Ozonolysis of alkenes to give carbonyl compounds has been a well known and widely utilized reaction in organic chemistry.¹ The basic mechanism of this reaction was established by Criegee.² The three-step Criegee mechanism illustrated in Scheme 1 is usually explained using 1,3dipolar cycloaddition concepts.³



Scheme 1. The Criegee mechanism

The first step is cycloaddition of the ozone 1,3-dipole across the double bond dipolarophile to form a cyclic intermediate called a primary ozonide or 1,2,3-trioxolane. The primary ozonide is generally quite unstable and in the second step it cleaves via a cycloreversion reaction to a carbonyl compound and a carbonyl oxide or so-called Criegee intermediate. The carbonyl oxide is isoelectronic with ozone and can be considered as another 1,3-dipole. In the third step the carbonyl oxide quickly combines with the carbonyl compound to produce the final ozonide, called a 1,2,4-trioxolane, via a cycloaddition reaction which is formally analogous to the first step of the mechanism.

For an unsymmetrical alkene, there are two possible directions of the

cleavage of the primary ozonide. Each direction leads to the formation of different carbonyl oxides as shown in Scheme 2.



Scheme 2. Two directions of the cleavage of an unsymmetrical primary ozonide

A useful rule has been established by Fliszar⁴ and Griesbaum⁵. This rule states that cleavage of the primary ozonides tends to occur in the direction which results in the placement of electron-donating substituents such as methyl on the carbonyl oxide fragment as a consequence of the stabilization of the local positive charge. Correspondingly, electronwithdrawing substituents such as acyl and halogen are incorporated in the carbonyl compound. In the ozonolysis of alkenes, which possess both an electron-donating substituent and an electron-withdrawing substituent, one of the directions of cleavage of the primary ozonide becomes dominant.

Dimerization and oligomerization of carbonyl oxides to give a 1,2,4,5tetroxane and oligomer as minor products almost always accompany the ozonide formation, Scheme 3.¹ These generally become the major reactions when the moiety formed along with the carbonyl oxide is a ketone. The failure of the carbonyl oxide moiety to add to the carbonyl group of a ketone is generally attributed to the decreased 1,3-dipolarophilic and electrophilic character of a ketone carbonyl in comparison to that of an aldehyde carbonyl. Since a concerted 4 + 4 cycloaddition between two carbonyl oxides is thermally forbidden,⁶ the formation of the tetroxanes is most likely to occur stepwise, via a zwitterionic intermediate, giving rise to a mixture of cis and trans isomers with unsymmetrically substituted carbonyl oxides. The tetroxane ring has been shown to exist in a chair conformation.⁷ The zwitterionic intermediate can, in competition with dimerization and oligomerization, decompose to two molecules of the carbonyl compound and one molecule of oxygen, as shown in Scheme 3.⁸



Scheme 3. Dimerization, oligomerization, and decomposition of carbonyl oxides

The transitory existence of carbonyl oxides is inferred primarily from the reaction products and from trapping reactions.¹ In protic solvents, carbonyl oxides are converted to hydroperoxides. Methanol is the most commonly used "participating" solvent in ozonolysis chemistry.¹ The reaction of carbonyl oxides with methanol forms the corresponding α methoxyhydroperoxides, eq 1. Thus the direction of cleavage of a primary ozonide from ozonolysis of an unsymmetrical alkene can be inferred from the trapping product α -methoxyhydroperoxide.

$$\begin{array}{c} R \\ R \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{C} - OO \xrightarrow{CH_3OH} \\ R \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{R} C \xrightarrow{OOH} \\ R \\ \xrightarrow{OCH_3} \end{array}$$
(1)

The most impressive evidence for the Criegee mechanism comes from the isolation of cross ozonides and cross 1,2,4,5-tetroxanes. According to the Criegee mechanism, the original alkene breaks into two parts which then recombine to form the ozonide. In the case of an unsymmetrical alkene RCH=CHR' or two different symmetrical alkenes RCH=CHR and R'CH=CHR' three ozonides should result:

$$\begin{array}{c} 0-0 & 0-0 & 0-0 \\ RHC & CHR' & RHC & CHR & R'HC & CHR' \end{array}$$

Since there are two different aldehydes and two different carbonyl oxides, they can combine in the three ways shown. Actually six ozonides, corresponding to the cis and trans forms of the above three, were isolated and characterized for methyl oleate.⁹ Similarly, if the carbonyl oxides undergo the dimerization reaction, three tetroxanes (or six if the cis and trans forms are considered) can be obtained from ozonolysis of either an unsymmetrical alkene RR'C=CR"R" or a mixture of two symmetrical alkenes RR'C=CR'R and R"R"C=CR"R".¹⁰

Additional evidence for the Criegee mechanism is that:¹ (1) ozonolysis of various alkenes in the presence of an excess of a reactive aldehyde gives a cross ozonide by interaction of the carbonyl oxide with the aldehyde rather than with the carbonyl moiety produced along with it; (2) some carbonyl oxides prepared in an entirely different manner, e.g., photooxidation of diazo compounds or oxidation of diazo compounds with singlet oxygen, react with aldehydes to give ozonides or dimerize to give tetroxanes; and (3) cis and trans alkenes generally give the same ozonide, which can be expected if their reaction intermediates cleave first to two parts with the loss of the original geometric information of the alkenes before recombination to form the ozonide.

Subsequent to these fundamental studies, slight modifications of the basic Criegee mechanism have been made to account for geometry and formation of the reaction products. It has been observed in some cases that ozonolysis of cis alkenes gives more cis ozonide while ozonolysis of trans alkenes gives more trans ozonide.¹¹ This is not compatible with the Criegee mechanism. If the Criegee mechanism operated as shown above, the cis/trans ratios for the ozonides would have to be identical for the cis and trans alkenes, since in this mechanism the geometric difference of the isomers is destroyed upon the cleavage of the primary ozonides. The stereochemical results have been explained on the basis of the Criegee mechanism with the following refinements.¹² (1) The formation of primary ozonide is stereospecific, as expected from a 1,3 dipolar cycloaddition. (2) Once they are formed, the carbonyl compound and the carbonyl oxide remain attracted to each other, much like an ion pair. (3) The carbonyl oxide exists in syn and anti forms, which are produced in different amounts and can retain their configurations,



at least for a time. (4) The combination of the carbonyl compound and the

carbonyl oxide is also a 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition, therefore the configuration of the carbonyl oxide is retained in this step too.

Nowadays, the Criegee mechanism is considered as being well established and is the reference point for discussion of ozonation of alkenes.¹³ However, not all alkenes undergo the ozonation reaction by the Criegee mechanism. In the Criegee mechanism, the double bond of the alkene is completely cleaved. (The term *ozonolysis* is specifically designated to the entire process involving the cleavage of the double or triple bonds by ozone, while the terms ozonation and ozonization are synonymous and refer to treatment of any substance with ozone).¹ There are many examples of ozonation leading to, in varying degrees, partial cleavage where only the π bond of the carbon-carbon double bond is broken.¹⁴ The products, in many cases, are oxiranes; whereas in other cases they are derived from the oxirane by rearrangement, reactions with other functional groups in the molecule, or reactions with the solvent, etc. In the partial cleavage ozonation, only one atom of the ozone molecule is utilized and molecular oxygen is released, which in some cases has been shown to be singlet oxygen.¹⁵ The various examples can roughly be divided into two categories: sterically hindered and unhindered alkenes. In the first category the degree of "partial cleavage" appears to increase with the bulk of the groups around the double bond. These reactions also appear to be stereospecific, with retention of configuration.¹⁶ The unhindered alkenes that give oxiranes or rearrangement products usually possess electron-rich groups attached to a double-bond carbon. In the cases studied, oxirane formation is not stereospecific and there is, generally, a solvent effect. For example, ozonation of both *cis*- and *trans*-1,2-difluoroethene in methyl chloride yields only cis oxirane and formyl fluoride as the major products, whereas ozonolysis products are major

products when isobutane is used as the solvent.¹⁷

For these reactions the mechanism as shown in Scheme 4 was proposed.^{14,16} The initial species, a π complex, was suggested to be produced



Scheme 4. Competition between ozonolysis and partial cleavage

first in any case. It, then, in general, tends to complete a 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition on the way to ozonolysis products. As the bulk of the substituents around the double bond increases, however, 1,3-dipolar cycloaddition becomes more and more hindered and loss of molecular oxygen, via a transition state or a σ complex, to yield an oxirane or other partial cleavage products becomes more and more important. For unhindered alkenes, a zwitterionic intermediate in the partial cleavage reaction was

suggested since it will be stabilized by the electron-rich substituent. Consequently, it can account for the lack of stereospecificity in the oxirane formation as well as the solvent effect.

In spite of all the previous investigations, not all the details of the mechanism of ozonation of alkenes are known. Therefore, this topic continues to attract considerable attention.¹⁸

The ozonation of vinyl ethers, which contain the C=C-OR moiety, has received extensive study.¹⁹ A common feature of this reaction is that the cleavage of the primary ozonide always occurs in the direction of formation of an ester and a ketone oxide or an aldehyde oxide, Scheme 5.2^{0} Alkenes in

Scheme 5. Cleavage of the primary ozonides of vinyl ethers

which the double bond is connected to electron-donating groups react much faster with ozone than those in which it is connected to electron-withdrawing groups.²¹ Since the –OR substituent donates electron density to the carbon-carbon double bond, vinyl ethers are categorized as electron-rich alkenes, and exhibit high reactivity toward electrophilic ozone.

For several years the study of ozonolysis mechanism of electron-rich alkenes has been one of the research subjects in this laboratory. In the case of tetramethoxyethene 1, it was found that ozonation of this electron-rich alkene results in the formation of mainly tetramethoxy-1,2-dioxetane (20-35%) 2 and methyl trimethoxyacetate (35-60%) 3 with relatively little cleavage product,

dimethyl carbonate (20-40%) 4, eq 2.22 It was observed that yields vary with

$$\begin{array}{cccccccc} CH_{3}O & C == C & OCH_{3} & O_{3} & CH_{3}O & OCH_{3} & + & O & O \\ CH_{3}O & CH_{3} & CH_{3}O & OCH_{3} & + & CH_{3}OCC(OCH_{3})_{3} & + & CH_{3}OCOCH_{3} & (2) \\ 1 & 2 & 3 & 4 \\ & 20-35\% & 35-60\% & 20-40\% \end{array}$$

the initial concentration of 1, temperature and the solvent. Singlet oxygen is produced in the ozonation of 1 and can be trapped with 2,5-dimethylfuran. The reaction of singlet oxygen with 1 yields the dioxetane 2. Therefore the amount of singlet oxygen produced was considered to be the same as the amount of the dioxetane 2. Up to 2.5 moles of 1 are consumed per mole of ozone. No evidence for the formation of any trimethoxyhydroperoxide, the adduct of dimethoxycarbonyl oxide and methanol, could be obtained by ¹H NMR when 1 was ozonized in CD₃OD. Tetramethoxy-1,2,4,5-tetroxane, the dimer of dimethoxycarbonyl oxide, was not formed either when the ozonation was carried out in an inert solvent. The absence of these two products plus the relatively a little cleavage product 4 led to the conclusion that no dimethoxycarbonyl oxide is ever formed during ozonation of 1 and, further, that the primary ozonide of 1 is not formed either. It was observed that the consumption of 1 varies with its initial concentrations and is lower when a stream of ozone in argon rather than in oxygen was used. These results suggested a possibility of a contribution from a radical chain oxidation reaction of 1 with both oxygen and ozone. Ozonation of a mixture of 1 and 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 gives tetramethyloxirane 6 and 3-hydroperoxy-2,3dimethyl-1-butene 7. The allylic hydroperoxide 7 is well known to be a product of the reaction of singlet oxygen with 4. However, the amount of 7 produced was three times more than expected based on the amount of singlet oxygen produced. The formation of 6 together with excess 7 can be accounted for by a radical chain oxidation as shown in Scheme 6.2^{3} Since 6



Scheme 6. Radical chain oxidation of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene

and 7 are not formed on ozonolysis of 5 alone, the presence of 1 is required to initiate the radical chain reaction. In other words, the ozonolysis of 1 provides the initiator of the radical chain reaction. This result provides further evidence for a radical chain contribution in the ozonation of 1. A mechanism of ozonolysis of 1 as illustrated in Scheme 7 was therefore proposed to account for the product formation and the stoichiometry of the reaction.



Scheme 7. Proposed mechanism for the ozonation of tetramethoxyethene

The initial reaction in the ozonation of 1 was proposed to be an electron transfer reaction that was calculated to be exothermic by > 35 kcal/mol. The resulting radical cation of 1 can either give a methyl radical, which serves as the initiator of the radical chain oxidation, or combine with the ozone radical anion to form the oxygenated oxirane of 1 via a zwitterionic intermediate. Loss of singlet oxygen from the oxygenated oxirane forms the oxirane 6, which then rearranges to 3. Reaction between the singlet oxygen and 1 gives the dioxetane 2. The oxygenated oligomer formed from the radical chain reaction collapses to give 3 via 6 and the carbonate 4.

It seems this is the first example in which the alkene is ozonized by such a mechanism. Obviously, the electron-donating methoxy groups play an important role here. In order to gain further insight into the action of ozone on other electron-rich alkenes, at the beginning, the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- or Z-8a) was studied. In the preliminary work on E- and Z-8a,²² it was found that the ozonation of Z-8a produced about 20% of the dioxetane of Z-8a and about 40% of an unidentified product, which may be the oxirane of Z-8a or its rearrangement product, in addition to methyl benzoate. These products are similar to the products formed from the ozonation of 1. It was also found that 1.3 moles of Z-8a was consumed by each mole of ozone. These results suggested that a process similar to that in the ozonation of 1 is occurring. On the other hand, the preliminary observations on the ozonation of E-8a showed that no dioxetane was formed, one mole of E-8a was consumed by each mole of ozone and, in CD_3OD , methyl benzoate and the CD₃OD adduct of (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide were the only products formed in equal amount. Hence it seems that ozonation of E-8a proceeds by the Criegee ozonolysis mechanism. If these preliminary conclusions were true, Z-8a and *E*-8a would be ozonized by the different mechanisms.

For continuing this preliminary work, the initial object of this project is to study the ozonation of Z- and E-8a in depth. This includes the confirmation or identification of the products formed from Z- and E-8a and providing more evidence for the involvement of a radical chain oxidation reaction in the ozonation of Z-8a. However, the conclusions drawn from this detailed study are in contrast to those of the preliminary work. In order to understand the steric and electronic effects on the product formation and distribution, the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-diethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (Eand Z-8b), E- and Z-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8c), E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)ethene (E-8d), and E-1,2dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene (E-8e) were also studied.

II. (ALKOXY)ARYLDIOXIRANES FROM OZONATION OF 1,2-DIALKOXY-1,2-DIARYLETHENES

At the beginning of this project, the simplest compounds of this series, E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8a) were synthesized and their ozonation behaviors were reinvestigated.

A. Discovery of (methoxy)phenyldioxirane from ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene

1. Preparation of the starting alkenes

The starting alkenes *E*- and *Z*-8a were synthesized by methylation of benzoin dianions as described, eq $3.^{24}$

$$\frac{Ph C CHPh}{\| | |} \xrightarrow{2.2 eq. NaOH, 2.2 eq. p-TsOCH_3} \xrightarrow{Ph} C = C \xrightarrow{OCH_3} + \frac{CH_3O}{Ph} \xrightarrow{OCH_3} (3)$$

$$E-8a \qquad Z-8a$$

The two isomers were separated by flash chromatography on silica gel and their configurations were assigned on the basis of the infrared absorptions of the C=C bonds and the dipole moments.²⁵ The isomer with a medium absorption at 1620 to 1625 cm⁻¹ and with $\mu = 1.71$ D in benzene at 25 °C was assigned to be the Z-isomer; whereas the other isomer with a week absorption at 1600 cm⁻¹ and with $\mu = 1.34$ D was assigned to be the *E*isomer. The aromatic protons of the Z-isomer give a singlet at δ 7.17; whereas the aromatic protons of the *E*-isomer give a multiplet at δ 7.1-7.8.²⁵(b)

2. Results of normal ozonation

Small-scale reactions were carried out by delivering the ozone-oxygen mixture (the concentration of ozone was about 1×10^{-6} mole/mL) from a gas syringe through a Teflon tube into CD₂Cl₂ solutions of the alkenes in NMR tubes at various temperatures until a moistened iodine-starch test paper, which was placed on the top of the NMR tube, turned blue (hereafter, addition of the ozone-oxygen mixture to the solution of an alkene will be referred to as the normal ozonation). The reaction mixtures were analyzed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy at low temperature (usually at -20 °C) as a nondestructive method of analysis.

a) Product formation in normal ozonation

Initially, a 0.05 M solution of Z- or E-8a in CD_2Cl_2 was ozonized at -20 °C. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture from Z-8a showed that the OCH₃ groups of the products give only three singlets at δ (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C): 3.87, 3.36, and 3.29 with relative intensities 1:0.4:1.7. Similarly, the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture from *E*-8a also contains three singlets at δ (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C): 3.87, 3.24, and 3.06 with relative intensities 1:1:0.04. The signal at δ 3.06 is much smaller than the other two signals and may be overlooked (as in the preliminary work). The signal at δ 3.87 was readily assigned to methyl benzoate 9a; the signals at δ 3.29 and δ 3.24 were later assigned to *cis*- and *trans*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenyloxirane (*cis*- and trans-10a), respectively; and the signals at δ 3.36 and δ 3.06 were assigned to cis- and trans-3,4-dimethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetanes (cis- and trans-11a), respectively. When the ozonation of either of the two starting alkenes was carried out at the temperatures below -20 °C, two new singlets occurring at δ (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C) 3.59 and 3.69 appeared in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixtures and the intensities of these signals increased with

decreasing the ozonation temperature. They were later found to be due to *trans*- and *cis*-3,6-dimethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*trans*- and *cis*-12a).

From either isomer, only one oxirane or dioxetane is observed with the ¹H NMR spectrometer. At the beginning, it was reasonable to assume that the oxiranes and the dioxetanes are produced with retention of configuration, i.e., E-8a gives only the corresponding *trans*-10a and *trans*-11a whereas Z-8a gives only the corresponding *cis*-10a and *cis*-11a. In other words, the formation of the oxiranes and dioxetanes appears to be stereospecific. On the other hand, the formation of the tetroxanes is not stereospecific. Both *trans* and *cis*-12a are formed in approximately equal amounts by the ozonation of either *E*- or *Z*-8a.

Stoichiometry of a reaction can provide useful information in the study of the mechanism. The stoichiometry of an ozonolysis reaction where an alkene is ozonized by the Criegee mechanism must be 1, i.e., one mole of the alkene is consumed by each mole of ozone. If the alkene is not only consumed by ozone, the stoichiometry of that ozonation reaction will be larger than 1. For example, the stoichiometry of the ozonation of tetramethoxyethene 1 is as high as 2.5, suggesting the involvement of a radical chain oxidation reaction.²² A method developed in this laboratory to determine the stoichiometry of an ozonation reaction is simple and accurate.²² First, the ozone concentration is measured. A sample of the ozone-oxygen gas mixture is drawn from the effluent stream of an ozonizer into a 100-mL syringe fitted with a small diameter Teflon tube. A known volume of the ozone-oxygen mixture is delivered through the tube into a CD_3OD solution of an excess of a known amount of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene **5** in a NMR tube at -78 °C. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the resulting reaction mixture contains only three singlets due to the alkene 5, acetone, and the CD₃OD adduct of dimethylcarbonyl oxide. The integrals of the last two species are exactly the same. From the integrals of the three signals, the ozone content of the gas is calculated. Then a definite volume of the gas from the same syringe is delivered into a solution of an excess of a known amount of an alkene. The amount of the alkene consumed is calculated from the integrals of the ¹H NMR signals of the various products and the remaining alkene. The stoichiometry of the reaction is then obtained from the amount of ozone delivered and the amount of the alkene consumed. By this method, it was found that about 1.4 moles of *E*- or *Z*-8a were consumed by each mole of ozone at -20 °C. The stoichiometry ratio did not change significantly when the initial concentration of *E*- or *Z*-8a was varied from 0.04 to 0.20 *M*.

b) Identification of products

The above products were identified as follows.

(1) Identification of the oxiranes

The oxiranes are unstable therefore isolating them from the reaction mixtures has not been achieved. At room temperature, some of the oxirane *trans*- or *cis*-10a in the reaction mixture rearranged to 2,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethanone and some hydrolyzed to benzil and methanol due to the moisture present in the solvent, eq 4. (No attempt was made to prevent the

$$MeO \bigvee_{u_1}^{O} Ph \qquad trace of acid and water Ph CCPh + MeOH (4)$$

$$Ph \qquad OMe \qquad CD_2Cl_2, 20 °C \qquad || | \qquad || || \\OOMe \qquad OO$$

moisture from condensing into the NMR tube when the reaction was carried out at -20 °C under atmosphere.) Thus the identifications of *trans*- and *cis*-**10a** were initially based on the separation and identification of the rearrangement product which gives the same melting point and ¹H NMR
signals as 2,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethanone independently prepared by an authentic method as shown in eq 5.2^{6}

$$\begin{array}{c} PhCCPh \\ \parallel \parallel \\ OO \end{array} + Ba(OH)_2 + 2 CH_3I \xrightarrow{DMF} PhCCPh \\ \parallel \parallel \\ OOMe \end{array}$$
(5)

Low temperature ¹³C NMR spectroscopy is another useful tool for the identification of the oxiranes. Like the oxirane carbon atoms of **10a**, the C-2 oxirane carbon atom of 2-methoxy-3,3-dimethyl-2-phenyloxirane is also attached to one methoxy and one phenyl group. It has been reported that the chemical shift of this carbon is at δ 91.33.²⁷ Hence signals at δ 92.64 and δ 92.74 in the ¹³C NMR spectra of the ozonation reaction mixtures from *E*- or *Z*-**8a** were assigned to *trans*- and *cis*-**10a**, respectively. All other ¹³C NMR signals could be assigned to the other compounds of known structure.

(2) Identification of the dioxetanes

The dioxetanes were identified by comparison of the ¹H signals in the NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures with those of authentic *trans*- and *cis*-**11a** prepared by singlet oxygen oxidation of *E*- and *Z*-**8a**. The signals due to the dioxetanes disappeared immediately upon addition of a drop of a 2% CD_3OD solution of $CuCl_2$ to the ozonation reaction mixtures. Dioxetanes have been shown to be cleaved rapidly to carbonyl compounds by transition metal ions.²⁸ The presence of dioxetanes in the ozonation reaction mixtures was further confirmed by observation of bright chemiluminescence upon addition of the reaction mixtures to hot toluene containing 9,10-dibromo- and 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene.²²

(3) Isolation and identification of the tetroxanes

As the tetroxanes *trans*- and *cis*-12a can result from the ozonation of either E- or Z-8a, a mixture of the two isomeric alkenes obtained from the

preparative reaction may be used directly in the experiment aimed to isolate the tetroxanes. The ozonation reaction was carried out in a preparative scale at -78 °C in CH₂Cl₂. The two isomers of the stable tetroxanes were separated by preparative thin layer chromatography on silica gel. Since the Rf values of *cis*-12a and benzil happen to be identical, it was necessary first to treat the ozonation reaction mixture briefly with hot methanolic sodium hydroxide to convert the benzil to the sodium salt of benzilic acid. Both tetroxanes *trans*- and *cis*-12a give a ¹³C signal at δ 117.15 for the ring carbon atoms which are substituted with three oxygen atoms and one phenyl group. The tetroxanes are decomposed to methyl benzoate radical cation and its fragmentation products upon electron impact. However, chemical ionization with NH₄⁺ afforded the (M + H⁺) and the (M + NH₄⁺) ions at *m/e* 305 and 322, respectively, from each isomer. The elemental analysis of both isomers agreed with the composition of the tetroxanes.

The assignments of the stereochemistry of *trans*- and *cis*-12a were accomplished by variable temperature ¹H NMR. The ¹H NMR signal of the OCH₃ groups of the isomer melting at 145-146 °C broadened on cooling and was split into two peaks, from δ 3.69 at -20 °C to δ 3.70 and δ 3.53 at -80 °C, Figure 1; whereas the OCH₃ signal of the isomer melting at 113-114 °C only shifted from δ 3.59 at -20 °C to δ 3.65 at -80 °C but remained a singlet. These isomers were thus assigned to *cis*- and *trans*-12a, respectively. These assignments were based on the fact that the two methoxy groups of the *cis*-12a are in different chemical environments. When temperature is low enough, the rate of interconversion of the two equivalent chair conformations becomes slow enough for a NMR spectrometer to show the chemical shift difference between the equatorial and axial methoxy groups. Both of the two methoxy groups of *trans*-12a are expected to be in the axial positions due to





the anomeric effect. This effect refers to the preference of an electronegative substituent located on a carbon α to a hetero atom in heterocyclic rings to adopt an axial rather than the sterically favored equatorial orientation.²⁹



3. Inverse ozonation and discovery of (methoxy)phenyldioxirane

In the study of the concentration effect on the product distribution, it was noticed that when the initial concentrations of the starting alkene E- or Z-8a are below 0.05 M, in addition to the products mentioned above, the ozonation reaction mixtures contain a new product as indicated by a new ¹H NMR signal at δ 3.50. The lower the initial concentrations of *E*- or *Z*-8a, the more intense is this new signal. This observation can be well explained if the new product is able to compete with ozone to react with the unreacted alkenes. If the ozone delivery rate is kept the same, the lower the initial concentrations of the alkene, the more alkene will be consumed by ozone and therefore the more new product generated will remain unreacted. To prove this postulate, a small amount of E- or Z-8a was added into the ozonation mixtures containing this new product. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the resulting mixture showed that the new signal disappeared and the intensities of the signals due to the oxiranes and methyl benzoate increased correspondingly, indicating that the new product indeed reacts with the alkenes and the products of this reaction are the oxiranes and methyl benzoate. To avoid the secondary reaction between E- or Z-8a and the new product, a small amount of a dilute solution of E- or Z-8a was added into a CD_2Cl_2 solution saturated with ozone at -78 °C. The rapid reaction between the excess ozone and the small amount of E- or Z-8a should greatly deplete the amount of E- or Z-8a available to react with the new product. As expected, the new product was produced under these conditions. A large amount of the tetroxanes trans- and cis-12a, however, was also produced at this temperature. Furthermore, by this method only a very small amount of the alkenes can be used and thus a very dilute solution of the new product can be obtained. In order to increase the concentration as well as the yield of the new product, 100 mL of the

ozone-oxygen mixture (containing about 1×10^{-4} moles of ozone) and 0.5 mL of a CD₂Cl₂ solution of *E*- or *Z*-8a (containing about 2×10^{-5} moles of the alkene) are delivered simultaneously through two Teflon tubes to the bottom of a NMR tube at -20 °C (this will be simply referred to as inverse ozonation hereafter). In this way, ozone is in excess of the alkene during the entire process. The inverse ozonation of a 0.05 M solution of E-8a at -20 °C results in the formation of three major products: methyl benzoate 9a, the new product, and the oxirane trans-10a with relative intensities 1:0.8:0.5. As expected, the yield of the new product increases at the expense of that of the oxirane trans-10a. It was also observed that the normal ozonation reaction mixtures are colorless whereas the reaction mixtures of the inverse ozonation are light-yellow. Addition of E- or Z-2-butene or other alkenes to the reaction mixture leads to the consumption of the new product and the stereospecific conversion of the added alkenes to the corresponding oxiranes. Coincident with the consumption of the new product by the alkenes is an equivalent increase in the amount of methyl benzoate and a loss of the yellow color. These observations were reminiscent of dioxiranes that are stereospecific epoxidizing agents.³⁰ Solutions of dioxiranes have been shown to be yellow; the color is attributed to a long wavelength tail (to ca 450 nm) of a weak ($\varepsilon =$ 9 - 13) n- σ^* absorption at 320-350 nm.³¹ Thus, it was very likely that the new product is a dioxirane. The ¹³C NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures from the inverse ozonation of either E- or Z-8a show the presence of a new signal at δ 109.07. The chemical shift of this signal is in the region expected for a carbon atom attached to three oxygen atoms and a phenyl group. Based on these results, we concluded that the new product is (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a. This is the first example of the formation of dioxirane from ozonation of alkenes in solution. A preliminary report of this discovery was published.³²



Figure 2. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the methoxy groups of ozonation products of *E*-1,2dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene.

The above experiments show that epoxidation of the starting alkenes by the reaction intermediate (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a contributes to the formation of the oxiranes *trans*- and *cis*-10a in the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8a. This was further confirmed by the ozonation of mixtures of *E*- or *Z*-8a and other alkenes, such as 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene, *cis*- and *trans*-2-butene, etc. The corresponding oxiranes of these alkenes are produced whil: the yields of the oxirane *trans*- or *cis*-10a are lowered. Control experiments showed that



Figure 3. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the methoxy groups of ozonation products of Z-1,2dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene.

the ozonolysis of these alkenes alone does not produce any oxiranes. This observation can be accounted for by the competition between *E*- or *Z*-**8a** and the alkenes toward **13a**. The formations of *cis*- and *trans*-2-butene oxides are stereospecific, indicating the dioxirane **13a**, like other dioxiranes, is a stereospecific epoxidation agent. The oxiranes of *cis*- and *trans*-2-butene were identified by comparing the chemical shifts and multiplicities of their ¹H NMR signals with ¹H NMR spectra of the authentic samples prepared by

epoxidation of the alkenes with *m*-chloroperbenzoic acid.

Like other dioxiranes, the dioxirane 13a is not a stable compound at room temperature. A CD_2Cl_2 solution of the inverse ozonation reaction mixture can be stored at -20 °C for a few days without significant change in the concentration of 13a. However, at room temperature the intensity of the ¹H NMR signal due to the methoxy group of 13a decreases slowly as the intensity of the signal due to the methoxy group of 9a increases correspondingly, indicating that 13a decomposes to 9a. The half-life of 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at 25 °C is about six hours. Along with the decomposition of 13a the yellow color also disappears.

The product formation from the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8a is represented by the ozonation of *E*-8a as shown in eq 6 and the product distribution under various conditions is summarized in Table 1. (All the data in this table and the following tables. except otherwise stated, are the average of at least three experiments. The errors are within ± 0.02). The ¹H NMR spectra of the methoxy groups of ozonation products of *E*- and *Z*-8a are shown in Figure 2 and Figure 3, respectively. Since the ¹H NMR signals of the OCH₃ groups of the various products are well separated, determinations of the product distributions were based on the integrals of the OCH₃ signals.



Alkene	Conc.	Method	Temp.	P	roducts, r	noles per	mole of 8	Ba
	<u> </u>	· · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · · ·	°C	9a	10a ^a	11a ^a	12a ^b	13a
<i>E</i> -8a	0.005	normal	-20	0.94	0.29	0.01	<0.01	0.44
	0.01			0.88	0.41	0.01	0.01	0.26
	0.05			0.92	0.50	0.02	0.02	0.00
	0.1			0.90	0.51	0.02	0.02	0.00
	0.2			0.88	0.51	0.02	0.03	0.00
	0.08	normal	0	0.90	0.53	0.01	0.01	0.00
			-20	0.94	0.50	0.02	0.01	0.00
			-40	0.94	0.44	0.02	0.07	0.00
			-60	1.00	0.28	0.02	0.20	0.00
			-78	1.06	0.20	0.02	0.25	0.00
	0.005	inverse ^c	-20	0.86	0.16	0.01	0.00	0.80
	0.025			0.84	0.20	0.02	0.00	0.72
	0.05			0.86	0.21	0.02	0.00	0.68
-			78	1.01	0.12	0.02	0.21	0.29
<i>Z</i> -8a	0.005	normal	-20	0.66	0.44	0.12	0.01	0.20
	0.01			0.64	0.49	0.11	0.02	0.12
	0.05			0.65	0.52	0.12	0.03	0.01
	0.1			0.64	0.53	0.12	0.03	0.00
	0.2			0.62	0.53	0.12	0.04	0.00
	0.08	normal	0	0.62	0.58	0.08	0.03	0.00
			-20	0.64	0.56	0.10	0.02	0.00
			-40	0.58	0.53	0.13	0.05	0.00
			60	0.56	0.50	0.17	0.05	0.00

Table 1. Product distribution from the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a in CD_2Cl_2

Table 1 Cc	ontinued							
			-78	0.52	0.47	0.20	0.07	0.00
<i>Z</i> -8a	0.005	inverse ^c	-20	0.60	0.32	0.14	0.00	0.48
	0.025			0.52	0.37	0.15	0.00	0.44
	0.05			0.56	0.42	0.12	0.00	0.36
			-78	0.52	0.36	0.19	0.07	0.24

^a Only *trans* from *E*-8a and only *cis* from *Z*-8a.

^b About equal amounts of *cis* and *trans*.

^c Simultaneous slow addition of the ozone-oxygen mixture (100 mL) and a solution of 8a (0.5 mL) into the bottom of a NMR tube through two fine tubes.

4. Discussion of the ozonation mechanism

a) Evidence against a radical chain oxidation

At the beginning of this project, it was suspected that a radical chain oxidation reaction was involved in the ozonation of E- or Z-8a. However, the following experiments provided evidence against this suspicion.

As mentioned in the introduction, evidence for a radical chain contribution in the ozonation of tetramethoxyethene 1 was obtained from the ozonation of a mixture of 1 and 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5, where a large amount of the allylic hydroperoxide 7 was formed. Applying the same methodology, a 1:2 mixture of E- or Z-8a and 5 was treated with a limited amount of ozone, which resulted in the formation of methyl benzoate 9a, the oxirane 10a, tetramethyloxirane 6 and the allylic hydroperoxide 7, as shown in eq 7 and Table 2. Determinations of the yields of 6 and 7 are based on the

$$E-8a \text{ or } Z-8a + \frac{H_3C}{H_3C} \xrightarrow{CH_3} \frac{O_3}{CD_2CL_2}, -20^{\circ}C \qquad 9a + 10a + \frac{H_3C}{H_3C} \xrightarrow{O} \xrightarrow{CH_3} + \frac{H_3C}{H_3C} \xrightarrow{OOH} \xrightarrow{CH_2} (7)$$
5 6 7

	Temp. Percent alkene consumed			Products, moles per mole of 8a						
Alkene	°C	8a	5	9a	10a	6 ^b	7 6			
Z-8 a ^a	-20	48	55	1.04	0.43	0.58	0.35			
	-78	40	49	0.79	0.53	0.35	0.48			
<i>E</i> -8a	-20	38	74	1.61	0.19	0.81	0.31			
	-78°	35	66	1.39	0.14	0.43	0.17			

Table 2. Product distribution from the ozonation of mixtures of 0.04 M 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a and 0.08 M 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 in CD₂Cl₂

^{a.}From the integrals of the ¹H NMR signals of the products from Z-8a the ozonation reaction mixtures contained approximately 8% of unidentified products which gave ¹H NMR signals at δ 3.40-3.48.
^{b.}Based on the amount of 10a produced.

C. The ozonation reaction also produced 0.16 moles of the tetroxanes *cis*- and *trans*-12a from each mole of *E*-8a.

relative integrals of the ¹H NMR signals of the oxirane **10a** and those of **6** and **7**. No dioxetanes **11a** were detected. The formation of **6** and **7** was similar to the ozonation of **1** with **5**. Control experiments showed that **6** and **7** were not formed in ozonolysis of **5** alone under the same conditions. The formation of the oxirane **6** can be well explained by epoxidation of the alkene **5** by the dioxirane **13a**. The yields of **7** are less than those of *cis*-**10a** and a little more than those of *trans*-**10a**. As discussed in the introduction²² a radical chain oxidation of **5** would also result in the formation of **7**. If **7** were produced in this way, much higher yield of **7** than actually formed would be expected as in the ozonation of **1** with **5**. Thus, the possible radical chain oxidation is unlikely to occur. Even if it occurred, it did not contribute much to the formation of **7**. The allylic hydroperoxide **7** is well-known to be a product of the reaction of **5** and singlet oxygen. Since no dioxetanes **11a** were detected, the formation of **7** could be the result of trapping singlet oxygen by

5. Competitive photooxidation experiments showed that 5 is 2.3 times as reactive as Z-8a (44.8% of Z-8a and 74.8% of 5 were consumed by a limited amount of singlet oxygen) and 8.4 times as reactive as E-8a toward singlet oxygen (22.1% of E-8a and 87.7% of 5 were consumed by a limited amount of singlet oxygen). The relative activities were calculated as described³³ (also see Scheme 13).

The formation of the oxiranes *trans*- and *cis*-10a in the ozonation of Zor E-8a can also be accounted for by a radical chain oxidation as illustrated in Scheme 8,²² but the following experiments showed that this is not true. A



Scheme 8. Formation of the oxiranes by a radical chain oxidation reaction

radical chain oxidation of Z- or E-8a in the presence of oxygen was initiated at -20 °C by decomposition of di-*tert*-butyl trioxide prepared by ozonation of *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide at -45 °C, eq 8.³⁴ The first-order rate constant for the decomposition of this trioxide at -24.8 °C was reported to be 4.6×10^{-4} s⁻¹. The results showed that the radical chain oxidation results in the

$$- OOH - \frac{O_3}{-45 \circ C} + OOO + \frac{O_2}{-30 \circ C} + O_2$$
(8)

formation of many products, some of them never appear in the ozonation reaction mixtures. From E-8a, along with other products, only the trans-10a was detected in the reaction mixture by the ¹H NMR. However, both *cis*- and trans-10a are formed from Z-8a and the ratio of cis- to trans-11a is 9:1, Scheme 8. In other words the formation of the oxiranes from the radical chain oxidation of Z-8a was stereoselective instead of stereospecific. The stereospecificity in the formation of 2-butene oxides in the ozonation of mixtures of E- or Z-8a and E- or Z-2-butene also could not be explained by a radical chain reaction. It has been reported that in auto-oxidation of E- and Z-2-butene the ratio of trans oxirane to cis oxirane was 2.3 from E-2-butene and 2.2 from Z-2-butene at 120 °C in benzene.³⁵ Considering that the conditions used in the literature were quite different from ozonation conditions used in this study, we attempted to initiate a radical chain oxidation of Z- and E-2butene in the presence of oxygen at -20 °C by decomposition of di-tert-butyl trioxide. Unfortunately, under these conditions no oxiranes were detected in several tries.

Moreover, if the radical chain oxidation reaction occurred, similar to the ozonation of tetramethoxyethene $1,^{22}$ the amount of the alkene consumed by each mole of ozone would increase if the initial concentration of the alkene was increased and would decrease if ozone in argon instead of ozone in oxygen was used. However, it was found that the amount of the alkene consumed by each mole of ozone in the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8a did not vary significantly when the initial concentration of the alkene was changed from 0.04 to 0.2 *M* or in the absence of oxygen during the ozonation.

Based on the results of these experiments, we concluded that under the ozonation conditions employed the possibility of the radical chain reaction can be ruled out or at least it cannot compete appreciably with the other

reactions.

b) Possible ozonation mechanism

There is no doubt that the tetroxanes *trans*- and *cis*-12a arise from dimerization of (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a which in turn should result from the cleavage of the primary ozonides of E- and Z-8a. Therefore the formation of the tetroxanes provides strong evidence that at least some E- and Z-8a are ozonized by the Criegee ozonolysis mechanism.

In competition with the dimerization, the cyclization of 14a gives the dioxirane 13a. As seen from Table 1, the yields of *trans*- and *cis*-12a increase as the reaction temperature is lowered. This is also observed in the ozonolysis of other alkenes.³⁶ On the contrary, higher yields of 13a are obtained at higher temperatures. It has been reported that cyclization of carbonyl oxides to dioxiranes should overcome an energy barrier.³⁷

The discovery that the dioxirane 13a is produced in the ozonation reaction and is a stereospecific epoxidizing agent makes the possibility that the oxiranes *trans*- and *cis*-10a are formed by transfer of an oxygen atom from (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a to E- or Z-8a unlikely. Murray and co-workers observed that singlet oxygen oxidation of diazodiphenylmethane in the presence of alkenes leads to the formation of oxiranes.³⁸ The epoxidizing species were presumed to be carbonyl oxides. However, unlike the epoxidation of alkenes by dioxiranes, the epoxidation is much less efficient and is not stereospecific: E alkenes give *trans*-oxiranes while Z alkenes give predominantly *cis*-oxiranes.

Evidence supporting the formation of **11a** by reaction of **8a** with singlet oxygen was obtained by conducting the ozonation of **8a** in the presence of 2,5-dimethylfuran, an efficient singlet oxygen scavenger.³⁹ No dioxetane was formed when a 1:6 mixture of *E*- or *Z*-**8a**:2,5-dimethylfuran

E-8a or *Z*-8a +

$$H_3C$$
 O CH_3 CD_2Cl_2 , -20°C Pa + 10a + H_3C O O O O (9)

was incompletely ozonized although the benzoate **9a** and the oxirane **10a** were still formed, eq 9. 2,5-Dimethylfuran is 20 and 6 times as reactive as *E*-**8a** and *Z*-**8a**, respectively, toward singlet oxygen as determined by competitive singlet oxygen oxidation of *E*- or *Z*-**8a** and 2,5-dimethylfuran at 0 °C. Thus complete scavenging of singlet oxygen by 2,5-dimethylfuran under the ozonation conditions would be expected. The endoperoxide of 2,5-dimethylfuran was identified by its ¹H NMR spectrum which shows two singlets at δ 1.8 and 6.3.³⁹ Control experiments showed that the endoperoxide is not formed in the ozonolysis of 2,5-dimethylfuran alone under the same conditions. The dimethylfuran is much less reactive toward ozone than **8a**. When a 1:1 mixture of *Z*-**8a** and 2,5-dimethylfuran was partially ozonized to 40% conversion of *Z*-**8a**, only weak signals were present in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture that could be attributed to ozonolysis products of 2,5-dimethylfuran.

As presented in Table 2, incomplete ozonation of a mixture of 8a and 5, which led to the formation of the allylic hydroperoxide 7 instead of the dioxetane 11a, also indicates that singlet oxygen is generated in the ozonation of 8a.

Competitive singlet oxygen oxidation of Z- and E-8a showed that Z-8a is four times as reactive as E-8a toward singlet oxygen. This can partially account for the higher yield of the dioxetane obtained from the ozonation of Z-8a than from E-8a.

The evidence that the dioxetanes 11a are formed by the reaction between *E*- or Z-8a and singlet oxygen rules out another conceivable route to

32

the oxiranes 10a and the dioxitanes 11a as illustrated in eq 10 for *E*-8a. The peroxydioxetane produced by interaction of the alkene and ozone would transfer an oxygen atom to 8a and lead to the formation of the oxirane 10a and the dioxetane 11a. Such a route of dioxetane formation in the ozonolysis of alkene had been proposed⁴⁰ but was soon shown to be incorrect.⁴¹ Furthermore, it is unlikely that such a route to the dioxetanes 11a and oxiranes 10a would be affected by the presence of 2,5-dimethylfuran. Thus, 10a and 11a are not produced in such a route.

Based on the product formation and the discovery of the dioxirane 13a, a proposed mechanism, which combines the ozonolysis and partial cleavage pathways, for the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a is illustrated in Scheme 9 for E-8a.

Two initial pathways are present in the ozonation of 8a. In one of these pathways, the oxygenated oxirane of 8a is proposed as a reaction intermediate. The fragmentation of this intermediate gives the oxirane 10a and a molecule of singlet oxygen. The singlet oxygen reacts with a second molecule of 8a to form 11a. In the other pathway, the primary ozonide is the reaction intermediate. The cleavage of the primary ozonide gives methyl benzoate 9a and (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a. The carbonyl oxide 14a either isomerizes to the dioxirane 13a or dimerizes with another molecule of 14a to form the tetroxanes *cis*- and *trans*-12a via a zwitterionic intermediate. A possible reaction of the zwitterion is the decomposition to form two molecules of 9a and one molecule of oxygen which could be singlet oxygen.⁸ However, the later study in Chapter IV shows that this reaction



Scheme 9. Ozonation mechanism of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene

does not occur. In the inverse ozonation, 13a becomes a final ozonation product. In the normal ozonation, however, 13a transfers an oxygen atom to unreacted 8a to give 9a and 10a. According to this mechanism, each mole of ozone can consume more than one mole of the alkene. The stoichiometry obtained shows that actually about 1.4 moles of the alkene is consumed by one mole of ozone. This is consistent with the proposed mechanism.

Stereospecific formation of oxiranes and liberation of singlet oxygen in ozonolysis of some sterically hindered alkenes have been observed.¹⁶ To

rationalize oxirane and molecular oxygen formation oxygenated oxiranes have been proposed as the reaction intermediates.¹⁶ Although *E*- and *Z*-8a are not highly hindered alkenes, one of the intermediates in the ozonation of *E*- or *Z*-8a is suggested to be an oxygenated oxirane because the alternative zwitterionic intermediate in which the positive charge could be stabilized by the electron-rich methoxy group can be ruled out. Similar zwitterion forms



have been postulated as intermediates in the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-1,2difluoroethene where the formation of oxirane is stereoselective.¹⁷ In the case of the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8a, if the ring closure were faster than the C—C bond rotation the formation of oxiranes would be stereospecific. However, there is no evidence for formation of any oxirane or dioxetane from reactions between ozone and the following alkenes which could form zwitterions $CH_2=C(OCH_3)_2$ $CH_3CH=C(OCH_3)_2$ $(CH_3)_2C=C(OCH_3)_2$ where the positive charge is similarly stabilized.²² Therefore it is unlikely that the zwitterion in the ozonation of *E*- or *Z*-8a is an intermediate.

Initially, the proposed ozonation mechanism was mainly based on the consideration of the reaction products. According to this mechanism, the oxirane 10a is produced through two reaction pathways, i.e., the direct ozone epoxidation via the oxygenated oxirane and the indirect dioxirane epoxidation. The above discussion has already provided strong evidence for the presence of the dioxirane epoxidation pathway. However, because the oxygenated oxirane has never been directly observed, it was necessary to search for more evidence to prove the presence of the direct ozone epoxidation pathway.



At first, it was considered to choose the reaction conditions that would only allow E- or Z-8a to react with ozone but not with the dioxirane 13a. If the oxirane *trans*- or *cis*-10a would still form under such conditions, it would have to result from the direct ozone epoxidation of E- or Z-8a. Actually, the reaction conditions in the inverse ozonation were designed toward such ideal conditions. From the inverse ozonation data in the Table 1, the yields of trans- or cis-10a and 13a are plotted against the initial concentrations of Eand Z-8a in Figure 4 and Figure 5, respectively. It can be seen that the yield of 13a increases and the yields of trans- and cis-10a decrease with the decrease of the initial concentration of E- or Z-8a, suggesting that a small amount of 13a still reacts with the alkenes even in the presence of an excess amount of ozone. Extrapolating the yield curves of 10a and 13a to zero concentration of E- or Z-8a gives the yields of trans- or cis-10a and 13a. The plots show that at the zero concentration of the alkenes the ozonation of one mole of E-8a would produce 0.15 moles of trans-10a and 0.82 moles of 13a; the ozonation of one mole of Z-8a would produce 0.32 moles of trans**10a** and 0.51 moles of **13a**. The oxiranes **10a** produced under such conditions must completely result from the direct ozone epoxidation of the alkenes because the alkene can only be consumed by ozone.

Since the competitive tetroxane formation almost does not occur at -20 °C, it is reasonable to assume that the cleavage of each molecule of the primary ozonide results in the formation of one molecule of the dioxirane **13a**. Therefore, it can be roughly estimated from the above data that the reaction between *E*-**8a** and ozone at -20 °C initially results in an oxygenated oxirane:primary ozonide ratio of about 15:85, and that from *Z*-**8a** is about 39:61. (An example of the calculations of these data is as follows: the percentage of the oxygenated oxirane formed from *Z*-**8a** = 0.32 / (0.32 + 0.51) \approx 39%). These ratios show that more oxygenated oxirane is formed from *Z*-**8a** than from *E*-**8a**, implying more singlet oxygen will be produced. As mentioned above, *Z*-**8a** is four times as reactive as *E*-**8a** toward singlet oxygen. The combination of these two factors can qualitatively account for the higher yields of the dioxetane *cis*-**11a** obtained from the ozonation of *Z*-**8a**.

It was observed that the partial ozonation of E- or Z-8a in the presence of excess 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 resulted in lower yields of the oxiranes *trans*- or *cis*-10a, but to different extents. Upon ozonation of a 1:20 mixture of E- or Z-8a to 5 at -78 °C with a limited amount of ozone, the relative ratio of *cis*-10a:9a dropped from about 0.8:1 to about 0.5:1 while the ratio of *trans*-10a:9a dropped from about 0.5:1 to as little as 0.1:1. 2,3-Dimethyl-2butene 5 shows high reactivity toward the dioxirane 13a as determined by the competitive epoxidation experiments to be described later. In the presence of a large amount of such a reactive foreign alkene, the formation of 10a from the indirect dioxirane epoxidation pathway would be greatly suppressed since 13a would mainly epoxidize the foreign alkene instead of E- or Z-8a. The formation of the oxiranes from the direct ozone epoxidation pathway, however, should not be affected. The fact that the yield of *cis*-10a was reduced much less than that of *trans*-10a confirms the above estimation that more oxygenated oxirane is formed from Z-8a than from E-8a.

For several entries in Table 1 the yields of *trans*- and *cis*-10a exceed 0.5 moles per mole of the alkene consumed. This could only occur in cases where the oxiranes are not just formed by the indirect dioxirane epoxidation. If the oxiranes were solely formed by dioxirane epoxidation, the oxirane yield would be no more than 0.5 moles per mole of the alkene consumed since equal amounts of the alkene and the dioxirane, an ozonation intermediate, would be required.

It was noted that in the inverse ozonation reactions the yields of the oxiranes *trans*- and *cis*-10a are significantly reduced but the yields of the dioxetanes *trans*- and *cis*-11a are almost not changed from those of the normal ozonation. This was contradictory to our expectation. If nearly all of the alkene molecules were consumed by ozone in the inverse ozonation, there should be no more alkene left for singlet oxygen to react with, so the yields of the dioxetanes should be much lower. This experimental result even made us consider the possibility that the dioxetanes were produced from the direct interaction between E- or Z-8a and ozone. However this possibility had been ruled out by the ozonation of mixtures of E- or Z-8a and 2,5-dimethylfuran experiments in which no dioxetanes were formed. After further consideration of ozone and the fresh alkene drop around the outlet of the alkene addition tube there is a reaction zone where the alkene and ozone encounter and react.

Some singlet oxygen and the dioxirane 13a produced in this zone will diffuse into the fresh alkene drop to react with the new coming alkene. The diffusion rate of singlet oxygen is apparently higher than that of the bulkier dioxirane. Thus, the yields of the dioxetanes in the inverse ozonation is almost the same as in the normal ozonation. This analysis can also explain the observation that a small amount of the dioxirane 13a still reacts with *E*- or *Z*-8a even under the inverse ozonation conditions.

5. Attempts to trap (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide

a) With methanol and methoxide ion

One of the methods of preventing the formation of the dioxirane 13a is by trapping its precursor, (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a. If the carbonyl oxide were trapped completely before it cyclized to the dioxirane, the formation of the oxirane would provide strong evidence for the presence of the direct ozone epoxidation pathway. Usually, carbonyl oxides can be trapped very easily by methanol which serves as a participating solvent to form α -methoxy hydroperoxides.^{1,42} The product distribution from the ozonation of E- or Z-8a in a 4:1 mixture of CD_3OD and CD_2Cl_2 is summarized in Table 3. It was surprising to find, from the ¹H NMR spectrum, that trans- and cis-12a, the dimers of the carbonyl oxide 14a, were still formed in the ozonation of E- or Z-8a at -60 °C and there was no new signal for the expected α -methoxy hydroperoxide. When the ozonation of E- or Z-8a was carried out at -20 °C, although no signals of trans- and cis-12a were detected, no new signal formed either. This means 14a can not be trapped by methanol. The reason why 14a does not react with methanol is unclear. Later, a stronger nucleophile, methoxide ion, was used to trap 14a. Ozonation was carried out in a 4:1 mixture of a 0.5 M solution of sodium methoxide-D₃ and

Alkene	Conc.	Method	Temp.	Products, moles per mole of 8a					
	M	······································	°C	<u>9a</u>	10a ^b	<u>11a^b</u>	12a ^c		
<i>E</i> -8a	0.05	normal	-20	0.96	0.52	<0.01	0.00		
			-60	0.98	0.46	0.02	0.03		
<i>Z</i> -8a	0.05	normal	-20	0.75	0.55	0.07	0.00		
			-60	0.74	0.52	0.09	0.02		

Table 3. Product distribution from the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2diphenylethene 8a in $CD_3OD/CD_2Cl_2^a$

^a The alkene was firstly dissolved in 0.1 mL of CD_2Cl_2 and then 0.4 mL of CD_3OD was added.

^b Only *trans* from *E*-8a and only *cis* from *Z*-8a.

^c About equal amounts of *cis* and *trans*.

CD₂Cl₂ at -78 °C. About 3.5 times of the amount of ozone was required in this basic solution than that required in the normal neutral solutions to complete the reaction. This could be because much of the ozone was destroyed in the basic solution.⁴³ The tetroxanes **12a** were not detected and a new product that gave a singlet at δ 3.10 in the ¹H NMR spectrum was found. Although the product that gives this signal has not been isolated, a signal at δ 116.73 in the ¹³C NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture indicates that it has a carbon atom attached to three oxygen atoms and one phenyl group, consistent with the structure of the expected adduct of **14a** and methoxide ion, suggesting that methoxide ion trapped the carbonyl oxide **14a**, eq 11.

$$\frac{MeO}{C} + CD_3O^- \longrightarrow \frac{MeO}{Ph} C = \frac{OO^-}{OCD_3}$$
(11)

It was found that even in the presence of the methoxide ions, the ozonation of Z-8a still produced the oxirane *cis*-10a and the dioxetane *cis*-11a, and the ozonation of E-8a still produced *trans*-10a, Table 4. Compared

Alkene	Temp.	Products, moles per mole of 8a						
	°C	9a ^b	<u>10a^c</u>	11a ^c	<u>12a</u>	Adduct		
<i>E</i> -8a	-20	1.21	0.17	0	0	0.45		
	-40	1.24	0.14	0	0	0.48		
	-60	1.16	0.12	0	0	0.60		
Z-8a	-20	0.91	0.33	0.03	0	0.37		
	-40	0.88	0.35	0.04	0	0.34		
	-60	0.81	0.32	0.08	0	0.39		

Table 4. Product distribution from the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2diphenylethene **8a** in the presence of CD₃ONa^a in CD₃OD/CD₂Cl₂

^a The concentration of *E*- or *Z*-8a was 0.05 *M* and the concentration of CD₃ONa was 0.5 *M*. The ratio of CD₃OD to CD₂Cl₂ was 4:1.

^b The ¹H NMR spectra were recorded at -20 °C soon after the ozonation reaction was finished to avoid the methoxy group of methyl benzoate being exchanged by the methoxy- D_3 group of the base. ^c Only *trans* from *E*-8a and only *cis* from *Z*-8a.

with those from Z-8a, however, higher yields of the adduct and lower yields of the oxirane were obtained from E-8a. This is consistent with the previous conclusion, which was based on the results of the inverse ozonation, that more carbonyl oxide is generated from the ozonation of E-8a and less oxirane *trans*-10a is formed from the direct epoxidation pathway in the proposed ozonation mechanism.

b) With acetaldehyde

In step three of the Criegee mechanism, the carbonyl oxide recombines with the internally generated carbonyl compound to produce an ozonide. If there is an external carbonyl compound present in the solution, a cross ozonide will be produced.¹ This provides another method to trap carbonyl oxides. The carbonyl compound formed during ozonation of E- or Z-8a is methyl benzoate 9a. Esters usually have low reactivity toward carbonyl oxides,^{1,42} so it is not surprising that there is no ozonide produced from the ozonation of E- or Z-8a. Aldeh des have been shown to be much more reactive than ketone or ester toward carbonyl oxides to form ozonides.¹ Ozonation of E- or Z-8a in the presence of excess acetaldehyde, however, caused no change in the product formation and distribution, as seen by inspection of the ¹H NMR spectra. No new signal could be assigned to the expected cross ozonide. This experiment indicates that 14a does not react with aldehydes either.

c) With cyclohexanone oxide

Ozonolysis of cyclohexylidenecyclohexane in nonparticipating solvents produces the corresponding tetroxane in good yield, eq 12.44 The reactivities

$$2 \longrightarrow 2 \longrightarrow 2 \longrightarrow 2 \longrightarrow 0 \xrightarrow{0} 0 0 \xrightarrow{0} 0 0 \xrightarrow{0} 0$$

of 8a and cyclohexylidenecyclohexane are similar as indicated by the observation that both alkenes were consumed upon treatment of a 1:1 mixture of the two alkenes with a limited amount of ozone. Thus, ozonation of a mixture of *E*- or *Z*-8a and cyclohexylidenecyclohexane should produce (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a and cyclohexanone oxide at the same time. It was expected that most of 14a would react with the coexistent cyclohexanone oxide if the concentration of latter was much higher than that of 14a. The expected cross tetroxane, 3-methoxy-3-phenyl-1,2,4,5-tetraoxaspiro[5.5]undecane, was indeed produced in the ozonation of a 2:1 mixture of cyclohexylidenecyclohexane and *E*- or *Z*-8a in CD₂Cl₂ at -60 °C, eq 13. The OCH₃ group of the cross tetroxane gave a signal at δ 3.48. The ¹H



NMR spectrum also showed that *cis*- and *trans*-12a were still produced under these conditions, indicating that the trapping of 14a was not complete. Further increase in the ratio of cyclohexylidenecyclohexane to 8a was restricted by the poor solubility of cyclohexylidenecyclohexane. The solid cross tetroxane was isolated from the ozonation reaction mixture in the same way as the isolation of the tetroxanes 12a. Chemical ionization with NH_4^+ afforded the (M + NH_4^+) ion at *m/e* 284.

d) With indanetrione

Since methanol cannot trap (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a, other types of the carbonyl oxide trap that can be used under neutral conditions were sought. It has been reported that α -dicarbonyl compounds, such as diketones or diesters, are more dipolarophilic than monoketones or monoesters toward carbonyl oxides, probably due to mutual activation of the two carbonyl groups.^{19b,45} It was felt that the central carbonyl group of 1,2,3triones might be more reactive toward carbonyl oxides. Therefore, the readily available indanetrione was chosen to trap carbonyl oxides. In the trial tests, ozonolysis of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 was carried out in the presence of the trione. Ozonolysis of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 in aprotic solvents always yields some complex oligomer.⁴⁴ In the presence of the trione, however, the complex ¹H NMR signals due to the oligomer completely disappear and a singlet at δ 1.7 appears. The integral of this signal is equal to that of acetone. These exploratory experiments showed that the trione scavenges dimethylcarbonyl oxide quantitatively and the product is 2,2-dimethyl-1,3,4trioxaspiro[4.4]-7,8-benzononane-6,9-dione, eq 14.46

$$\begin{array}{c} H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ S \end{array} \xrightarrow{CH_{3}} O_{3} \\ CH_{3} CH_{3} CH_{3} CH_{3} CH_{3} CH_{3} CCH_{3} + (CH_{3})_{2}\dot{C}OO \\ \hline O \\ -78^{\circ}C \\ O \\ O \\ CH_{3} \\ O \\ O \\ CH_{3} \end{array} \xrightarrow{(14)}$$

Inspired by this result, we attempted to use the trione to capture (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a. A new singlet at δ 3.77 appeared in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures obtained by the inverse ozonation of either E- or Z-8a in the presence of excess trione at -78 °C in acetone-D₆. No tetroxanes 12a were detected, suggesting the carbonyl oxide 14a was trapped by the trione. Therefore, the new signal is tentatively assigned to the reaction product of the carbonyl oxide 14a and the trione. In the presence of the trione the oxirane *trans*- or *cis*-10a is still produced. No dioxirane 13a is formed from E-8a, while 13a is still formed from Z-8a. For unknown reasons the yield of 13a obtained from Z-8a in the presence of the trione is even higher than that in the absence of the trione. This could be because either the trione affects the dioxirane formation or the proton signal is due to an unknown product which gives a signal that happens to have the same chemil shift as the dioxirane. The product formation and distribution of the inverse ozonation of E- or Z-8a in the presence of excess trione are shown in Scheme 10.

In the absence of the trione, under the identical conditions, 0.32 and 0.23 moles per mole of the alkene of the dioxirane 13a are produced from the inverse ozonation of E-8a and Z-8a, respectively. If the disappearance of 13a in the ozonation of E-8a in the presence of the trione is due to 14a being captured by the trione, then 14a from Z-8a should be captured by the trione as well. It is not clear why 13a is still formed from Z-8a under such



 4 mg of the alkene dissolved in 0.5 ml of acetone saturated with the trione.

 $b \cdot moles$, per mole of the alkene.

Scheme 10. Inverse ozonation of E- or Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene in the presence of excess indanetrione

conditions. It has been suggested that the ozonolysis of *E*- and *Z*-1ethoxypropene produces different amounts of syn and anti carbonyl oxides (CH₃HC+OO⁻), which combine at different rates with dipolarophiles and thus lead to variation in the dioxolane stereoisomer ratios.⁴⁷ It is therefore possible that the carbonyl oxides generated from *Z*-8a and from *E*-8a have different reactivities because they have different geometric conformations, one is syn and the other is anti, as shown below:



The isomer generated from E-8a has higher reactivity toward the trione; while the other isomer from Z-8a, has lower reactivity toward the trione or cyclizes more rapidly and consequently is only partially trapped.

B. Steric effects on ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-diethoxy-1,2diphenylethene and E- and Z-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2diphenylethene

In order to further explore the ozonation of 1,2-dialkoxy-1,2diphenylethenes and to study the steric effects involved in the reaction, the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-diethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8b) and Eand Z-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8c) was studied.

As already mentioned, oxygenated oxiranes have been suggested as reaction intermediates in the ozonation of some sterically hindered alkenes.¹⁶ It was therefore predicted that if the bulk of the alkoxy groups in the starting alkenes was increased, the alkenes would prefer to form more oxygenated oxiranes rather than primary ozonides. Hence more oxiranes would be produced from the direct ozone epoxidation pathway and more singlet oxygen would be generated. Consequently higher yields of the dioxetanes and under the inverse ozonation conditions higher yields of the oxiranes could be anticipated. Since the isopropoxy group is bulkier than the methoxy group, the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8c would be a good model to test this prediction. The proof of this prediction would provide more evidence for the proposed mechanism for the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8a.

It was expected that the ozonation behavior of 8b should be between those of 8a and 8c. Therefore, the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8b was also studied.

1. Preparation of the starting alkenes

The starting alkenes E-8b and E-8c were similarly prepared as E- and Z-8a, eq 15. The yields of E-8b and E-8c, however, were much lower (only

Ph C CHPh

$$|| | C = C$$

$$|| C =$$

20% for *E*-8b and 16% for *E*-8c) than those of *E*- and *Z*-8a (total yields 50%). Lower yields of *E*-8b and *E*-8c are probably because ethyl and isopropyl groups are bulkier than the methyl group. The increased steric hindrance reduces the rates of the S_N2 reactions between the *p*-toluenesulfonates and the benzoin dianions. Hence other competing reactions become predominant in the syntheses of *E*-8b and *E*-8c.

It was reported,²⁴ and confirmed in this study, that both isomers of **8a** can be obtained with the use of either potassium hydroxide or sodium hydroxide as base in the synthesis of **8a** and the use of potassium hydroxide results in a higher E-**8a**:Z-**8a** ratio. However, with the use of potassium hydroxide as base in the synthesis of **8b** or **8c**, only the *E*-isomer of **8b** or **8c** was obtained. When sodium hydroxide was used, none of the desired products was obtained. The *Z*-isomers of **8b** and **8c** were obtained by photoisomerization of the corresponding *E*-isomers followed by chromatographic separation, eq 16.

$$\begin{array}{cccccccccc}
Ph \\
RO \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
OR \\
\hline
(16) \\
\hline
RO \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
OR \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
OR \\
\hline
OR \\
\hline
Ph \\
C=C \\
OR \\
\hline
OR \\$$

The geometrical assignments of *E*- and *Z*-8b and *E*- and *Z*-8c were based on their ¹H NMR spectra. In the study of the structural assignments of the geometrical isomers of some nuclear-substituted 1,2-dimethyl-1,2diphenylethenes by means of ¹H NMR, Inamoto et al observed that the methyl groups of the *E*-isomers absorb at higher fields than those of the *Z*isomers.⁴⁹ The same phenomenon was also observed for 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2diphenylethenes 8a. The chemical shifts of the methoxy groups of *E*-8a and *Z*-8a are at δ 3.38 and 3.59, respectively. Applying this rule to 8b, we assigned the isomers that give the methylene proton signals centered at δ 3.53 and 3.73 to be *E*-**8b** and *Z*-**8b**, respectively. Similarly, for **8c**, the isomers that give the methine proton signals centered at δ 3.70 and 3.92 are assigned to be *E*-**8c** and *Z*-**8c**, respectively. According to these assignments, it was noticed that in **8a-c**, compared with those of the *E*-isomers, the phenyl groups of the *Z*-isomers give simpler signals in the ¹H NMR spectra. This can be taken as another useful rule for distinguishing *Z* and *E* isomers of 1,2-diphenyl substituted ethenes. For example, the phenyl groups of *Z*-**8a** or *Z*-**8b** give a sharp singlet while those of *E*-**8a** or *E*-**8b** give complex multiplets. Although the phenyl groups of *Z*-**8c** do not give a singlet, the range of the signals (δ 7.08-7.20) they give is narrower than that of *E*-**8c** (δ 7.20-7.83). It has been reported that the multiplicity of aromatic protons of a phenyl group adjacent to a double bond depends on the rotational angle of the phenyl group.⁴⁹ The rotational angles of the same geometric isomers must be very similar, but quite different from those of the other geometric isomers.

2. Results of normal and inverse ozonation

The results of ozonation of E- or Z-8b, as illustrated in eq 17 for E-8b, are very similar to those of E- or Z-8a and therefore did not provide useful new information in the study of the ozonation mechanism. The products



obtained from the ozonation of E- or Z-8b are ethyl benzoate 9b; trans- or cis-1,2-diethoxy-1,2-diphenyloxiranes (trans- or cis-10b); trans- or cis-3,4diethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetanes (trans- or cis-11b); and trans- and cis-3,6-diethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxanes (trans- and cis-12b). Inverse ozonation of either E- or Z-8b results in the formation of (ethoxy)phenyldioxirane 13b along with the above products. The product distribution from the ozonation of E- or Z-8b is summarized in Table 5.

The identifications of the oxiranes *trans*- and *cis*-10b were accomplished by taking advantage of the fact that (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a is a powerful stereospecific epoxidizing agent. The ¹H NMR spectra of the ozonation reaction mixtures of *E*- and *Z*-8b were compared with those of the authentic samples of the oxiranes prepared by epoxidation of the respective alkenes with 13a. As observed from the TLC and ¹H NMR spectra, at room temperature the oxiranes 10b were hydrolyzed to benzil and ethanol by the moisture and a trace of acids in the solvent.

The oxiranes can also be identified by comparing the difference of the ¹H NMR spectra obtained before and after addition of a starting alkene to its inverse ozonation reaction mixtures. In this experiment, it was always observed that the signals of the dioxiranes disappeared and the intensities of the signals of the oxiranes and the benzoates increased by an equivalent amount. In this way the dioxiranes and the oxiranes can be identified in the same experiment.

Because the oxirane carbons of 10b are stereogenic atoms, the protons of the methylene groups in 10b are not chemical shift equivalent although they are three bonds removed from the stereogenic atom. Each proton of the methylene is split by the other (Jgem = ~ 8.9 Hz) and by the neighboring methyl protons (Jvic = ~ 7.6 Hz), giving rise to a doublet of quartets. For

Alkene	Conc.	Method	Temp.	Products, moles per mole of 8b						
	M		°C	9b	10 b ^a	11b ^a	12b ^b	13b		
<i>E</i> -8b	0.01	normal	-20	0.84	0.32	0.00	0.00	0.48		
	0.05			0.87	0.42	0.01	0.02	0.10		
	0.10			0.92	0.46	0.01	0.03	0.08		
	0.20			0.91	0.46	0.02	0.04	0.06		
	0.05	normal	0	0.87	0.39	0.14	0.00	0.08		
			-40	0.94	0.37	0.08	0.02	0.10		
			60	0.88	0.36	0.01	0.09	0.21		
			-80	1.05	0.20	0.01	0.13	0.27		
	0.05	inverse ^c	-20	0.80	0.29	0.00	0.00	0.54		
<i>Z</i> -8b	0.05	normal	-20	0.60	0.56	0.11	0.03	0.00		
<u></u>	0.05	inverse ^c	-20	0.48	0.42	0.13	0.00	0.42		

Table 5. Product distribution from the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-diethoxy-1,2diphenylethene **8b** in CD₂Cl₂

^a Only *trans* from *E*-8b and only *cis* from *Z*-8b.

^b About equal amounts of *cis* and *trans*.

^c Simultaneous slow addition of the ozone-oxygen mixture (100 mL) and a solution of **8b** (0.5 mL) into the bottom of a NMR tube through two fine tubes.

trans-10b, the shifts are δ 3.48 and δ 3.61. Since the shift difference between them is small, the two doublets of quartets are somewhat overlapping and the AB pattern from the geminal coupling is quite complex. For *cis*-10b, the shifts are δ 3.42 and δ 3.61. The shift difference is a little larger, so the two doublets of quartets could be observed.

The dioxetanes *trans*- and *cis*-11b were identified by the same means as the dioxetanes 11a. The ring carbons of the dioxetanes 11b are stereogenic atoms, so protons the methylene protons in 11b are not chemical shift equivalent either and have the same splitting pattern as those of 10b. The shifts of the doublets of quartets of 11b are well separated from each other (δ 3.58 and 3.83 for *cis*-11b; δ 3.17 and 3.47 for *trans*-11b). The tetroxanes *trans*- and *cis*-12b directly crystallized from the ozonation mixtures of *F*-8b after the solvent was evaporated. Separations and identifications of the two isomers were similar to that of *trans*- and *cis*-12a. On cooling from 20 to -20 °C the sharp quartet of the methylene protons of the isomer melting at 140-141 °C was broadened and that of the isomer melting at 145-147 °C remained sharp. These isomers were thus assigned to be *cis*- and *trans*-12b, respectively. Chemical ionization with NH₄+ afforded the (M + NH₄+) ions at *m*/*e* 350 from each isomer.

Determination of the product distribution from the ozonation of E- and Z-8b becomes complex due to the overlapping of some ¹H NMR signals. The doublet of quartets of the two OCH₂ groups of trans-10b at 8 3.38-3.70 overlaps half of the doublet of quartets of the two OCH₂ groups of trans-11b at δ 3.39-3.55. Because the other half of the signals of the two OCH₂ groups of *trans*-11b at δ 3.08-3.26 is well separated from the other signals, the total integral of the two OUH_2 groups of trans-10b can be calculated by subtracting the integral of the signal $a^{*} \delta 3 08 3.26$ from the integral of the signals at δ 3.38-3.70. Half of the ¹H NMR signals of the two OCH₂ groups of cis-10b at δ 3.34-3.50 are well separated from the other signals and the other half of it at δ 3.51-3.71 overlap half of the signals of the two OCH₂ groups of *cis*-11b at δ 3.48-3.68. The other half of the signals of the two OCH₂ groups of *cis*-11b at δ 3.73-3.92 overlap the quartet of the OCH₂ group of 13b at δ 3.79. Determination of the signal integrals of *cis*-10b, *cis*-11b and 13b is therefore based on the integrals of the well separated half of the signals of the two OCH₂ groups of *cis*-10b.

Ozonation of *E*- or *Z*-8c yielded isopropyl benzoate 9c, *trans*- or *cis*-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenyloxiranes (*trans*- or *cis*-10c), *trans*- or *cis*-3,4-diisopropoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetanes (*trans*- or *cis*-11c), and

(isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c, eq 18. Unlike the ozonation of 8a and 8c, no tetroxane was detected by ¹H NMR. The product distribution from the ozonation of E- and Z-8c is summarized in Table 6.



The ozonation products of *E*- and *Z*-8c were identified in the same ways as those of *E*- or *Z*-8b. In the presence of moisture and a trace of acids, the oxiranes 10c were hydrolyzed to benzil and isopropyl alcohol as observed from the ¹H NMR spectra. The authentic sample of the dioxetane *trans*-11c was isolated from the reaction mixture obtained by singlet oxygen oxidation of *E*-8c. This dioxetane appears to be much more stable than its homologues 11a and 11b, presumably because it is more sterically crowded. Usually, sterically crowded dioxetanes, such as dioxetanes of biadamantylidene⁵⁰ and binorbornylidene,⁵¹ are much more stable than sterically uncrowded dioxetanes. In the dark, the half-life of *trans*-11c determined by ¹H NMR is about sixteen hours at 40 °C in acetone-D₆.

The ring carbon atoms of the oxiranes *trans*- and *cis*-10c and the dioxetanes *trans*- and *cis*-11c are also stereogenic atoms. The protons of the methyl groups in 10c and 11c are not chemical shift equivalent even though they are four bonds removed from the stereogenic atoms. Thus, absorptions of the two methyl groups are split by the neighboring methine protons (Jvic =

Alkene	Solvent	Conc.	Method	Temp.	Produ	cts, mole	s per mole	of 8c ^b
		М		°C	9c	10c	11c	13c
<i>E</i> -8c	CD ₂ Cl ₂	0.01	normal	-20	0.53	0.36	0.13	0.50
		0.05			0.53	0.41	0.12	0.41
		0.10			0.57	0.47	0.11	0.27
		0.20			0.62	0.54	0.10	0.11
		0.05	normal	0	0.58	0.43	0.12	0.31
				-40	0.50	0.41	0.12	0.41
				-60	0.54	0.43	0.15	0.31
				-78	0.51	0.50	0.16	0.16
		0.05	inverse ^c	-20	0.53	0.38	0.08	0.51
	acetone-D ₆	0.05	normal	0	0.64	0.38	0.02	0.56
				-20	0 62	0.41	0.02	0.51
				-78	0.69	0.44	0.02	0.38
		0.10	normal	-20	0.63	0.42	0.03	0.47
		0.05	inverse ^c	-20	0.65	0.40	<0.01	0.55
	CD ₃ OD	0.02 ^d	normal	20	0.82	0.40	0.01	0.36
	-	0.01 ^d		-78	0.61	0.59	<0.01	0.21
<i>Z</i> -8c	CD_2Cl_2	0.05	normal	-20	0.49	0.48	0.11	0.34
				-78	0.50	0.54	0.15	0.11
		0.05	inverse ^c	-20	0.55	0.45	0.08	0.39

Table 6. Product distribution from the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2diphenylethene 8c

^a Only *trans* from *E*-8c and only *cis* from *Z*-8c.

^b No corresponding tetroxanes 12c were found.

^c Simultaneous slow addition of the ozone-oxygen mixture (100 mL) and a solution of 8c (0.5 mL) into the bottom of a NMR tube through two fine tubes.

^d The concentration of the solution was limited by the solubility of E-8c.

~6 Hz), giving rise to two doublets.

In the ¹H NMR spectra the septets of the OCH groups of the various products from the ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-8c are well separated and occur at δ (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C): 5.18, 9c; 3.87, *trans*-10c; 3.84, *cis*-10c; 3.70, *trans*-11c;
4.47, *cis*-11c; 4.33, 13c. However, if the ozonation of *E*-8c is not complete as in the case of determination of the stoichiometry of the reaction, the signals of the OCH groups of the starting material *E*-8c at δ 3.70 completely overlap those of *trans*-11c. Fortunately, the doublet of the CH₃ groups of *E*-8c at δ 0.98 and one of the two doublets of the CH₃ groups of *trans*-11c at δ 0.82 are well separated from other signals. Thus, the peak areas of OCH groups of *E*-8c and *trans*-11c can be calculated.

Competitive ozonation of a mixture containing equivalent amounts of *E*-8a and *E*-8c at -78 °C showed that 54% of *E*-8a and only 9% of *E*-8c were consumed by a limited amount of ozone. Hence, *E*-8a is 8.2 times more reactive than *E*-8c toward ozone. Similarly, competitive epoxidation experiments showed that *E*-8a is 8.1 times as reactive as *E*-8c toward the dioxirane 13a (61% of *E*-8a and 11% of *E*-8c were consumed by a limited amount of 13a) and 22.1 times as reactive as *E*-8c toward the dioxirane 13c (36% of *E*-8a and 2% of *E*-8c were consumed by a limited amount of 13c). Competitive singlet oxygen oxygenation showed that *E*-8a is 2.6 times more reactive than *E*-8c toward singlet oxygen (40% of *E*-8a and 18% of *E*-8c were consumed by a limited amount of singlet oxygen). All of these experiments showed that *E*-8c is less reactive than *E*-8a. The lower reactivity of *E*-8c must originate from its sterically hindered nature.

The stoichiometry of ozonation of E-8c was determined by delivery of a less than an equivalent amount of ozone to a 0.05 *M* solution of E-8c at -20 °C. The result turned out to be that 1.1 moles of E-8c is consumed by each mole of ozone. Determination of the stoichiometry of ozonation of E-8b is impossible from the ¹H NMR spectra since the signals of the unreacted E-8b overlap those of the other products.

3. Steric effects on the product formation

The most distinct difference between the ozonation of 8c and 8a or 8b is that (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c is always present in the reaction mixtures regardless of whether the reactions are carried out under the normal ozonation conditions or under the inverse ozonation conditions, although the vields of 13c are slightly higher in the inverse ozonation than those in the normal ozonation. Upon addition of E- or Z-8c to the solution containing 13c, the corresponding oxirane trans- or cis-10c is produced and 13c is converted to isopropyl benzoate 9c, but about a half hour is needed to finish this epoxidation reaction at -20 °C. Under the same conditions, however, the epoxidation of E-8b by 13b can be finished within a few minutes and the epoxidation of E- or Z-8a by 13a is almost instantaneous. Even at -80 °C, it is still impossible to monitor the process of the epoxidation of E-8a by 13a with ¹H NMR spectroscopy. Such a great difference in the reaction rates can only be attributed to the steric effects. Apparently, the reaction between 13c and 8c suffers much more steric hindrance than that between 13a and 8a. For this reason the epoxidation of 8c by 13c is too slow to compete with the reaction of ozone and 8c. Therefore, 8c is almost only consumed by ozone in either the normal or the inverse ozonation and 13c produced will not be involved in further reaction. This result confirms the previous conclusion from an opposite point that the dioxirane 13a is produced in the ozonation of 8a but it reacts very fast with the unreacted starting alkene 8a, so it is not an observed product in most of the normal ozonation reaction mixtures.

The rate constants for the reaction between the alkene *E*-8c and the dioxirane 13c were determined by ¹H NMR to be 0.125 and 0.019 M^{-1} s⁻¹ at -20 and -40 °C, respectively. The activation energy of this reaction was therefore estimated to be 11.1 kcal/mole.

As expected, the yield of the dioxetane *trans*-11c is about five times of that of the dioxetane *trans*-11a and the yield of *cis*-11c is about one and half times of that of *cis*-11a. Higher yields of the dioxetanes 11c indicate that more singlet oxygen is produced in the ozonation of 8c than in the ozonation of 8a, which in turn means more oxygenated oxiranes are formed. This confirms the initial prediction.

Because the epoxidation of 8c by 13c can not compete with the reaction of 8c with ozone, it is reasonable to assume that the oxirane 10c produced under the inverse ozonation conditions at -20 °C is exclusively formed from the oxygenated oxirane pathway and 13c which is formed from the primary ozonide pathway does not undergo further reaction. From Table 6, initially 0.38 moles of the oxygenated oxirane and 0.51 moles of the primary ozonide are formed from *E*-8c; 0.45 moles of the oxygenated oxirane and 0.39 moles of the primary ozonide are formed from *Z*-8c. On these bases the reaction between ozone and *E*-8c at -20 °C results initially in an oxygenated oxirane;primary ozonide ratio of about 43:57 and that from *Z*-8c is about 54:46. In the previous section, it was estimated that the initial reaction between ozone and *E*-8a at -20 °C results in an oxygenated oxirane;primary ozonide ratio of about 15:85 and that from *Z*-8a is about 37:63. Indeed, more oxygenated oxirane is formed from 8c than from 8a.

Because about 0.1 moles of the dioxetane *trans*-11c are produced from each mole of E-8c and the dioxirane 13c almost does not contribute to the formation of 10c, on the basis of the proposed mechanism it can be estimated that each mole of ozone will consume about 1.1 moles of E-8c, which was the observed value.

In summary, the results of ozonation of 8c further confirm the proposed ozonation mechanism.

C. Electronic effects on ozonation of *E*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2bis(4-methoxyphenyl)ethene and *E*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene

In order to study electronic effects in the ozonation of electron-rich alkenes, two pairs of derivatives of E- and Z-8a were synthesized and their Eisomers were subjected to ozonation. In E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4methoxyphenyl)ethene (E- and Z-8d) the p-hydrogen of each phenyl ring is
substituted with a strong electron-donating methoxy group; whereas in E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene (E- and Z-8e) the p-hydrogen
of each phenyl ring is substituted with a strong electron-withdrawing nitro
group. The substituents provide opposite electronic effects on the starting
alkenes as well as on the ozonation reaction intermediates, such as the
carbonyl oxides. It was hoped that by the investigation of ozonation
behaviors of these two derivatives, better understanding of the ozonation
mechanism of the electron-rich alkenes could be achieved.

1. Preparation of the starting alkenes

The alkenes Z- and E-8d were prepared by the method used to prepare Z- and E-8a, i.e., alkylation of the dianions of 4,4'-dimethoxybenzoin with methyl *p*-toluenesulfonate, eq 19. The two isomers were separated by fractional crystallization from methanol.

The stereochemical assignments of E- and Z-8d were based on their ¹H NMR spectra. Applying the rule discussed in the assignments of E- and Z-8bc, we assign the isomers with the signal of the vinyl methoxy groups at δ 3.35 and 3.55 to be E- and Z-8d, respectively. Irradiation of either isomer with a mercury lamp leads to formation of a mixture of both isomers.

Because 4-nitrobenzoin cannot be readily prepared by the classical benzoin condensation of 4-nitrobenzaldehyde,⁵² the synthesis of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene **8e** was accomplished by the route shown in Scheme 11. The starting material used here was *cis*-4,4'- dinitrostilbene oxide. After opening the oxirane ring in acidic methanol and oxidation of the resulting α -methoxy alcohol with Jones' reagent, the obtained methoxy ketone was alkylated with methyl *p*-toluenesulfonate in the presence of base to give *E*- and *Z*-**8e** in 52% total yield. The two isomers were separated and identified by the same methods as *E*- and *Z*-**8d**. The isomer with the ¹H NMR signal of the methoxy groups at δ 3.42 was assigned to be *E*-**8e** and the other isomer with that at δ 3.69 was assigned to be *Z*-**8e**.



Scheme 11. Synthesis of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene

2. The results of normal and inverse ozonation

As expected, the results of ozonation of E-8d and E-8e were similar to

those of E-8a. Like those of E-8a, the product distributions of ozonation of E-8d and E-8e are also dependent on the reaction temperature, the initial concentration of starting materials, and the ozonation method, Table 7. No

Table 7. Product distribution from the ozonation of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)ethene E-8d and E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene E-8e in CD_2Cl_2

	Conc.	Method		Products, moles per mole of alkene				
Alkene			Temp. ℃	benzoate 9	oxirane 10	dioxetane 11	tetroxane 12 ^a	dioxirane 13
<i>E-</i> 8d	0.01	normal	-20	0.76	0.45	0.01	0.00	0.32
	0.05			0.86	0.53	0.01	0.00	0.06
			-78	0.88	0.46	0.02	0.06 ^b	0.04
		inverse	-20	1.20	0.17	0.02	0.00	0.40
<i>E-</i> 8e	0.01	normal	20	1.04	0.14	0.00	0.00	0.68
	0.05			1.05	0.18	0.00	0.00	0.58
			-40	1.03	0.16	0.00	0.12	0.53
	0.01		78	1.01	0.13	0.00	0.21	0.31
	0.05	inverse	-20	1.06	0.07	0.00	0.00	0.76

^a About equal amounts of *cis* and *trans*.

^b Estimated based on the integrals of the weak signals in the methoxy region. See explanation in the text.

dioxetane of *E*-8e, *trans*-11e, was observed under any reaction conditions. When the reactions were carried out at -20 °C, the formation of tetroxanes *cis*- and *trans*-12e and *cis*- and *trans*- 12d was negligible (less than 2%). The intensities of two signals at δ 3.63 and 3.55 in the ozonation mixture of *E*-8e increased as the reaction temperature was lowered. The similar change in the intensities of the signals of the tetroxanes *cis*- and *trans*-12a was also observed in the ozonation of E- and Z-8a. Furthermore the chemical shifts of these two signals are very close to those of *cis*- and *trans*-12a. Thus these two signals are tentatively assigned to the tetroxanes *cis*- and *trans*-12e, respectively. The ozonation of E-8d at -78 °C yields some minor products as observed from the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture. It was impossible, however, to tell the signals of the tetroxanes *cis*- and *trans*-12d from many weak signals of methoxy groups in the expected region. The dioxirane 13d was observed when the initial concentration of 8d was low enough or when 8d was ozonized under the inverse ozonation conditions. Most importantly, the dioxirane 13e, like 13c, was observed in all cases although the yield of 13e was higher under the inverse ozonation conditions.

The oxiranes, *trans*-2,3-dimethoxy-2,3-di(4-methoxyphenyl)oxirane (trans-10d) and trans-2,3-dimethoxy-2,3-di(4-nitrophenyl)oxirane (trans-10e), were identified by comparing the ¹H NMR spectra of the ozonation reaction mixtures with those of the standard samples prepared by epoxidation of E-8d or E-8e with the dioxirane 13a. Signals at δ 3.22 and δ 3.29 were assigned to the oxirane ring methoxy groups of trans-10d and trans-10e, respectively. The dioxetane. trans-2,3-dimethoxy-2,3-di(4methoxyphenyl)dioxetane (trans-11d) was identified by comparing the ¹H NMR spectrum of the ozonation reaction mixture with that of an authentic sample prepared by singlet oxygen oxidation of E-8d. A signal at δ 3.06 was assigned to the dioxetane ring methoxy groups of 11d. Methoxy(4methoxyphenyl)dioxirane 13d was identified by adding cyclohexene to the reaction mixture prepared by the inverse ozonation of E-8d. Cyclohexene was epoxidized and a ¹H NMR signal of the original reaction mixture at δ 3.44 disappeared. This signal was then assigned to the dioxirane ring methoxy group of 13d. Methoxy(4-nitrophenyl)dioxirane 13e was identified in the same way. The methoxy group of 13e gives a singlet at δ 3.52.

3. Electronic effects on the product formation

The results in Table 7 show that relatively higher yields of the dioxirane 13e are obtained from the ozonation of E-8e under both the normal and inverse ozonation conditions. Compared with E-8a, E-8e is a less electron-rich alkene because of the presence of the electron-withdrawing nitro groups in the phenyl rings. Therefore E-8e must be less reactive toward dioxiranes than E-8a since dioxiranes are electrophilic agents.³⁰ Thus the presence of 13e in the reaction mixtures of the normal ozonation of E-8e can be attributed to the slow reaction of E-8e with 13e due to the electronic effects. In the ozonation mechanism proposed for E-8a, the oxirane trans-10a is produced from two pathways, i.e., direct ozone epoxidation pathway and the indirect dioxirane epoxidation pathway. The fact that the yield of the oxirane trans-10e is lower than those of trans-10a or trans-10d is consistent with this mechanism as the reaction between the dioxirane 13e and the alkene E-8e does not occur readily. The presence of the nitro groups in the benzene rings of E-8e can also account for the absence of dioxetane 11e. The electron-withdrawing nitro groups reduce the reactivity of E-8e toward singlet oxygen.

Due to different reactivities of the three alkenes investigated and probably different amounts of the three corresponding carbonyl oxides generated during the ozonation, it is hard to discuss the electronic effects of the substituents on the cyclization tendency of the (methoxy)arylcarbonyl oxides from the yields of the corresponding dioxiranes. Nevertheless, like the ozonation of E-8c, the ozonation of E-8e also provides strong support for the proposed mechanism.

D. More discussion of (alkoxy)aryldioxiranes

1. Formation of dioxiranes

Dioxiranes are cyclic isomers of carbonyl oxides.³⁰ The possibility of isomerization of carbonyl oxides to dioxiranes has been an interesting topic for a long time. As early as in 1905, dioxiranes have been considered as possible intermediates in the ozonolysis of alkenes.⁵³ In 1977, Lovas and Suenram rigorously established that the simplest parent dioxirane is an intermediate in the low temperature (-130 to -75 °C), gas-phase ozonolysis of ethene, eq 20.⁵⁴

In solution-phase ozonolysis reactions, however, before the discovery in this study, no conclusive evidence had been obtained for the intermediacy of dioxiranes in the ozonolysis of alkenes. In some cases, dioxiranes have b en proposed as intermediates in the ozonation of certain alkynes and alkenes,⁵⁵ but there was no strong support.

(In a recent publication Murray and co-workers claimed that ozonolysis of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 produced tetramethyloxirane 6 and the allylic hydroperoxide $7.^{18(a)}$ To account for the formation of these products, these authors suggested that dimethyldioxirane and singlet oxygen are the reaction intermediates. However, these authors were not able to provide convincing evidence to support their suggestions. A more detailed discussion

of this subject is included in the appendix of this dissertation.)

A preliminary publication of this study³² reported for the first time that (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a can be obtained as one of the reaction products from the ozonation of 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a. Further studies revealed that all of the (alkoxy)arylcarbonyl oxides studied are able to cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes. Since only ordinary ozonation conditions are employed in this study, the (alkoxy)arylcarbonyl oxides 14a-e must have some intrinsic properties. As already mentioned, unlike other carbonyl oxides, 14a could not be trapped by methanol. Moreover, no oligomer of 14a is formed although the dimers of 14a can be formed in significant amounts in the ozonation of 8a. Unveiling these mysterious properties would be very interesting in both ozonation and dioxirane chemistry.

The conversion of dioxymethyl ($H_2C^+OO^-$) to the parent dioxirane has received extensive computational studies.⁴² According to Cremer's ab initio calculations,⁵⁶ this conversion is exothermic by 31.3 kcal/mol, and has an activation barrier of 22.8 kcal/mol. This means that isomerization of carbonyl oxides to dioxiranes is thermodynamically favorable, but involves a substantial activation barrier. Ozonolysis of alkenes produces carbonyl oxides with considerable excess energy. If this internal energy is not dissipated efficiently, such as in the gas phase and at low temperature, a vibrationally excited carbonyl oxide may isomerize to the dioxirane. Generally, in solution this internal energy is efficiently dissipated through collisional deactivation between the carbonyl oxide and the solvent. Therefore for thermally equilibrated dioxymethyl in solution, the activation barrier of the isomerization to dioxirane seems to prevent this isomerization to be competitive with other bimolecular processes.⁴² Since the cyclization of the (alkoxy)arylcarbonyl oxides 14a-e do occur, it means that the activation barriers of isomerization of 14a-e to 13a-e would be lower than that of dioxymethyl. Unfortunately, at present the activation barriers are not available.

It is worth noting that compared with other carbonyl oxides, 14a-e have



Scheme 12. Resonance forms of (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide

more resonance forms and the positive charge is highly delocalized as shown in Scheme 12 for **14a**. It is therefore possible that the aryl and alkoxy substitutes stabilize the carbonyl oxides and provide more chance for them to cyclize to the dioxiranes.

Although carbonyl oxides are usually represented as zwitterions, highlevel computational methods consistently demonstrate that the carbonyl oxides are more properly represented by a singlet diradical ground state.⁴² It has been realized that a singlet diradical can have a spectrum of character ranging from a pure diradical to a zwitterion^{42,57} and, thus, react in the form best suited for the experimental conditions. The current view of the carbonyl oxide favors that the electronic structure of the carbonyl oxide is best represented as a superposition of diradical and zwitterionic states, presumably the former dominates.⁴² It is therefore possible that the electronic configurations of the carbonyl oxides with alkoxy and aryl substituents are more complex than the simple zwitterionic forms. Probably the special properties of **14a-e** are because they have special electronic configurations. To give a satisfactory answer to these questions, more studies, such as computational studies, are needed. But it is not within the scope of this investigation.

2. Rate studies on epoxidation by the dioxiranes

a) Relative rate studies

Until now all of the dioxiranes discovered in this study have not been isolated from the reaction mixtures, therefore a comprehensive study of the chemistry of these interesting oxidants is largely restricted. Even so, with the use of ¹H NMR spectroscopy rate studies on the epoxidation by 13a or 13c still can be achieved. The relative reactivities of various alkenes to 13a at -78 °C were determined by competitive epoxidation between an alkene and cyclohexene. The experiments were carried out by addition of a CD₂Cl₂ solution containing equimolar amounts of cyclohexene and an alkene to a vigorously stirred CD₂Cl₂ solution containing less than the stoichiometric amount of 13a in a small round-bottom flask which was immersed in a dry ice-acetone bath. After about 30 minutes, the reaction mixtures were analyzed with ¹H NMR spectroscopy at room temperature. The reaction was finished within a few minutes as indicated by the disappearance of the yellow color of the dioxirane. By a simple analysis, the relative rate constants (k_{alk}/k_{cvc}) were determined from the percentages of the remaining alkenes as shown in Scheme 13.



Scheme 13. Determination of relative rate constants

The results (Table 8) indicate that (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a, like dimethyldioxirane,⁵⁸ is an electrophilic reagent. The lower reactivity of the crotonate or cinnamate and complete lack of reactivities of the fumarate and maleate toward 13a are consistent with the electron-deficient characters of these alkenes. It was observed that Z-8a is more reactive than E-8a toward 13a. This could be one of the reasons that the yield of the dioxiran 3a is lower from the inverse ozonation of Z-8a than from E-8a. Z-2-Butene is also more reactive than E-2-butene. It has been shown that Z-alkenes are more reactive than their E-counterparts toward dimethyldioxirane.⁵⁹ For example, Z-3-methyl-3-hexene is 1.5 times as reactive as its E-isomer. A spiro

	% of		
Alkene	alkene	cyclohexene	k _{alk} / k _{cyc}
2,3-dimethyl-2-butene	21	83	8.4
Z-8 a	17	78	7.1
E-8a	28	76	4.6
1-methylcyclohexene	43	70	2.4
Z-2-butene	38	51	1.4
E-2-butene	42	46	1.1
cyclohexene	—	_	1.0
niethyl E-cinnamate	92	25	0.06
methyl E-crotonate	96	23	0.03
diethyl fumarate	100	43	0.00
dimethyl maleate	100	65	0.00

Table 8. Relative reactivities of competitive epoxidation of various alkenes and cyclohexene with (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in $CD_2Cl_2^a$

^a. Reaction Temp. -78 °C, time 30 minutes. Single experiment for each alkene.

transition state has been proposed to explain these rate differences. Such a transition state would permit a less hindered approach of dioxiranes to Z-alkenes. Epoxidation by the dioxirane 13a might also proceed via such a spiro transition state.



b) Absolute rate studies

The absolute rate of epoxidation of methyl *E*-cinnamate by 13a was determined. A CD_2Cl_2 solution containing 13a in a NMR tube was prepared by the inverse ozonation of 5 mg of *E*-8a at -20 °C. The concentration of

13a was determined by using a known amount of toluene as an internal standard. Approximately an equivalent amount of methyl E-cinnamate was injected into the NMR tube at -78 °C. The resulting solution was shaken vigorously at -78 °C and immediately placed into a NMR probe which was precooled to the desired temperature. The consumption of the alkene and 13a and the formation of the corresponding oxirane and methyl benzoate with time were monitored by ¹H NMR. Treatment of the data obtained gave the second-order rate constants k_2 . The k_2 determined for the epoxidation of methyl *E*-cinnamate by 13a at -20 and at -40 °C were 2.82×10^{-2} (Table 9 and Figure 6) and $0.59 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$ (Table 10 and Figure 7), respectively. Accordingly, the Arrhenius activation energy was calculated, $E_a = 9.2$ kcal mol⁻¹. Murray and co-workers had earlier determined the activation energy for the epoxidation of ethyl *E*-cinnamate by dimethyldioxirane, $E_a = 14.1$ kcal mol-1.58 Epoxidation of methyl E-cinnamate was expected to be similar to that of ethyl *E*-cinnamate. Therefore, (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a is a more reactive dioxirane than dimethyldioxirane.

The epoxidation of *E*- or *Z*-8a by 13a is a very rapid reaction. Even at -78 °C it was still impossible to monitor the reaction process with ¹H NMR. The epoxidation of *E*-8c by 13c, on the other hand, is much slower and can be easily monitored with ¹H NMR. In the same way as above, the second-order rate constants for the epoxidation of *E*-8c by 13c at -20 and -40 °C in CD₂Cl₂ were found to be 12.27×10^{-2} (Table 11 and Figure 8) and 1.86×10^{-2} *M*⁻¹sec⁻¹ (Table 12 and Figure 9), respectively. The Arrhenius activation energy was therefore determined, *E_a* = 11.0 kcal mol⁻¹.

The second-order rate constants for the epoxidation of methyl *E*crotonate by (methoxy)phenyldioxirane **13a**, methoxy(4methoxy)phenyldioxirane **13d**, and methoxy(4-nitrophenyl)dioxirane **13e** at -20 °C were determined to be 0.82×10^{-2} (Table 13 and Figure 10), 0.72×10^{-2} (Table 14 and Figure 11), and $5.38 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$ (Table 15 and Figure 12), respectively. The electron-withdrawing substituent NO₂ accelerates the reaction while the electron-donating substituent OCH₃ decelerates the reaction. This result is consistent with the report that dioxiranes are electrophilic oxidizing agent^{3,30} The electron-withdrawing substituents enhance the electrophilicity of the dioxirane; and the electron-donating substituents have the opposite effect.

3. Other reactions of the dioxiranes

Like other dioxiranes, the (alkoxy)aryldioxiranes can effectively perform other oxygen transfer reactions besides the epoxidation reaction. Two of these reactions observed are listed below. The reaction products were identified by comparison of the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures with those of authentic samples.

a) Oxidation of sulfur compounds

Dioxiranes are strong oxidation agents toward sulfur compounds.^{30.} It was observed that the dioxiranes **13a** and **13c** rapidly oxidize dimethyl sulfide and methyl phenyl sulfide to the corresponding sulfones probably via the sulfoxides, eq 21.

$$R'SR'' + \frac{Ph}{RO} \stackrel{O}{G} \xrightarrow{O} [R'SR''] \longrightarrow R^{O}_{SR''} + PhCO_{2}R \qquad (21)$$

$$R', R'' = CH_{3}, Ph \qquad R = CH_{3}, CH(CH_{3})_{2}$$

b) Reaction with saturated hydrocarbons

The dioxiranes 13a and 13c are able to oxidize cumene to 2-phenyl-2propanol and ethylbenzene to α -methylbenzyl alcohol at room temperature, eq 22 and eq 23, but toluene is inert to 13a or 13c. In both cases an O atom only inserts into the benzilic C—H bond. At room temperature, the reaction between 13a and cumene needed about half an hour to accomplish, much longer than the epoxidation reactions described above. It took several hours for the reaction between 13a and ethylbenzene and during that period some of 13a decomposed. Similar relative reactivities of insertion by dimethyldioxirane of these three hydrocarbons have been observed.⁶⁰

$$(\bigcirc -CH(CH_3)_2 + \frac{Ph}{RO} \circ O \xrightarrow{CD_2CL_2, r.t.} (\bigcirc -C(CH_3)_2 + PhCO_2R \qquad (22)$$

$$(\bigcirc -CH_2CH_3 + \frac{Ph}{RO} \circ O \xrightarrow{CD_2CL_2, r.t.} (\bigcirc -CHCH_3 + PhCO_2R \qquad (23)$$

E. Conclusion

This study has shown for the first time that carbonyl oxides with alkoxy and aryl substituents generated from the ozonation of 1,2-dialkoxy-1,2-diarylethenes **8a-e** in solution are able to cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes. Depending on reaction $c^{(1)}$ itions and the starting alkenes, the dioxiranes produced can undergo further reaction with the alkenes or exist as one of the final products.

Unlike in the ozonation of tetramethoxyethene 1, no evidence was found for the presence of a radical chain reaction in the ozonation of 1,2dialkoxy-1,2-diarylethenes studied. A mechanism combining two initial reaction pathways between ozone and the alkenes was suggested to account for the product formation and the stoichiometries of the ozonation reactions. According to this mechanism, the oxiranes arise from the reaction of the alkenes with ozone as well as from the reaction of the alkenes with the ozonation reaction intermediate dioxiranes.

The reactions between the alkenes and the dioxiranes are controlled by steric effects as well as electronic effects of the substituents on the alkenes. Both the bulky vinyl alkoxy group and the electron-withdrawing substituent of the phenyl ring can reduce the reaction rates between the alkenes and the dioxiranes.

(Methoxy)phenyldioxirane **13a** shows higher reactivity than dimethyldioxirane and therefore has a potential to be a useful oxidizing agent.

F. Experimental

Melting points were determined using an Electrohome apparatus. NMR spectra were recorded on Brucker WH-200 and Brucker WH-300 spectrometers. High resolution electron impact ionization mass spectra (EIMS) were recorded on an Associated Electrical Industries (AEI) MS-50 spectrometer. Chemical ionization mass spectra (CIMS) were recorded on an Associated Electrical Industries (AEI) MS-12 spectrometer using ammonia as the carrier gas. IR spectra were recorded on a NICOLET 750 MAGNA FTIR spectrophotometer as KBr pellets or thin films. Analytical thin layer chromatography was performed on silica-coated plastic plates (Silica gel 60 F-254, Merck) and visualized under ultraviolet light. Preparative separations were performed by preparative thin: layer chromatography or flash chromatography on silica gel⁶¹ (Merck, 230-400 mesh). Tetrahydrofuran was dried by distillation from sodium-benzophenone ketyl. 2,3-Dimethyl-2-butene

۰.

5 was purified by preparative GLC. (Column 10% SE-30 on 60/80 chromosorb W, injector 170 °C, detector 120 °C, column 80 °C, retention time 20 min.) before use. ¹H NMR analysis of purified 5 indicated that no tetramethyloxirane 6 or allylic hydroperoxide 7 was present. All other solvents were reagent grade and were used as received. In the following preparations, no attempt was made to optimize the yields.

1. Synthesis of the starting alkenes

a) Synthesis of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8a)

The procedure of the synthesis was similar to that described.²⁴ To a solution of benzoin (4.24 g, 20 mmol) and methyl p-toluenesulfonate (7.5 g, 40 mmol) in THF (150 mL) was added with stirring finely ground sodium hydroxide (2.0 g, 50 mmol) under argon. The reaction mixture was heated under reflux for 10 hours. When the ground sodium hydroxide was poured into the solution, the reaction mixture turned viscous and dull green immediately and then gradually pale yellow during reflux. Most of the solvent was removed with a rotary evaporator and the viscous residue was poured into water (300 mL) and extracted with benzene (100 mL \times 3). The combined benzene layer was washed with water, saturated sodium chloride solution and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The there was evaporated and a pale yellow solid was obtained. Recrystallization from a schanol afforded a mixture (2.4 g, 50.0% total yield) of E- and Z-8a. The isomers were separated by flash column chromatography on silica gel with 5% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent. Recrystallization from methanol gave 1.0 g of E-8a (20.8%) and 1.2 g of Z-8a (25.0%).

E-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (*E*-8a): mp 95.5-96.5 °C (methanol) (Lit.⁶² mp 97-98 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.38 (s, 6 H,

OCH₃), 7.25-7.48 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.60-7.70 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 58.74 128.09, 128.49, 128.67, 134.60, 145.51; FTIR: 1596 cm⁻¹ (weak intensity, C=C); Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₂: 240.1150. EIMS *m/e*: 240.1146 (M⁺).

Z-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (*Z*-8a): mp 124.5-125.5 °C (methanol) (Lit.⁶² mp 125.5-126.5 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.59 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.17 (s, 10 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 58.60 127.86, 128.26, 130.25, 135.46, 143.74; FTIR: 1633 cm⁻¹ (medium intensity, C=C); Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₂: 240.1150. EIMS *m/e*: 240.1152 (M⁺).

b) Synthesis of E- and Z-1,2-diethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8b) and E- and Z-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8c)

Ethyl *p*-toluenesulfonate is commercially available and isopropyl *p*-toluenesulfonate was prepared according to the procedure described.⁶³

Pyridine (100 mL) was added dropwise to a mixture of *p*-toluenesulfonyl chloride (70 g, 0.37 mol) and 2-propanol (24 g, 0.40 mol) in an ice-water bath. The reaction mixture was kept stirring at 0-5 °C for two hours. Crushed ice (200 g) was added to the mixture followed by cold dilute HCl until the aqueous layer became strongly acidic. The mixture was then extracted with ether (150 mL \times 3) and the combined ethereal layer was washed with water, 5 % sodium bicarbonate, water, brine and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. After evaporation of the solvent, the crude product (75 g, 95 %) was obtained which was directly used in the next step without further purification.

Isopropyl *p***-toluenesulfonate** ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.65 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 2.45 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 4.73 (septet, J = 6.1 Hz, 1 H, CH), 7.33 (jeceudo d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2 H, Ar), 7.79 (pseudo d, J = 7.9 Hz, 2 H, Ar).

The procedure for synthesis of 8b and 8c was the same as that of 8a

except that the base used was potassium hydroxide. Recrystallization from methanol afforded only the *E*-isomers. The yield of *E*-8b was 20% and the yield of *E*-8c was 16%.

E-1,2-Diethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (*E*-8b): mp 57.0-58.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.13 (t, J = 6.9 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.53 (q, J = 6.9 Hz, 4 H, CH₂), 7.21-7.46 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.48-7.70 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 15.22, 66.36, 127.47, 127.92, 128.33, 134.75, 144.20; FTIR (CHCl₃): 1600 cm⁻¹ (medium intensity, C=C); Exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₂: 268.1463. EIMS *m/e*: 268.1454 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₂: C, 80.56; H 7.51. Found: C, 80.64; H, 7.51.

E-1,2-Diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (*E*-8c): mp 100.5-101.5 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 0.98 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 12 H, CH₃), 3.70 (septet, J = 6.0 Hz, 2 H,), 7.20-7.42 (m, 6 H), 7.76-7.83 (m, 4 H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 22.22, 71.92, 127.11, 127.55, 129.09, 135.20, 143.10; FTIR (CHCl₃): 1598.5 cm⁻¹ (medium intensity, C=C); Exact mass calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₂: 296.1776. EIMS *m/e*: 296.1778 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₂: C, 81.03; H 8.17. Found: C, 81.10; H, 8.30.

The two Z-isomers were obtained by photoisomerization of the corresponding E-isomers. The procedure is illustrated by the preparation of Z-8b below.

A 10 mL CH₂Cl₂ solution of E-8b (0.5 g) in a large size NMR tube was irradiated with a HANOVIA medium pressure mercury lamp at room temperature for two hours. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was dissolved in methanol. Part of the *E*-isomer crystallized upon cooling the mixture in an ice-water bath and the crystal was removed by filtration. Therefore the content of the *Z*-isomer which solven in the filtrate was enriched. The *Z*-8b (0.07 g, 14%) was isolated from the filtrate by flash column chromatography on silica gel with 5% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent and recrystallized from methanol.

In the same way, Z-8c (0.11 g, 22%) was obtained from E-8c (0.5 g).

In both cases the elemental analyses was not determined due to lack of enough sample.

Z-1,2-Diethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (*Z*-8b): mp 38.0-39.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.27 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.73 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 4 H, CH₂), 7.14 (s, 10 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 15.79, 66.32, 128.16, 136.16, 142.94. Exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₂: 268.1463. EIMS *m/e*: 268.1453 (M⁺).

Z-1,2-Diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (**Z-8c**): mp 74.5-75.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.21 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 12 H, CH₃), 3.92 (septet, J = 6.0 Hz, 2 H, CH), 7.08-7.15 (m, 6 H, Ar). 7.15-7.20 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 22.70, 71.03, 127.11, 127.79, 129.98, 136.33, 142.24. Exact mass calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₂: 296.1776. EIMS *m/e*: 296.1776 (M⁺).

c) Synthesis of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-mothoxyphenyl)ethene (E- and Z-8d)

A mixture of 4,4'-dimethoxybenzoin (2.72 g, 10 mmol), methyl *p*toluenesulfonate (3.8 g, 40 mmol) and finely ground sodium hydroxide (1.0 g, 25 mmol) in 150 mL of THF was heated under reflux with stirring for 15 hours under nitrogen. The mixture was poured into water and extracted with bonzene (3×50 mL). The combined extracts were washed with water, brine and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and the oily residue was crystallized from methanol. Recrystallization from methanol afforded 0.8 g (26.7%) of *E*-8d as light yellow needles. The solvent of the mother liquor was evaporated and the residue which contained mainly Z-8d was chromatographed on silica gel with 10% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent to give Z-8d (0.4 g, 13%) as light yellow needles.

E-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)ethene (*E*-8d): mp 118.0-119.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 3.35 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 3.83 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.30 (m, 4 H, Ar), 7.58 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 55.63, 58.55, 113.89, 127.16, 129.85, 144.54, 159.50; FTIR (CHCl₃): 1609 cm⁻¹ (medium intensity, C=C); Exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₄: 300.1362. EIMS *m/e*: 300.1361 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₄: C, 71.97; H, 6.72. Found: C, 71.60; H, 6.74.

Z-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)ethene (Z-8d): mp 43.0-44.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 3.55 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 3.75 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 6.72 (m, 4 H, Ar), 7.09 (m, 4 H, Ar); Exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₄: 300.1362. EIMS *m/e*: 300.1361 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₄: C, 71.97; H, 6.72. Found: C, 71.68; H, 6.83.

d) Synthesis of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene (Eand Z-8e)

2-Methoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethanol A few drops of concentrated sulfuric acid were added to a suspension of *cis*-4,4'- dinitrostilbene oxide⁶⁴ (2.89 g, 10 mmol) in anhydrous methanol (150 mL) and the mixture was stirred and heated under reflux for 30 hours. During this time, the reaction mixture became a clear yellow solution. The methanol was removed under reduced pressure and an orange solid was obtained. Recrystallization of the solid from ethanol gave a yellow powder (3.0 g, 94%), mp 124-136 °C. The broad range of the melting point indicated that it was a mixture of *threo* and *erythro* α -methoxy alcohols. (Lit.⁶⁵ mp *threo* 182 °C, *erythro* 154 °C). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.01 (b, \ddagger H, OH), 3.35 (s,

3 H, OCH₃), 4.25 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1 H, CHO), 4.79 (d, J = 7.8 Hz, 1 H, CHO), 7.16-7.28 (m, 4 H, Ar), 8.02-8.14 (m, 4 H, Ar).

2-Methoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethanone Jones' reagent was added dropwise to 50 mL of a vigorously stirred acetone solution of the α methoxy alcohol (3.0 g, 9.4 mmol) in an ice-water bath until the brown color of the oxidizing agent no longer disappeared. After stirring at room temperature for another three hours, the excess oxidizing agent was destroyed by sodium sulfite. The top acetone layer of the second structure was decanted into water and the aqueous mixtre with tracted with ether (100 mL × 3). The combined extract was washed with stater, brine, and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The ether was evaporated and the yellow residue was crystallized from methanol to give the α -methoxy ketone (2.2 g, 74%) as a yellow solid, mp 130-132 °C (Lit.⁶⁵ mp 136 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.54 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 5.45 (s, 1 H, HCO), 7.66 (m, 2 H, Ar), 8.12-8.32 (m, 6 H, Ar).

E- and *Z*-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene (*E*- and *Z*-8e)

hydride (0.24 g, 10 mmol) was added to a stirring solution of the a repared α -methoxy ketone (2.2 g, 7 mmol) and methyl *p*toluenesub---ate (1.86 g, 10 mmol) in THF (100 mL) under nitrogen at room temperature. The mixture was stirred and heated under reflux overnight. After work-up as in the preparation of 8a, a dark oily residue with some brown powder was obtained. Fractional crystallization from methanol gave two fractions. The first one was purified by recrystallization from methanol to give *E*-8e (0.7 g, 30%) as a yellow powder. The second fraction which contained mainly the *Z*-isomer was purified by chromatography on silica gel with 10% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent to give *Z*-8e (0.5 g, 22%) as a yellow powder. *E*-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene (*E*-8e): mp 220.5-222.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 3.42 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.92(d, J = 9.2 Hz, 4 H, Ar), 8.27 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 4 H, Ar). ¹³C \sim 'R (CD₂Cl₂): δ 59.40, 123.84, 129.55, 140.43, 146.38, 147.64; FTIR (CHCl₃): 1589 cm⁻¹ (medium intensity, C=C); Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₄N₂O₆: 330.0851. EIMS *m/e*: 330.0846 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₄N₂O₆: C, 58.18; H, 4.27; N, 8.48. Found: C, 58.11; H, 4.29; N, 8.42.

Z-1,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-bis(4-nitrophenyl)ethene (Z-8e): mp 201-204 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 3.69 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.34 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 4 H, Ar), 8.04 (d, J = 9.2 Hz, 4 H, Ar); Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₄N₂O₆: 330.0851. EIMS *m/e*: 330.0844 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₄N₂O₆: C, 58.18; H, 4.27; N, 8.48. Found: C, 58.10; H, 4.32; N, 8.40.

2. Ozonation of the alkenes

Ozone (approximately 2% v/v or 1×10^{-6} mol/mL) in oxygen was generated in a WELSBACii laboratory ozonizer and was taken up from the effluent stream of the ozonizer into a 100-mL gas syringe. The ozone-oxygen mixture can be stored in the syringe for several hours at room temperature with no loss in ozone content.²² Small scale ozonation reactions were carried out in NMR tubes at various temperatures, from 0 to -78 °C, in an acetone bath. The reaction temperature given was that of the bath. All the NMR tubes used were freed of acid by soaking in ammonia solution overnight, draining, and drying at 140 °C. Syringes used to deliver solvent or ozone were similarly treated except that they were dried in the air. The reaction mixtures were analyzed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy at low temperature, in most cases at -20 °C. The NMR solvents were passed through a plug of powdered potassium carbonate and stored in a bottle which contained some powdered potassium carbonate. A 0.5 M solution of sodium methoxide-D₃ was prepared by dissolving sodium metal in CD₃OD.

a) Normal ozonation

Typical conditions were as follows. The ozone-oxygen mixture stored in the syringe was delivered into a solution of the alkenes through a 1-mm Teflon tube that reached to the bottom of the NMR tube. The flow rate was approximately 20 mL/min. A piece of moistened potassium iodide starch test paper placed at the open end of the NMR tube was used as an indicator. In the cases of complete ozonation, the ozone was delivered into the solution of an alkene until the test paper became dark blue.

b) Inverse ozonation

Typical conditions were as follows. The ozone-oxygen mixture (100 mL, ~0.1 mmol) contained in a 100-mL syringe and 0.5 mL of solution of an alkene (about 5 mg of the alkene, ~0.02 mmol) contained in a 1-mL syringe were slowly injected at the same time through two fine Teflon tubes to the bottom of a NMR tube which was placed in a cooling bath. By this way, the concentration of ozone in the NMR tube was kept in excess over that of the alkene during the entire process. After finishing the injection, argon (40 mL) was slowly bubbled through the solution to expel the excess ozone while the NMR tube remained in the cooling bath. The samples prepared in this way are always light-yellow indicating the presence of dioxiranes.

c) Competitive ozonation of a mixture of two alkenes

A mixture of two alkenes, each approximately 0.05 M, in CD₂Cl₂ in a NMR tube was ozonized under the normal ozonation conditions at -78 °C with a limited amount of ozone. The resulting reaction mixture was analyzed by ¹H NMR spectroscopy at -20 °C and the relative reactivity of the alkenes toward ozone was calculated by the method described in Scheme 13.

d) Determination of product distributions from ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures

A typical example of calculation of product distribution from the integrals of ¹H NMR signals of each product is illustrated below. In one of the experiments, inverse ozonation of 5 mg of *E*-8a at -20 °C in CD₂Cl₂ gave four products. The ¹H NMR signals of CH₃O of these products are well separated and in this example the integrals are 84.98 (9a, one CH₃O), 68.64 (13a, one CH₃O), 40.44 (*trans*-10a, two CH₃O), and 3.23 (*trans*-11a, two CH₃O). The sum of the integrals is 197.27. All of these CH₃O groups are out of the CH₃O groups of the starting material *E*-8a which has two CH₃O groups. Therefore ozonation of each mole of *E*-8a produced 0.86 moles (84.98 × 2 / 197.27) of 9a; 0.70 moles (68.64 × 2 / 197.27) of 13a; 0.20 moles (40.44 / 197.27) of *trans*-10a; and 0.02 moles (3.23 / 197.27) of 11a.

e) Determination of the stoichiometry of an ozonation reaction

The stoichiometry of an ozonation reaction was measured as follows. A known volume (usually 20.0 mL) of the ozone-oxygen mixture contained in a 100-mL syringe was delivered into excess 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene (2.5 μ l) in 0.5 mL of CD₃OD at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was analyzed by ¹H NMR, measuring the integrals of the signals due to remaining 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene, acetone, and the dimethylcarbonyl oxide-CD₃OD adduct. A solution containing a known amount of an alkene (measured on a balance and transferred carefully into a NMR tube) was then treated with a limited amount of the calibrated ozone-oxygen mixture. The ozonation reaction mixture was then analyzed by ¹H NMR. The amount of the alkene consumed by the known amount of ozone was calculated from the integrals of the OCH₃ groups (for *E*- and *Z*-8a) or OCH groups (for *E*-8c) of the remaining alkenes and the products.

3. Singlet oxygen oxygenation of the alkenes

The authentic dioxetanes were prepared by photooxygenation of the corresponding alkenes.

a) Preparation of trans- and cis-3,4-dimethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (trans- and cis-11a)

A methanol/ether solution (5 mL, 1:1 mixture of the solvents) of E- or Z-8a (24 mg, 0.1 mmol) and 1 mg of Rose Bengal in a large size NMR tube was irradiated with a 200-W incandescent bulb while kept in an ice-water bath. A slow stream of oxygen was delivered into the solution through a fine Teflon tube that reached to the bottom of the NMR tube. The reaction was monitored with TLC until the spot due to the starting material disappeared. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and the residue was subjected to preparative TLC with 10% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent. The TLC plate was pretreated with 20% methanolic ammonia solution. The bands that contained the dioxetanes were cut off and the dioxetanes were extracted with 10 mL of CH₂Cl₂. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and the residues were recrystallized from methanol to give the dioxetanes as white powders. The isolated yields of the dioxetanes *trans*- and *cis*-11a were 22% and 18%, respectively.

trans-3,4-Dimethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (*trans*-11a): mp 58.0-60.5 °C (methanol) (Lit.⁶³ mp 59-61); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.06 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.40-7.50 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.54-7.60 (m, 4 H, Ar).

cis-3,4-Dimethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (*cis*-11a): mp 66.5-68.0 °C (methanol) (Lit.⁶³ mp 67-68); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.36 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.12-7.18 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.30-7.36 (m, 4 H, Ar).

b) Preparation of trans-3,4-diisopropoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (trans-11c) A solution of (0.9 g, 3 mmol) E-8c in 50 mL CH₂Cl₂ that contained some Rose Bengal adsorbed on silica gel was vigorously stirred and irradiated with a 200-W incandescent bulb while kept in an ice-water bath. A slow stream of oxygen was bubbled through the mixtures. After 2 hours of irradiation the sensitizer was removed by filtration and the solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure. Recrystallization of the residue from methanol gave 0.5 g of *trans*-11c (50%) as white cubes.

trans-3,4-Diisopropoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (*trans*-11c): mp 81.0-82.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 0.82 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 1.02 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.70 (septet, J = 6.1 Hz, 2 H, OCH), 7.40-7.49 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.55-7.64 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 23.59, 24.14, 68.50, 114.03, 128.13, 128.28, 129.30, 136.20. FTIR (CHCl₃): 1035 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₂₀H₂₄O₄: 328.1674; CIMS *m/e*: 346 (M + NH₄⁺).

c) Preparation of authentic samples of other dioxetanes

Small scale preparations of the other dioxetanes were carried out in NMR tubes and CD_2Cl_2 was used as the solvent. The procedure was similar to that of **11a**. No attempt was made to isolate the dioxetanes. After the reaction, the reaction mixture was filtered through a cotton plug into another NMR tube and analyzed with ¹H NMR at -20 °C.

The presence of the dioxetanes in the above reaction mixtures as well as in the ozonation reaction mixtures was evidenced by the observation of the luminescence of the hot reaction mixture containing 9,10-dibromo- and 9,10bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene as fluorescers. The ¹H NMR signals that rapidly disappeared after addition of a trace of CuCl₂ dissolved in CD₃OD to the reaction mixtures were assigned to the dioxetanes. The signals of the aromatic protons could not be specified because they were superimposed upon those of other compounds.

cis-3,4-Diethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (*cis*-11b): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.25 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.58 (dq, 2 H, J = 9 and 7.5 Hz, OCH₂), 3.83 (dq, 2 H, J = 9 and 7.5 Hz, OCH₂), and signals of aromatic protons.

trans-3,4-Diethoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (*trans*-11b): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.05 (t, J = 7.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.17 (dq, 2 H, J = 9 and 7.5 Hz, OCH₂), 3.47 (dq, 2 H, J = 9 and 7.5 Hz, OCH₂), and signals of aromatic protons.

cis-3,4-Diisopropoxy-3,4-diphenyl-1,2-dioxetane (*cis*-11c): ¹H NMR $(CD_2Cl_2, -20 \ ^{\circ}C)$: $\delta 0.94$ (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 1.19 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 4.47 (septet, J = 6.1 Hz, 2 H, OCH), and signals of aromatic protons. *trans*-3,4-Dimethoxy-3,4-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)-1,2-dioxetane (*trans*-11d): ¹H NMR $(CD_2Cl_2, -20 \ ^{\circ}C)$: $\delta 3.06$ (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 3.84 (s, 6 H, ArOCH₃), and signals of aromatic protons.

d) Competitive singlet oxygen oxygenation of a mixture of two alkenes

A mixtures of two alkenes in a NMR tube, each approximately 0.02 M, in CD₂Cl₂ that contained some Rose Bengal adsorbed on silica gel was irradiated with a 200-W incandescent bulb while kept in an ice-water bath. A slow stream of oxygen was bubbled through the mixture. After approximately 0.5 hours of irradiation the sensitizer was removed by filtration. The resulting reaction mixture was analyzed by ¹H NMR and the relative reactivity of the alkenes toward singlet oxygen was calculated by the method described in Scheme 13.

4. Products isolated from the ozonation reaction mixtures

a) Benzoates

Ozonation of **8a-e** under any conditions always produced the corresponding benzoates which were isolated from the reaction mixtures by chromatography on silica gel with 10% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent.

Methyl benzoate (9a): ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.88 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.38-7.62 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.95-8.06 (m, 2 H, Ar).

Ethyl benzoate (9b): ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 40 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3 H, CH₃), 4.31 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 2 H, CH₂) 7.20-7.70 (r β H, Ar), 7.90-8.10 (m, 2 H, Ar).

Isopropyl benzoate (9c): ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): $\delta = 33$ (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 5.18 (septet, I = 6.2 Hz, 1 H, CH), 7.40-⁻ (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.95-8.10 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 22.08, δ 8.69. [8.66, 129.75, 131.53, 133.03, 166.24.

Methyl 4-methoxybenzoate (9d): mp 48-51 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.82 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.83 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 6.91 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2 H, Ar), 7.95 (d, J = 8.8 Hz, 2 H, Ar).

Methyl 4-nitrobenzoate (9e): mp 94-96 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.93 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 8.14 (s, 4 H, Ar).

b) Isolation and preparation of 2,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethanone:

The title compound is the rearrangement product of *cis*- or *trans*-10a. Several small scale reaction mixtures of the normal ozonation of *E*-8a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C were combined and the combined mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature overnight. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was chromatographed on silica gel with 20% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent. The isolated product showed the same melting point and ¹H NMR absorptions as a sample prepared according to the authentic method²⁶ shown below.

To a mixture of benzil (4 g, 0.02 mol) and Ba(OH)₂ (20 g, 0.12 mol) in

60 mL of DMF was added $CH_{3}I$ (10 mL, 0.16 mol). The reaction mixture was stirred for six hours at room temperature and was poured into 300 mL of water. The resulting mixture was extracted with ether (50 mL × 3). The combined extract was washed with water, brine, and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The ether was evaporated and the yellow residue was crystallized from methanol to give the product (4.54 g, 93%) as a white solid. **2,2-Dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethanone** mp 67-70 °C (methanol)

(Lit.²⁶ mp 68 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.26 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.20-7.92 (m, 8 H, Ar), 8.10-8.30 (m, 2 H, Ar).

- c) Tetroxanes
- (1) Isolation of *trans* and *cis*-3,6-dimethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*trans*- and *cis*-12a)

A mixture of *E*- and *Z*-8a (1.2 g) in 20 mL of CH_2Cl_2 was completely ozonized at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature overnight and then the solvent was evaporated. The residue was dissolved in 20 mL of methanol and 20 mL of 1 *M* aqueous solution of KOH was added. The mixture was heated under reflux for 15 minutes and poured into 100 mL of water. The resulting mixture was extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (4 × 50 mL) and the combined CH_2Cl_2 solution was concentrated. Preparative thin layer chromatography of the residue (10 developments with 2% ethyl acetate in hexane) gave enough amounts of the tetroxanes *trans*- and *cis*-12a for characterization experiments (isolated yields were undetermined).

cis-3,6-Dimethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*cis*-12a): mp 113.0-114.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.69 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.28-7.40 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.45-7.55 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 53.36, 117.15, 127.50, 128.69, 130.45, 132.60; Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₆: 304.0947. CIMS *m/e*: 305 (M + H⁺), 322 (M + NH4⁺); Anal.

Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₆: C, 63.15; H 5.30. Found: C, 62.90; H, 5.37.

trans-3,6-Dimethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*trans*-12a): mp 145.0-146.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.59 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 7.40-7.52 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.68-7.78 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 53.56, 117.15, 127.66, 128.76, 131.48, 131.57; IR (KBr): 1103, 1280 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₆: 304.0947. CIMS *m/e*: 305 (M + H⁺), 322 (M + NH₄⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₆: C, 63.15; H 5.30. Found: C, 62.82; H, 5.39.

(2) Isolation of *trans*- and *cis*-3,6-diethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*trans*- and *cis*-12b)

Similarly, a mixture of *E*- and *Z*-8b (1.5 g) in 20 mL of CH_2Cl_2 was completely ozonized at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature in an unstoppered flask to let the solvent slowly evaporate. After about two days, the tetroxanes (*trans*- and *cis*-12b) were crystallized from the ozonation reaction mixture. The sticky residue was diluted with 5 mL of cold methanol and filtered to give the crystals of the tetroxanes. Recrystallization from methanol provided 0.06 g of a mixture of cis- and trans-tetroxanes. The separation of the cis and trans isomers was achieved by preparative TLC (six developments with 2% ethyl acetate in hexane).

cis-3,6-Diethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*cis*-12b): mp 140.0-141.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.34 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 6 H), 3.97 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 4 H), 7.32-7.55 (m, 10 H, Ar); Exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₆: 332.1260. CIMS *m/e*: 350 (M + NH₄+). Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₂₀O₆: C, 65.05; H, 6.07. Found: C, 65.10; H, 6.03.

trans-3,6-Diethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane (*trans*-12b): mp 145.0-147.0 °C (methanol); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.40 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 6 H), 3.79 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 4 H), 7.42-7.76 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.65-7.75 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CD_2Cl_2): δ 15.03, 61.76, 116.75, 127.75, 128.66, 131.29, 132.34. Exact mass calcd for $C_{18}H_{20}O_6$: 332.1260. CIMS *m/e*: 350 (M + NH₄+). Anal. Calcd for $C_{18}H_{20}O_6$: C, 65.05; H, 6.07. Found: C, 65.03; H, 6.01.

(3) Isolation and identification of the cross tetroxane

A mixture of *E*-8a (0.24 g, 1 mmol) and cyclohexylidenecyclohexane (0.33 g, 2 mmol) di solved in 50 mL of CH_2Cl_2 was completely ozonized at -60 °C. The reaction n.ixture was allowed to stand at room temperature overnight and then the solvent was evaporated. The residue was dissolved in 20 mL of methanol and 20 mL of 1 *M* aqueous solution of KOH was added. The mixture was heated to reflux for 20 min., poured into 200 mL of water, and extracted with CH_2Cl_2 (50 mL × 3). The cross tetroxane in the CH_2Cl_2 layer was isolated by preparative thin layer chromatography on SiO₂ (ten developments with 2% ethyl acetate in hexane). After recrystallization from methanol, 2 mg of the cross tetroxane was obtained.

3-Methoxy-3-phenyl-1,2,4,5-tetraoxaspiro[**5.5**]**undecane** ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.4-1.9 (m, 6 H, CH₂), 2.32 (t, J = 7.8 Hz, 4 H, CH₂), 3.48 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.42-7.49 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.60-7.64 (m, 2 H, Ar); Exact mass calcd for C₁₄H₁₈O₅: 266.1154. CIMS *m/e*: 284 (M + NH₄+).

5. Products present in the ozonation reaction mixtures at low temperature

The following products were unstable at room temperature and were not isolated from the ozonation reaction mixtures. Their identification was discussed in the discussion part. The signals of the aromatic protons of these products could not be assigned because they overlapped those of other products. The ¹³C NMR signals of the dioxiranes and oxiranes were obtained

as follows. Inverse ozonation of a desired alkene in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C gave a mixture containing mainly corresponding benzoate, oxirane and dioxirane (from ¹H NMR). Several such prepared mixtures were combined and the combined mixture was concentrated by blowing nitrogen into the mixture at -40 °C to give a concentrated sample suitable for ¹³C NMR spectroscopy. After a ¹³C NMR spectrum was recorded, a suitable amount of the starting alkene was added to the above sample at -20 °C. A reaction between the dioxirane and the alkene gave the benzoate and the oxirane. The second ¹³C NMR spectrum of this sample which now contained mainly the benzoate and the oxirane in a greater amount (from ¹H NMR) was recorded. The ¹³C NMR spectrum of the benzoate was obtained independently. The signals that disappeared after the addition of the alkene were assigned to the dioxirane. The signals that increased in intensity (not these due to the benzoate) after the addition of the alkene were assigned to the oxirane. The ¹H NMR signals of the dioxiranes and the oxiranes were obtained in the same way except that the sample did not need to be concentrated.

trans-2,3-Dimethoxy-2,3-diphenyloxirane (*trans*-10a): ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C): δ 3.24 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), and signals of aromatic protons; ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C): δ 52.73, 92.64, 128.11, 128.30, 128.96, 132.62.

cis-2,3-Dimethoxy-2,3-diphenyloxirane (*cis*-10a): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 3.29 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), and signals of aromatic protons; ¹³C NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 53.36, 92.73, 127.99,128.48, 128.92, 132.30.

trans-2,3-Diethoxy-2,3-diphenyloxirane (*trans*-10b): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.08 (t, J = 6.2 Hz, 6 H, OCH₃), 3.48 (dq, 2 H, J = 8.9 and 7.6 Hz, OCH₂), 3.61 (dq, 2 H, J = 8.9 and 7.6 Hz, OCH₂), and signals of aromatic protons.

cis-2,3-Diethoxy-2,3-diphenyloxirane (cis-10b): ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, -20

°C): δ 1.18 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.42 (dq, 2 H, J = 8.9 and 7.6 Hz, OCH₂), 3.61 (dq, 2 H, J = 8.9 and 7.6 Hz, OCH₂), and signals of aromatic protons.

trans-2,3-Diisopropoxy-2,3-diphenyloxirane (*trans*-10c): ¹H NMR ($CD_2Cl_2, -20$ °C): $\delta 0.95$ (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 1.16 (d, J = 6.0 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.87 (septet, J = 6.0 Hz, 2 H, OCH), and signals of aromatic protons; ¹³C NMR ($CD_2Cl_2, -20$ °C): δ 22.66, 23.05, 66.46, 91.06, 128.59,129.40, 130.63, 143.68.

cis-2,3-Diisopropoxy-2,3-diphenyloxirane (*cis*-10c): ¹H NMR (CD_2CI_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.07 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 1.24 (d, J = 6.2 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 3.84 (septet, J = 6.2 Hz, 2 H, OCH) and signals of aromatic protons.

trans-2,3-Dimethoxy-2,3-bis(4-methoxyphenyl)oxirane (*trans*-10d): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 3.23 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 3.82 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 6.91 (d, J = 8.76 Hz, 4 H, Ar), 7.40 (d, J = 8.76 Hz, 4 H, Ar).

trans-2,3-Dinitro-2,3-bis(4-nitrophenyl)oxirane (*trans*-10e): ¹H NMR $(CD_2Cl_2, -20 \ ^{\circ}C)$: δ 3.32 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), and signals of aromatic protons.

(Methoxy)phenyldioxirane (13a): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 3.50 (s, 3 H, OCH₃) and signals of aromatic protons. ¹³C NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 50.11, 109.07, 127.21, 129.03, 130.84, 131.43.

(Ethoxy)phenyldioxirane (13b): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.27 (t, J = 7.0 Hz, 3 H, CH₃), 3.79 (q, J = 7.0 Hz, 2 H, OCH₂) and signals of aromatic protons.

(Isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane (13c): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.23 (d, J = 6.1 Hz, 6 H, CH₃), 4.33 (septet, J = 6.1 Hz, 1 H, OCH), and signals of aromatic protons. ¹³C NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 22.86, 66.29, 108.34,126.87, 129.11, 130.82, 132.50.

Methoxy(4-methoxyphenyl)dioxirane (13d): ¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂, -20 °C): δ
3.44 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.81 (s, 3H, OCH₃), 6.91 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2 H, Ar), 7.55 (d, J = 8.7 Hz, 2 H, Ar).

Methoxy(4-nitrophenyl)dioxirane (13e): ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 3.52 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), and signals of aromatic protons.

6. Radical chain oxidation of *E*- or *Z*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-

diphenylethene at low temperature

An ozone-oxygen mixture was bubbled into *tert*-butyl hydroperoxide (5 μ l) in 0.5 mL of CD₂Cl₂ in a NMR tube at -45 °C until the blue color of ozone persisted for ten minutes. Oxygen was bubbled through for another five minutes to expel the excess ozone left in the solution. A solution of *trans*- or *cis*-8a (4 mg) in 0.2 mL of CD₂Cl₂ was added to the above solution while oxygen was kept bubbling through at -20 °C for another four hours. The reaction mixture was analyzed by ¹H NMR at -20 °C.

7. Dioxirane epoxidation rate study

a) Relative rate study

A CD_2Cl_2 solution (0.5 mL) of the reaction mixture (containing approximately 2×10^{-5} moles of **13a**) prepared by the inverse ozonation of 6 mg of *E*-**8a** at -20 °C in a NMR tube was poured into a 0.5 mL of vigorously stirring CD_2Cl_2 solution of equivalent amounts of cyclohexene and an alkene (approximately 2×10^{-5} moles each) in a 5 mL-flask which was placed in a dry ice-acetone bath. The NMR tube and the flask had been freed of acid as described previously. The reaction mixture was stirred at -78 °C for 30 minutes and then analyzed by ¹H NMR at room temperature.

b) Absolute Rate Study

Typical conditions were as follows. A solution of the dioxirane 13a in

a NMR tube was prepared by the inverse ozonation of 5.5 mg of E-8a dissolved in 0.5 mL of CD₂Cl₂ at -20 °C. The amount of dioxirane 13a was measured by comparison of the ¹H NMR integral of the methoxy group of 13a with the integral of the methyl group of a known amount of toluene (2.0 μ l) which was added as an internal standard. An approximately equivalent amount of methyl *E*-cinnamate (~2.6 mg) in 0.2 mL of CD₂Cl₂ was injected into the NMR tube which was placed in a dry ice-acetone bath and the solution was shaken vigorously while kept inside the bath. The NMR tube was then put as soon as possible into a NMR probe which was precooled to the desired temperature. The integrals of the reactants and products was recorded by ¹H NMR every five or ten minutes and compared with that of the internal standard until most of 13a, was consumed. The values of the second-order rate constant, k_2 , were calculated from the usual expression,

$$k_2 = \frac{1}{a-b} \ln \frac{b(a-x)}{a(b-x)} \frac{1}{t}$$

where a = the initial concentration of the alkene, b = the initial concentration of the dioxirane, x = the concentration of the oxirane produced, and t = the reaction time. The Arrhenius activation energy was calculated from the equation

$$E_{a} = 1.987 \frac{T_{2}T_{1}}{T_{2} - T_{1}} \ln \frac{k_{2}}{k_{1}}$$

The results of the absolute rate studies are summarized in Table 9-15 and Figure 6-12 which are created by a computer program.

ernal standard: Time	Conc.of the oxirane	1 b(a-x)	k 2
(sec)	(10 ⁻² M)	a-b ^m a(b-x)	$(10^{-2}M^{-1}sec^{-1})$
0	0		
300	0.45	8.81	2.97
600	0.73	16.59	2.77
900	0.98	26.02	2.88
1200	1.15	34.49	2.87
1500	1.30	44.04	2.93
1800	1.39	51.07	2.83
2400	1.55	67.10	2.80

Table 9. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-cinnamate by (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C

Average $k_2 = 2.86 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 3, $k_2 = 2.82 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 6. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-cinnamate by (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C.

Time	Conc.of the oxirane	$\frac{1}{a-b} \ln \frac{b(a-x)}{a(b-x)}$	<i>k</i> ₂
(sec)	(10 ⁻² M)	a-b '''a(b-x)	$(10^{-2}M^{-1}sec^{-1})$
0	0		
300	0.09	1.68	0.57
600	0.19	3.71	0.62
900	0.28	5.71	0.63
1200	0.35	7.38	0.62
1800	0.47	10.55	0.58
2400	0.59	14.16	0.58

Table 10. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-cinnamate by (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD₂Cl₂ at -40 °C

Initial concentration of methyl *E*-cinnamate = $2.72 \times 10^{-2} M$

Average $k_2 = 0.60 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 4, $k_2 = 0.59 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 7. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-cinnamate by (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at -40 °C.

Table 11. Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E-8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c in CD₂Cl₂ at -20 °C

Initial concentration of *E*-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E-8c = $1.89 \times 10^{-2} M$ Initial concentration of (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane $13c = 1.38 \times 10^{-2} M$ Internal standard: Toluene

Time (sec)	Conc. of the oxirane $(10^{-2}M)$	$\frac{1}{a-b}\ln\frac{b(a-x)}{a(b-x)}$	k_2 (10 ⁻² M^{-1} sec ⁻¹)	
0	0	0		
300	0.60	36.98	12.32	
600	0.87	74.25	12.37	
900	1.02	112.36	12.48	
1200	1.11	146.35	12.20	

Average $k_2 = 12.34 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 5, $k_2 = 12.27 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 8. Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E-8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c in CD₂Cl₂ at -20 °C.

Table 12. Epoxidation of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E-8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c in CD₂Cl₂ at -40 °C

	on of E-1,2-diisopropoxy-1, on of (isopropoxy)phenyldic		
Internal standard: Time	Toluene Conc.of the oxirane	$\frac{1}{1}\ln \frac{b(a-x)}{x}$	k 2
(sec)	(10 ⁻² <i>M</i>)	a-b a(b-x)	$(10^{-2}M^{-1}sec^{-1})$
0	0		
600	0.14	11.22	1.87
1200	0.26	23.64	1.97
1800	0.34	33.39	1.85
2400	0.41	43.43	1.82
3000	0.45	51.94	1.73
3600	0.54	70.21	1.95

Average $k_2 = 1.87 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 6, $k_2 = 1.86 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 9. Epoxidation of *E*-1,2-diisopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene *E*-8c by (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c in CD_2Cl_2 at -40 °C.

Table 13. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-crotonate by (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C

Initial concentration of methyl *E*-crotonate = $2.86 \times 10^{-2} M$

Time	Conc.of the oxirane	$\frac{1}{1}$ $\frac{b(a-x)}{a}$	<i>k</i> ₂
(sec)	(10 ⁻² M)	a-b '''a(b-x)	$(10^{-2}M^{-1}sec^{-1})$
0	0	0	
600	0.33	4.97	0.83
1200	0.58	9.74	0.81
1800	0.82	15.48	0.86
2400	0.98	20.19	0.84
3600	1.22	29.23	0.81

Average $k_2 = 0.83 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 7, $k_2 = 0.82 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 10. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-crotonate by (methoxy)dioxirane 13a in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C.

Table 14. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-crotonate by methoxy(4-methoxyphenyl)dioxirane 13d in CD₂Cl₂ at -20 °C

	on of methyl E-crotonate = on of methoxy(4-methoxypl		= 1.35 × 10 ⁻² M	
Internal standard:				
Time (sec)	Conc. of the oxirane $(10^{-2}M)$	$\frac{1}{a-b}\ln\frac{b(a-x)}{a(b-x)}$	k_2 (10 ⁻² M ⁻¹ sec ⁻¹)	
0	0	0		
600	0.063	4.35	0.73	

12000.1269.200.7718000.16412.410.6924000.22017.560.73

Average $k_2 = 0.73 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 8, $k_2 = 0.72 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 11. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-crotonate by methoxy(4-methoxyphenyl)dioxirane **13d** in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C.

Table 15. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-crotonate by methoxy(4-nitrophenyl)dioxirane 13e in CD₂Cl₂ at -20 °C

	on of methyl E-crotonate = on of methoxy(4-nitropheny		$20 \times 10^{-2} M$
Internal standard:			
Time	Conc. of the oxirane	$\frac{1}{a-b} \ln \frac{b(a-x)}{a(b-x)}$	k_2 (10 ⁻² M ⁻¹ sec ⁻¹)
(sec)	$(10^{-2}M)$	a-0 a(0-x)	(10 ⁻² M ⁻ sec ⁻)
0	0	0	
300	0.22	15.91	5.30
600	0.40	34.80	5.80
900	0.51	50.66	5.63
1200	0.60	67.43	5.62
1500	0.65	78.82	5.25

Average $k_2 = 5.52 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$

From Figure 9, $k_2 = 5.38 \times 10^{-2} M^{-1} \text{sec}^{-1}$



Figure 12. Epoxidation of methyl *E*-crotonate by methoxy(4-nitrophenyl)dioxirane 13e in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C.

III. SYNTHESIS AND OZONATION OF 2-[(METHOXY)PHENYL]METHYLENE-1,3-DIOXOLANE AND 1,1,2-TRIMETHOXY-2-PHENYLETHENE

Dioxiranes are efficient oxygen transfer agents.³⁰ After the discovery that (methoxy)phenyldioxirane **13a** is one of the reaction products of the ozonation of E- or Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- or Z-8a), it was hoped that **13a** could be prepared in better yield and with fewer side products by ozonation of other alkenes.

The ozonation of 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethenes was first considered. To the best of our knowledge, 1,1,2-trialkoxy substituted alkenes had never been synthesized. There are two possible directions for cleavage of the primary ozonide of a trialkoxy substituted alkene, eq 24. In direction a only



one alkoxy substituent is incorporated in the carbonyl product formed, whereas in direction b two alkoxy substituents are incorporated in the carbonyl product formed. It is well known that primary ozonides of vinyl ethers always cleave in the direction to give an ester and a carbonyl oxide, i.e., the alkoxy substituent is incorporated in the carbonyl product formed.^{19,20} Hence, direction b may be more favorable over direction a because in direction b one more alkoxy substituent is incorporated in the carbonyl product formed.^{19,20} Hence, direction b may be more favorable over direction a because in direction b one more alkoxy substituent is incorporated in the carbonyl product. If the primary ozonide of 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethene

cleaved in the expected direction, a carbonate and an (alkoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide would be produced and the latter would be able to cyclize to a dioxirane. To study this possibility, 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane 15 and 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenylethene 16 were synthesized and subjected to ozonation.

Results and Discussion

1. Synthesis of the starting alkenes

No precedent was found for the synthesis of trialkoxy substituted alkenes. It was reported that some ketene acetals could be prepared by intramolecular cyclization of 2-bromoethyl esters.⁶⁶ This method was extended to synthesize 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane **15** from 2-bromoethyl (methoxy)phenylacetate as shown in Scheme 14.

PhCHCO₂H
$$\xrightarrow{a,b}$$
 PhCHCO₂H \xrightarrow{c} PhCHCO₂CH₂CH₂Br \xrightarrow{d} $\xrightarrow{CH_3O}$ \xrightarrow{O}
OH OCH₃ OCH₃ OCH₃ 15

Reaction Conditions: a. 10 eq. (McO)₂SO₂, 20 eq. NaOH/ H₂O b. H₂SO₄ c. 1.5 eq. HOCH₂CH₂Br, Cat. TsOH/Benzene d. 1.1 eq. NaH/ DMSO

Scheme 14. Synthesis of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane

Preparation of 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenylethene 16 from the corresponding methyl α -methoxyphenylacetate was unsuccessful. Even with the use of polar aprotic solvents, such as DMSO or HMPA-THF, only the C-alkylated product was obtained. The alkene 16 was prepared by O-alkylation of 2,2-dimethoxy-1-phenylethanone as shown in Scheme 15.



Reaction Conditions: a. ScO₂ / Dioxane; b. cat. H₂SO₄ / CH₃OH / Benzene; c. 1.2 eq. NaH / DMSO then 1.1 eq. p-TsOCH₃

Scheme 15. Synthesis of 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenylethene

The α -keto acetal (94% pure) obtained from phenylglyoxal was contaminated with 1,1,2,2-tetramethoxyethylbenzene and other minor impurities. The contaminants were hard to remove completely and had to be carried over to the next step. Thus, the purity of the final product **16** was only .'5% even after several recrystallizations. Fortunately, the impurities are inert to ozone.

The two 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethenes slowly decomposed to complex products during the storage at room temperature but can be stored in acid-free containers at -5 °C for several months without significant decomposition.

2. Ozonation of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane

The ozonation and other related reactions were carried out in a similar manner as those described previously. The major products (up to 80% of the total products) from the ozonation of 15 in CD_2Cl_2 were methyl benzoate 9a, ethylene carbonate 17, 2-methoxy-2-phenyl-1,4,7-trioxaspiro[2.4]heptane 18 (the oxirane of 15), 1-methoxy-1-phenyl-2,3,5,8-tetraoxaspiro[3.4]octane 19

(the 1,2-dioxetane of 15) and 1,4,6,7,9,12,13,14octaoxadispiro[4.2.4.2]tetradecane 20 (the dimer of the ethylene carbonate oxide), eq 25. The total amount of unidentified products which gave a cluster of small signals between δ 3.0 and δ 4.5 in the ¹H NMR spectrum accounted for approximately 20% of all the products.

$$15 \xrightarrow{O_3}{CD_2Cl_2} PhCO_2Me + O + O + MeO + M$$

The ¹H NMR signals of the CH₃O groups of the oxirane **18**, the dioxetane **19** and methyl benzoate **9a** are well separated from other signals, and occur at δ 3.44, 3.57, and 3.89, respectively. The OCH₂CH₂O group of ethylene carbonate **17** gives an isolated singlet at δ 4.50. The ¹H NMR signals of the OCH₂CH₂O group of **18** and **19** overlap and give two multiplets at δ 4.00-4.15 and δ 4.15-4.30. The OCH₂CH₂O group of the tetroxane **20** gives a singlet at δ 4.24, overlapping one of the two multiplets of **18** and **19**. Therefore, the integral due to **20** is the difference of the integrals of the signals between δ 4.15-4.30 and δ 4.00-4.15.

Unlike in the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (E- and Z-8a), it was found that the product distribution was not dependent on the initial concentrations of 15 and furthermore there was no difference in the product formations and distributions between the normal and inverse ozonation of 15. As seen from Table 16, the product distribution was slightly dependent on the reaction temperatures.

Ethylene carbonate 17 and methyl benzoate 9a were readily identified by their ¹H NMR signals.

]	Products, mo	oles per m	ole of alken	e
Solvent	Conc. M	Method	Temp. ℃	benzoate 9a	carbonate 17	oxirane 18	dioxetane 19	tetroxane 20
CD ₂ Cl ₂	0.01	normal	-20	0.67	0.24	0.15	0.10	0.02
	0.05		20	0.89	0.25	0.14	0.08	0.02
			-20	0.68	0.23	0.16	0.11	0.03
			-78	0.55	0.22	0.20	0.14	0.05
	0.20		-20	0.69	0.26	0.17	0.11	0.02
		inverse	-20	0.69	0.24	0.15	0.11	0.03
(CD ₃) ₂ CO	0.05	normal	-78	0.58	0.30	0.23	0.07	0.07

Table 16. Product distribution from the ozonation of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3dioxolane^a

The oxirane 18 was identified by comparison of the ¹H NMR spectrum of the ozonation reaction mixture with that of an authentic sample prepared by epoxidation of 15 with the dioxirane 13a. A singlet at δ 3.44 and two multiplets at δ 4.05-4.12 and δ 4.22-4.29 are assigned to the OCH₃ and OCH₂CH₂O groups of 18, respectively. At room temperature, 18 soon rearranged to 2-benzoyl-2-methoxy-1,3-dioxolane 21 that gives a singlet at δ 3.42 for the methoxy group and an easily identified doublet at δ 8.10 for the two ortho protons of the phenyl ring, eq 26. The rearrangement product 21

was isolated from the reaction mixture by chromatography and was identified by ¹H, ¹³C NMR, and mass spectrometries. Two signals at δ 190.04 and 118.22 in the ¹³C NMR spectrum of **21** were assigned to the carbonyl carbon atom and the carbon atom attached to three oxygen atoms, respectively. The electron impact ionization mass spectrum gave the exact masses of the (M – OCH_3)⁺ and $C_6H_5CO^+$ ions, while the chemical ionization with NH_4^+ afforded the (M + NH₄⁺) ion at *m/e* 226.

The dioxetane 19 was identified by comparison of the ¹H NMR spectrum of the ozonation reaction mixture with that of an authentic sample prepared by singlet oxygen oxidation of 15. A singlet at δ 3.57 disappeared when the reaction mixture was shaken with a drop of a deuterated methanol solution of CuCl₂, indicating the decomposition of the dioxetane by the transition metal ion.²⁸ Consequently, this signal was assigned to the methoxy group of 19. Other signals of 19 overlap signals of the other products. The formation of the dioxetane 19 was further confirmed by the observation of luminescence upon addition of the reaction mixture to hot toluene containing 9,10-dibromo- and 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene. Evidence that 19 was formed by the reaction of 15 with singlet oxygen was obtained by ozonation of a 1:4 mixture of 15:2,5-dimethylfuran. The result of this competitive reaction showed that no the dioxetane 19 was detected by ¹H NMR and the endoperoxide of 2,5-dimethylfuran was produced instead. As discussed previously, this result indicates that 19 was produced by singlet oxygen oxidation of 15.

The dimer of the ethylene carbonate oxide 20 was isolated directly as a white powder from the reaction mixture after the solvent was evaporated. It can be recrystallized from methanol and stored at room temperature without decomposition. The structure and composition of this oxygen-rich compound was determined by ¹H and ¹³C NMR spectroscopies, chemical ionization mass spectrometry, and elemental analysis. It gives only one singlet at δ 4.24 in the ¹H NMR spectrum. The ¹³C NMR spectrum shows two signals at δ 66.52 and 143.11. The low field signal indicates the presence of a carbon atom attached to four oxygen atoms. Chemical ionization with NH₄⁺ afforded

the $(M + NH_4^+)$ ion at m/e 226. The result of the elemental analysis is consistent with the composition of this molecule.

When deuterated methanol was used as the solvent, the major products were methyl benzoate 9a, ethylene carbonate 17, the oxirane 18 (or its rearrangement product), and the dioxetane 19. Because there are many unidentified signals between δ 3.0 and δ 4.5 in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures, the precise determination of the yields of the identified products from the ¹H NMR spectra is impossible. The signal of the tetroxane 20 was not detected with ¹H NMR because the presence of the unidentified signals. It was not clear whether 20 was produced, but even if it were produced its yield was largely diminished compared with that when CD₂Cl₂ was used as the reaction solvent. A strong singlet at δ 3.10 was found in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. This signal was initially attributed to the possible deuterated methanol and ethylene carbonate oxide adduct.

However, the chemical shift of the OCH_2CH_2O group of this compound is impossible to be at such a high field. The identity of the species that gives this signal is still unknown.

Vinyl ethers have been shown to be more reactive toward ozone than alkenes which have no oxygen atom attached to the double bond carbon atoms.²¹ It was expected that 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane 15 would be more reactive than 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a because 15 has one more alkoxy substituent attached to the double bond carbon atoms. This prediction was proved to be right by the competitive ozonation of a 1:1 mixture of 15 and *E*-8a at -78 °C. It turned out that 15 was about six times as reactive as *E*-8a. Determination of the stoichiometry of the ozonation of 15 was carried out by delivering a limited amount of a calibrated ozone-oxygen mixture to a $0.05 M CD_2Cl_2$ solution of 15 at -20 °C. The amount of 15 consumed was obtained from the integrals of the signals of the remaining 15 and the sum of integrals of the signals of all the products. It turned out that 1.7-1.9 moles of 15 was consumed by each mole of ozone.

3. Ozonation of 1,2,2-trimethoxy-2-phenylethene

The ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures showed that the ozonation of 1,2,2-trimethoxy-2-phenylethene 16 in CD_2Cl_2 resulted in the same types of products as those in the ozonation of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane 15. The major products are methyl benzoate 9a and dimethyl carbonate 4. Other identified products are 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenyl oxirane 23, 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenyldioxetane 24 and (presumably) tetramethoxytetroxane 25. However, perhaps due to the formation of oligomer of the carbonyl oxide, there are many unidentified signals with small to medium intensities between δ 3.0 and δ 4.0. Because of the presence of these unidentified signals, the determination of product yields is impossible from the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. The relative intensities of the ¹H NMR signals of the methoxy groups of the identified products are given in eq 27.

$16 \xrightarrow{O_3} I$	PhCO ₂ Me	+ CO(OMe) ₂ +	MeO OMe Ph OMe +		MeO O-O OMe MeO O-O OMe	(27)
	9a	4	23	24	25(?)	
- 20°C	1	1.11	0.33	0.28	0.17	
- 78ºC	1	0.67	0.21	0.03	0.43	

The dioxetane 24 and the oxirane 23 were identified by comparison of the ¹H NMR spectrum of the ozonation reaction mixture with those of authentic samples prepared by singlet oxygen oxidation of 15 and epoxidation of 15 with the dioxirane 13a. The three methoxy groups of 24 give three singlets at δ 3.18, 3.33, and 3.52. The three methoxy groups of 23 give three singlets at δ 3.20, 3.35, and 3.66. However, this oxirane is very unstable. In the most cases, it rearranged to 2,2,2-trimethoxy-1-phenylethanone 26, a trimethyl orthoester, before the ¹H NMR spectra were recorded, eq 28. The



three methoxy groups of 26 give only one singlet at δ 3.26, indicating that they are all equivalent. A well separated doublet at δ 8.20, indicating the presence of a benzoyl moiety, was conveniently used to recognize this rearrangement product from the reaction mixture because the signal of its methoxy groups overlaps other signals. A small amount of this rearrangement product was isolated from the reaction mixture with preparative TLC. It is readily hydrolyzed by moisture to methyl benzoylformate which gives a singlet at δ 3.98. This further confirms that the precursor of the ester is an orthoester.

It is commonly observed that in the ozonation of alkenes the yields of tetroxanes increase as the reaction temperature is lowered,⁶⁷ e.g., the yields of *cis*- and *trans*-3,6-dimethoxy-3,6-diphenyltetroxane **12a** and the yield of the dimer of ethylene carbonate oxide **20** are all higher at -78 °C than at -20 °C as discussed previously. In the ozonation of **16**, it was found that the intensity of a singlet at δ 3.57 significantly increased as the ozonation

temperature was lowered. Therefore this signal was tentatively assigned to the expected 3,3,6,6-tetramethoxy-1,2,4,5-tetroxane 25. Although the isolation of this oxygen-rich compound has not been achieved, the chemical ionization mass spectrum of the concentrated reaction mixture contains a signal at m/e 236, suggesting the presence of the (25 + NH₄⁺) ion.

When the reactions were carried out in CD₃OD at -20 °C, three additional signals appeared between δ 3.20 and δ 3.40 in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. One of these signals (δ 3.34, -20 °C) is due to CH₃OD. The other two signals (δ 3.32 and 3.28, -20 °C) disappeared simultaneously in a few minutes upon warming the reaction mixture to room temperature. Those due to CH₃OD and **26**, the rearrangement product of the oxirane, increased in intensity while the signals due to methyl benzoate **9a** and dimethyl carbonate **4** did not change in intensity. These observations indicate that a precursor of **26** is trapped by CD₃OD in a reaction that is competitive with the rearrangement of the precursor to **26** at -20 °C, as shown in Scheme 16. An analogous mechanism was proposed to account for the rather similar observations made in the ozonation of tetramethoxyethene in CD₃OD below -50 °C.²²



Scheme 16. Trapping the rearrangement intermediate of 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2phenyloxirane in CD₃OD

Another new signal appeared at δ 3.03 as a singlet in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures when the reactions were carried out in CD₃OD \neq ¹ ~20 °C. After the reaction mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature for two hours, this signal disappeared. It was also observed that the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures in which CD₃OD was used as the solvent were simpler than those in which CD₂Cl₂ was used as the solvent. These opgervations could be explained if the species that gives this new signal were the dimethylcarbonate oxide-CD₃OD adduct, eq 29. However, a

$$\begin{array}{c} CH_{3}O \\ CH_{3}O \\ CH_{3}O \end{array} \xrightarrow{O} + CD_{3}OD \xrightarrow{?} CH_{3}O \\ CD_{3}O \end{array} (29)$$

rather similar signal at δ 3.10 was observed in the ozonation of 15 in methanol. As discussed in the last section, it is not due to the ethylene carbonate oxide-CD₃OD adduct. If this parallelism is true, it may well indicate that the new signal at δ 3.03 is not due to the dimethylcarbonate oxide-CD₃OD adduct. Because the chemical shift alone provides little help in the identification of this signal, the identity of the species that gives this signal is still unknown.

When the reaction was carried out in CD₃OD at -78 °C, the signal at δ 3.57, which was tentatively assigned to the tetroxane 25, still appeared in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. Its intensity was as strong as those of methyl benzoate 9a or dimethyl carbonate 4, indicating a significant amount Of 25 was produced. This observation suggests that dimethylearbonate oxide cannot be trapped by methanol or at least the trapping reaction is inefficient.

Although the intensities of the signals of the dioxetane 24 were too small to be distinguished from other small signals on the base line of the ¹H NMR spectra, the observation of luminescence upon mixing the reaction mixtures with hot toluene containing the fluorescers indicates that a small amount of 24 was formed from the ozonation of 16 in CD₃OD.

Because the ¹H NMR signals of CD₃OD overlapped the signals of CH₃OD and the oxirane rearrangement product 26, it is difficult to measure the exact integrals of the signals of CH₃OD and 26. Therefore the product distribution in the ozonation of 15 in CD₃OD is unavailable. In eq 30, the products formed and the relative intensities of the signals due to the methoxy groups of the benzoate 9a, the carbonate 4, the tetroxane 25, and the unknown compound which gives the signal at 3.03 are given in order to give a rough idea of the results of the ozonation of 15 in CD₃OD.

The determination of the stoichiometry of the ozonation of 16 was

carried out by delivering a limited amount of a calibrated ozone-oxygen mixture to a 0.05 M CD₂Cl₂ solution of 16 at -20 °C using toluene as an internal standard. It turned out that 1.2 moles of 16 was consumed by each mole of ozone.

4. Discussion of the ozonation mechanism

Both 15 and 16 are 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethenes and the ozonation

of 15 and 16 results in the same types of products, therefore they are expected to have similar ozonation mechanisms. Because more information was obtained from the ozonation of 15, the following discussion is based on the results of the ozonation of 15. The conclusion of this discussion should also apply to the ozonation of 16.

(Methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a was not observed in the ozon # ion of 15 in methylene chloride # various temperatures. The tetroxanes # and trans-12a were not found either even when the reaction was carried # at -78 °C. It has been shown in Chapter II that significant amounts of # and trans-12a were formed in the ozonation of E- and Z-8a at this temperature. Instead, the formation of the tetroxane 20, the dimer of the ethylene component oxide, indicates that the cleavage of the primary ozonide of 15 proveeds in the direction to give methyl benzoate 9a and ethylene carbonate oxide 22. This cleavage direction is # contrast to what was expected.

It is uncertain whether ethylene carbonate oxide 22 can cyclice to the corresponding dioxirane, eq 31. If the dioxirane is a reaction intermediate, like in the ozonation of 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 8a, some

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 & ? \\ 0 & -0 & ? \\ 22 & 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix}$$
(31)

differences in the product formation and distribution would be expected between the inverse and normal ozonation of 15. Actually, no difference was found. Furthermore, unlike in the ozonation of a mixture of 8a and 2,3dimethyl-2-butene 5 where a significant amount of tetramethyloxirans ϕ was produced, no 6 was found in ozonation of a 1:5 mixture of 15 and 5. These observations seem to indicate that the cyclization of ethylene carbonate oxide to the corresponding dioxirane never occurred. However, considering that 15 has three oxygen atoms attached to the double bond carbons and is more electron-rich than 8a, it is possible that the reaction between 15 and the dioxirane is much faster than the reaction between 15 and ozone. If this is true, even under the inverse ozonation conditions, the dioxirane would compete effectively with ozone to react with 15. If the reaction between 15 and the dioxirane is much faster than the reaction between 2,3-dimethyl-2butene 5 and the dioxirane, even in the presence of an excess amount of 5, the dioxirane would selectively epoxidize 15 instead of 5. Thus, the possibility of the formation of the dialkoxydioxirane in the ozonation of 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2phenylethene still cannot be ruled out. To solve this problem, it is necessary to seek an alkene that can produce a dialkoxycarbonyl oxide but reacts slowly with dioxiranes.

The formation of the oxirane 18 and the dioxetane 19 suggests that, similar to the oxygenated oxirane of 8a, the oxygenated oxirane of 15 could be one of the reaction intermediates. On the other hand, the formation of the tetroxane 20 implies the presence of the carbonyl oxide 22 which must result from the cleavage of the primary ozonide of 15. Therefore, the proposed ozonation mechanism of 15 as shown in Scheme 17 is analogous to the one proposed for the ozonation of 8a, although the uncertainty of the cyclization of ethylene carbonate oxide 22 to the corresponding dioxirane remains. Dimerization of the ethylene carbonate oxide 22 may not be concerted but proceed via a dimeric zwitterion, which can also decompose to two molecules of ethylene carbonate 17 and one molecule of oxygen. This could be another route to singlet oxygen. Because the other direction of 17 and 14a has been ruled



Scheme 17. Possible ozonation mechanism of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3dioxolane

out, the carbonate 17 must mainly arise from the decomposition of the dimeric zwitterion.

No evidence was found for the formation of the ethylene carbonate oxide-CD₃OD adduct. Also, a large amount of ethylene carbonate 17 was still produced when the ozonation was carried out in CD₃OD. These observations indicate that ethylene carbonate oxide 22 cannot be trapped by

methanol. This is possible because the alkoxy substituted carbonyl oxides would be less electrophilic than alkyl substituted carbonyl oxides. It was shown in the previous chapter that (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a cannot be trapped by methanol.

Since the carbonyl oxide 22 cannot be trapped by methanol, the dimerization of the carbonyl oxide to the tetroxane 20 should easily occur. However, 20 was not found when the ozonation of 15 was carried out in CD_3OD . A plausible explanation for the absence of 20 in methanol is suggested. It is reasonable to assume that the intramolecular cyclization of the dimeric zwitterion of the carbonyl oxide 22 needs a suitable geometry. In aprotic solvents of low polarity, such as CD_2Cl_2 , the zwitterion would adopt a cyclic conformation in which the positive and negative ends of the zwitterion are close to each other like an intramolecular ion pair. Thus, the intramolecular cyclization can easily take place to give the tetroxane 20. In polar protic solvents, such as CD_3OD , both charged ends would be stabilized by the solvent molecules through extensive solvation and the zwitterion would adopt a linear conformation which would be unsuitable for the cyclization to take place.

Difficulty was encountered in accounting for the stoichiometry of the ozonation of 15 with the proposed ozonation mechanism in Scheme 17. Although the formation of the oxirane 18 and the dioxetane 19 implies each mole of ozone will consume more than one mole of 15, it was found that 1.7-1.9 moles of 15 were consumed per mole of ozone. Such a high stoichiometric ratio suggests that a radical chain reaction may be involved in the ozonation of 15. However, the possibility of a radical chain reaction was ruled out based on the following experiment. In contrast to the ozonation of a mixture of tetramethoxyethene 1 and 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5, where the

amount of 3-hydroperoxy-2,3-dimethyl-1-butene 7 produced was much more than expected,²² ozonation of a 1:5 mixture of 15 and 5 gave only a minute amount of the allylic hydroperoxide 7. If a radical chain reaction were involved, the yield of 7 should be much higher. It was found that no dioxetane 19 was produced in the presence of 5. Similar to the ozonation of a mixture of 8a and 5 discussed in Chapter II, this result suggested that 7 was produced from the reaction of singlet oxygen with 5 instead from the radical chain oxidation. The higher than expected stoichiometric ratio obtained could be due to a technical problem. As mentioned, the ¹H NMR spectrum of the ozonation mixture of 15 contained many small unidentified signals, therefore a large error can be expected in the integrals of these small signals. If the NMR spectrometer used had higher resolution, this problem probably could be averted.

Determination of the stoichiometry of the ozonation of 16 was carried out in a similar manner described previously except a known amount of toluene was used as an internal standard. The amount of 16 consumed by a limited amount of ozone was obtained from the integrals of the signals of the remaining 16 and toluene. As both the remaining 16 and toluene have strong signals, their integrals are fairly accurate. The stoichiometry of the ozonation of 16 was determined to be 1.2 moles of 16 per mole of ozone. This is consistent with the proposed mechanism.

Conclusion

Similar to 1,2-dialkoxy-1,2-diphenylethenes, 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2phenylethenes are ozonized by a mechanism that combines the ozonolysis and partial cleavage reactions. The primary ozonides of 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethenes cleaves exclusively in the direction to give benzoates and dialkoxycarbonate oxide. Therefore, (alkoxy)phenyldioxiranes cannot be prepared by the ozonation of 1,1,2-trialkoxy-2-phenylethenes.

No evidence was found in this study that dialkoxycarbonyl oxides can cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes, but the possibility of this cyclization still cannot be ruled out.

Dialkoxycarbonate oxides have poor reactivity toward the participating solvent methanol.

Experimental

The ozonation, singlet oxygen oxidation and other related experiments were carried out in a similar manner as that described previously. The authentic samples of the oxiranes 18 and 23 and the dioxetanes 19 and 24 were also prepared in the same ways as those described previously.

1. Synthesis of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane (15)

(\pm)- α -Methoxyphenylacetic acid ⁶⁸ Dimethyl sulfate (630 g, 5 mol) was added to an aqueous solution (1 L) of DL-mandelic acid (76 g, 0.5 mol) and sodium hydroxide (400 g, 10 mol) at room temperature. The mixture was stirred overnight and a white precipitate was collected which was then suspended in 500 mL of water. Concentrated sulfuric acid was added dropwise while the suspension was cooled with an ice water bath until the mixture became strongly acidic. The solid dissolved and formed an organic layer that was then extracted with ether (200 mL × 3). The combined ethereal layer was washed with saturated brine, dried, and the solvent was evaporated. Distillation of the residue under reduced pressure gave 33.2 g (40%) of the product: bp_{12} 150-155 °C, (Lit.⁶⁹ bp_{18} 165 °C); ¹H NMR: (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.45 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.86 (s, 1 H, CH), 7.50 (s, 5 H, Ar), 11.3 (s, 1 H, CO₂H).

Α mixture of **2-Bromoethyl** α-methoxyphenylacetate αmethoxyphenylacetic acid (16.6 g, 0.1 mol), 2-bromoethanol (18.8 g, 0.15 mol), and p-toluenesulfonic acid (0.2 g) was heated under reflux in 200 mL of benzene. The water formed was separated by azeotropic distillation until the distillate appeared as one phase. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was distilled under reduced pressure to give the bromo ester (25.1 g, 92%): bp_{0.9} 136-139 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.42 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.38-3.50 (m, 2 H, CH₂Br), 4.35-4.48 (m, 2 H, OCH₂), 4.82 (s, 1 H, CH), 7.30-7.40 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.40-7.48 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 28.12, 57.35, 64.21, 82.31, 127.16, 128.61, 128.80, 135.81, 170.20; FTIR: 698, 731, 1074, 1107, 1454, 1753, 2937 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₁H₁₃BrO₃: 273.1335. EIMS m/e: 273.1331 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₃BrO₃: C, 48.37; H, 4.80; Br, 29.26. Found: C, 48.39; H, 4.77; Br, 29.12.

2-[(Methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane (15): The bromo ester (1.35 g, 5.0 mmol) was injected slowly to a stirring suspension of sodium hydride (0.13 g, 0.55 mmol) in anhydrous DMSO (10 mL) under argon. The brown reaction mixture was stirred for two hours at room temperature and then was poured into ice-water (50 mL). The resulting mixture was extracted with petroleum ether (20 mL \times 3). The combined organic layer was dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate and the solvent was evaporated. Crystallization of the residue from methanol gave the ketene acetal (0.58 g, 61%): mp 58.0-59.5 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.57 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.31-4.50 (m, 4 H, OCH₂CH₂O), 7.05 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 1 H, Ar), 7.28 (t, J = 7.5 Hz, 2 H, Ar), 7.52(d, J = 8.0 Hz, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃,

TMS): δ 59.55, 65.43, 67.06, 114.98, 123.45, 124.18, 127.97, 134.47, 155.81; FTIR: 697, 763, 1046, 1140, 1445, 1491, 1594, 1673 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₁H₁₂O₃: 192.07864. EIMS *m/e*: 192.0788 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₁H₁₂O₃: C, 68.74; H, 6.30. Found: C, 68.56; H, 6.34.

2. Synthesis of 1,1,2-trimethoxy-2-phenylethene

Phenylglyoxal: The glyoxal was synthesized according to the standard procedure.⁷⁰ To a solution of selenium dioxide (59 g, 0.53 mol) in dioxane (300 mL) and water (10 mL) at 55 °C, acetophenone (60 g, 0.5 mol) was slowly introduced. The reaction mixture was stirred at 100°C for four hours. The hot solution was decanted from precipitated selenium and the dioxane and water were removed by distillation through a short column. The residue was distilled under reduced pressure to give the phenylglyoxal (52 g, 77.6%) as a yellow oil: bp₁₀₀160-165 °C (Lit.⁷⁰ bp₁₂₅142°C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 7.40-7.70 (m, 3 H, Ar), 8.14-8.40 (m, 2 H, Ar), 9.75 (s, 1 H, CHO).

2,2-Dimethoxy-1-phenylethanone: Phenylglyoxal (52 g, 0.39 mol), dry methanol (200 mL), and a few drops of concentrated sulfuric acid were heated under reflux overnight in 100 mL of benzene. A small amount of sodium methoxide was added to the cooled mixture to neutralize the acid. Methanol was evaporated and the residue was distilled under reduced pressure. The fraction with $bp_{16}133-134$ °C (Lit.⁷¹ $bp_{0.25}85-86$ °C) was collected. The product (20 g, 28%) was obtained as a light-yellow oil with 94% purity. The major impurities were 2,2-dimethoxy-2-phenylacetaldehyde and 1,1,2,2-tetramethoxyethylbenzene. These impurities were very difficult to remove even after redistillation. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.46 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 5.23 (s, 1 H, CH), 7.38-7.62 (m, 3 H, Ar), 8.05-8.18 (m, 2 H, Ar);

125
¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 54.42, 103.38, 128.17, 129.45, 133.43, 133.74, 193.25.

1,1,2,2-Tetramethoxyethylbenzene: A by-product of the synthesis of 2,2-dimethoxy-1-phenylethanone. This compound was also prepared in high yield (98%) by heating a mixture of phenylglyoxal and an excess amount of trimethyl orthoformate in methanol with a catalytic amount of sulfuric acid: $bp_{20}145-150$ °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.31 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 3.43 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 4.22 (s, 1 H, CH), 7.22-7.40 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.44-7.56 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 49.68, 57.35, 102.44, 107.05, 127.49, 128.03, 128.30, 137.54.

To a slurry of sodium **1,1,2-Trimethoxy-2-phenylethene (16):** hydride (1.2 g, 0.05 mol) in dry DMSO (10 mL), 2,2-dimethoxy-1phenylethanone (7.2 g, 0.04 mol) was added under nitrogen. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 40 minutes and methyl ptoluenesulfonate (8.0 g, 0.043 mol) in dry DMSO (4 mL) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for another two hours and then quenched with methanol (0.5 mL). Cold water (50 mL) was added and the product was extracted with ether (20 mL \times 3). The combined ethereal layer was washed with water (20 mL), brine and dried over anhydrous sodium carbonate. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was distilled under reduced pressure. The light-yellow distillate was redistilled to give the product as a colorless oil (4.3 g, 55%). Several recrystallizations from methanol at -78 °C were unsuccessful in removing a small amount of impurities (5%) from the product: bp14125-126 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.56 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.64 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 3.70 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.30-7.42 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.55-7.66 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CD₂Cl₂, TMS): δ 56.87,

58.08, 59.66, 126.53, 126.57, 127.71, 128.44, 134.78, 154.33. Exact mass calcd for $C_{11}H_{14}O_3$: 194.0943. EIMS *m/e*: 194.0940 (M⁺).

3. Products isolated from the ozonation reaction mixtures

2-Benzoyl-2-methoxy-1,3-dioxolane (21): The ozonation reaction mixture of 0.48 g (2.5 mmol) of **15** in 10 mL of CH₂Cl₂ at -20 °C was allowed to stand overnight at room temperature. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and the rearrangement product was isolated as an oil (0.06 g, 11.5%) from the residue by flash column chromatography on silica gel with 15% ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.42 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 4.08-4.14 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 4.22-4.28 (m, 2 H, CH₂), 7.35-7.58 (m, 3 H, Ar), 8.10-8.18 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 49.31, 65.98, 118.22, 128.19, 130.63, 133.09, 133.40, 190.04; Exact mass calcd for C₁₁H₁₂O₄: 208.0736. EIMS *m/e*: 177.0549 (M - OCH₃)⁺, 105.0344 (C₆H₅C=O⁺); CIMS *m/e*: 226 (M + NH₄⁺), 177 (M - OCH₃)⁺, 105 (C₆H₅C=O⁺).

1,4,6,7,9,12,13,14-Octaoxadispiro[4.2.4.2]tetradecane (20): A

solution of 15 (1.92 g, 0.01 mol) in CH₂Cl₂ (40 mL) was completely ozonized at -78 °C. The reaction mixture was allowed to stand at room temperature in an unstoppered flask to let the solvent slowly evaporate away. After two days, the tetroxane was crystallized from the ozonation reaction mixture. The sticky residue was triturated with 10 mL of cold methanol and the solid was collected by filtration. Recrystallization from methanol afforded 0.03 g (0.13 mmol, 1.3%) of the tetroxane as a white powder: mp 195.0-197.0 °C dec; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 4.24(s, CH₂); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 66.52, 143.11; Exact mass calcd for C₆H₈O₈: 208.0219. EIMS *m/e*: 226 (M + NH₄⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₆H₈O₈: C, 34.625; H, 3.87. Found: C, 34.35; H, 3.72.

IV. OZONATION OF *E*-1,2-DIACETOXY-1,2-DIPHENYLETHENE AND *E*-1-ACETOXY-2-METHOXY-1,2-DIPHENYLETHENE

The initial purpose of this part of the study was to investigate whether (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide **28** generated from ozonation of an alkene can isomerize to the corresponding dioxirane. Earlier reports on the ozonolysis of vinyl acetates⁷² indicated that the acetoxy substituted carbonyl oxides cannot be prepared in this way because the cleavage of the primary ozonide of a vinyl acetate occurs in the direction to give an anhydride and a dialkylcarbonyl oxide. No acetoxy substituted carbonyl oxides were formed, eq 32.

$$\begin{array}{c} O & O' \\ O & O \\ R & \swarrow & O \\ R & \swarrow & R \end{array} \xrightarrow{P} O & R \\ R & \swarrow & O \\ R & \swarrow & R \end{array} \xrightarrow{P} O & + \begin{array}{c} R \\ R & \boxtimes & H \\ O & O \end{array}$$
 (32)

If 1,2-diacetoxy substituted alkenes are ozonized by Criegee mechanism, acetoxy substituted carbonyl oxides will be generated. Therefore (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide **28** should be generated from the ozonolysis of 1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene **29**. This alkene was synthesized by diacetylation of the benzoin dianions as shown in eq 33 although the yield was only 10%. Only one of the two possible isomers was obtained from the diacetylation, but irradiation of a solution of this isomer with a medium pressure mercury lamp resulted in the formation of a mixture of the two isomers.

The first isomer isolated from the diacetylation reaction was tentatively assigned to be the E isomer, and the new isomer produced by the irradiation



of the first isomer was assigned to be the Z isomer. These assignments were based on the chemical shifts and the multiplicities of the ¹H NMR signals of the phenyl groups. As discussed in Chapter II, the ¹H NMR signals of the phenyl groups of the Z isomers of 1,2-dialkoxy-1,2-diphenylethenes Z-8a-c are much simpler and occur at higher fields than those of their counterparts. For example, the phenyl groups of Z-8a give a singlet at δ 7.17 while the phenyl groups of *E*-8a give two multiplets at δ 7.25-7.48 and δ 7.60-7.70. Applying this rule to *E*- and Z-1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene, we assigned the first isomer to be the *E* isomer because its phenyl groups give two multiplets at δ 7.30-7.42 and δ 7.50-7.58 and the new isomer to be the *Z* isomer because its phenyl groups give a singlet at δ 7.30. In agreement with these assignments, the first isomer has a larger Rf value on the TLC plate, indicating it is less polar.

Delivering a mixture of ozone and oxygen into a CD_2Cl_2 solution of 29 at various temperatures results in the formation of only two products, acetic benzoic anhydride 30 and acetyl benzoyl peroxide 31, in equal amounts. These two products were identified by comparison of the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures with those of authentic samples. The authentic sample of 30 was prepared by the reaction of sodium benzoate with acetyl chloride in ether.⁷³ The authentic sample of 31 was prepared by atmospheric oxidation of a mixture of benzaldehyde and acetic anhydride in the presence of a trace of dibenzoyl peroxide.⁷⁴ Acetic benzoic anhydride 30 gives a singlet at δ 2.37

130

and acetyl benzoyl peroxide **31** gives a singlet at δ 2.26. No signals that could be assigned to other products were found in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. The formation of these two products can be accounted for by the mechanisms as illustrated in Scheme 18.



Scheme 18. Proposed mechanisms for ozonation of E-1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene

The initial reaction of ozone and 29 gives the primary ozonide which then decomposes to the anhydride 30 and the carbonyl oxide 28. Three alternative reaction pathways can account for the formation of 31 from 28 as shown in Scheme 18. The intramolecular nucleophilic substitution to give the

peroxyanhydride 31 directly (pathway a) is most likely to occur because the negatively charged oxygen is a good nucleophile, the OC⁺ moiety is a good leaving group,⁷⁵ and a five-membered transition state is involved. The other two indirect pathways are analogous to those proposed to account for the anhydride formation in the ozonation of certain alkynes.⁷⁶ In pathway b, cyclization of the carbonyl oxide gives the corresponding dioxirane which then rearranges to the peroxyanhydride 32. Since dioxiranes are known to be stable at low temperature for several days,⁵⁹ the rearrangement of the dioxirane to give the peroxyanhydride 32 as shown in pathway b under the reaction conditions is not likely to occur. If this argument is correct, the implication is that (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide cannot isomerize to the corresponding dioxirane. In pathway c, intramolecular cycloaddition of the nascent carbonyl oxide with the adjacent ester group gives a bicyclic intermediate.⁷⁷ Such a bicyclic intermediate, however, can be expected to be a very strained molecule and will not be easily formed. Therefore, the peroxyanhydride 32 is not produced from pathway c either.

Ozonation of 29 in CD₃OD at various temperatures also gives equal amounts of the anhydride 30 and the peroxide 31 as observed from the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. The chemical shifts of the acetyl groups of 30 and 31 in CD₃OD are at δ 2.36 and 2.24, respectively. The presence of these two products is further confirmed by two doublets at around δ 8.0, which are due to the ortho protons of the benzoyl groups of 30 and 31. The (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide-CD₃OD adduct should not give these signals. The possibility that 31 was produced from the decomposition of the (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide-CD₃OD adduct can be ruled out since only 30 and 31 were found even when 29 was ozonized at -78 °C in CD₃OD and the reaction mixture was rapidly analyzed by ¹H NMR at -70 °C. Therefore, like (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a, (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 28 is another carbonyl oxide that cannot be captured by methanol, eq 34.



An unexpected discovery in the ozonation of 1,2-diacetoxy-1,2diphenylethene 29 is that 29 reacts very slowly with ozone. It was found that during the process of ozonation ozone kept escaping from the reaction mixture even though most of 29 was still unconsumed. This phenomenon is in contrast to the ozonation of electron-rich alkenes, such as 8a, or even simple alkenes but is also observed in the ozonation of electron-deficient alkenes, such as fumarates. It was reported that the relative reactivity of diethyl fumarate to styrene toward ozone at 0 °C was 0.26.78 Competitive ozonation of equivalent amounts of 29 and diethyl fumarate showed that 29 is only 0.34 times as reactive as diethyl fumarate toward ozone in CDCl₃ at room temperature (11% of 29 and 29% of diethyl fumarate were consumed by a limited amount of ozone). Like electron-deficient alkenes, 29 is also difficult to be epoxidized by dioxiranes. No reaction was observed between 29 and (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a at -20 °C. However, at the same temperature a smooth reaction was observed between methyl E-cinnamate and 13a as shown in Chapter II. A slow reaction between 29 and 13a occurred when the reaction mixture was warmed to room temperature. It took about 0.5 hours to finish the reaction and a singlet at δ 1.89 was found in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture. This signal was tentatively assigned to the methyl groups of the corresponding oxirane of 29. Since electron-withdrawing

substituents reduce the reactivity of an alkene toward electrophilic reagents, these experiments indicate that the two acetoxy groups are strong electronwithdrawing substituents instead of electron-donating substituents and 29 is an electron-deficient alkene. This conclusion is in contrast to that of a reference⁷⁹ in which vinyl acetate was classified as an electron-rich alkene. In this reference, electron-rich alkenes and electron-deficient alkenes were classified according to their experimental ionization potentials. The ionization potential of ethene is 10.51 eV. The alkenes which have lower ionization potentials than ethene were classified as electron-rich alkenes, e.g., 2-butene (9.13 eV) and methyl vinyl ether (9.08 eV). The alkenes which have higher ionization potentials than ethene were classified as electron-deficient alkenes, e.g., methyl acrylate (10.72 eV). The ionization potential of vinyl acetate was given by these authors to be 10.76 eV, which is higher than that of ethene and even higher than that of the electron-deficient methyl acrylate. However, vinyl acetate was still classified as an electron-rich alkene by the authors without any explanation.

In the ozonation of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E-8a, it was found that the epoxidation of E-8a by the reaction intermediate (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a is very difficult to avoid because the electronrich E-8a has high reactivity toward the electrophilic dioxirane 13a. In the ozonation of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-bis(*p*-nitrophenyl)ethene E-8e, it was found that the reactivity of this alkene is greatly reduced due to introducing the electron-withdrawing nitro groups at the para position of the benzene rings. Because the acetoxy group is an electron-withdrawing substituent, the alkene 1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 32 would be expected to be less reactive toward dioxiranes than E-8a. If the ozonation of 32 can produce the dioxirane 13a, 32 should react slower with 13a than E-8a. Hence, this may be a good method for generating the dioxirane 13a with less interference from the byproducts. But it was unknown whether the primary ozonide of 32 will cleave in the desired direction to give the anhydride 30 and (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a or in the alternative direction to give methyl benzoate and (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide. This was also worth studying.

The alkene **32** was synthesized by O-acetylation of the benzoin methyl ether anion in 15% yield, eq 35.



Again, only one isomer was isolated from the reaction mixture. The ¹H NMR signals of the methoxy and acetyl groups of this isomer are at δ 3.48 and 1.98, respectively. It was expected that irradiation of a CD₂Cl₂ solution of this isomer should give a mixture of two isomers. Indeed, the ¹H NMR spectrum of the irradiated reaction mixture contained two sets of signals. One was due to the original isomer, the other was assumed to be due to the new isomer. The ¹H NMR signals of the methoxy and acetyl groups of the new isomer are at δ 3.42 and 2.26, respectively. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the new isomer has a sharp singlet at δ 7.30 for one of the two phenyl groups. Based on the same reasons for the assignments of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene, the original isomer was tentatively assigned to be the *E* isomer and the new isomer to be the *Z* isomer. According to these assignments, the signal of the methoxy group of the *Z* isomer is at a higher

field (δ 3.42) than that of the *E* isomer (δ 3.48) because the methoxy group of *Z*-1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene is located in the shielding zone of the nearby carbonyl group. This is in contrast to those of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene **8a** where the signal of the methoxy groups of *Z*-**8a** is at a lower field (δ 3.59) than that of *E*-**8a** (δ 3.38).

Competitive ozonation and dioxirane epoxidation of 1:1 mixtures of 32 and E-8a at -78 °C in CD₂Cl₂ showed that 32 is only 0.09 times as reactive as E-8a toward ozone (12.7% of 32 and 77.3% of E-8a were consumed by a limited amount of ozone) and 0.23 times as reactive as E-8a toward the dioxirane 13a (10.1% of 32 and 36.8% of E-8a were consumed by a limited amount of the dioxirane). Competitive singlet oxygen oxidation of E-8a and 32 at 0 °C showed that 32 is only 0.08 times as reactive as E-8a toward singlet oxygen (7.0% of 32 and 61.9% of E-8a were consumed). As expected, 32 is indeed much less reactive than E-8a toward electrophilic agents.

The ozonation of 32 in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C yields four products: methyl benzoate 9a, the dioxirane 13a, the anhydride 30, and 1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenyloxirane 33 as shown in eq 36. When the reaction temperatures

$$\begin{array}{c}
CH_{3}O\\Ph\\Ph\\\hline\\0\\32\\\end{array} \xrightarrow{O}{} 20^{\circ}C} \begin{array}{c}
Ph\\O_{2}CH_{3}\\\hline\\0\\-20^{\circ}C\\\end{array} \xrightarrow{Ph}{} CO_{2}CH_{3}\\\hline\\Ph\\$$

are below -20 °C, *cis*- and *trans*-3,6-dimethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5tetroxane **12a** begin to appear. Acetyl benzoyl peroxide **31** and the corresponding dioxetane of **32** were never detected from the reaction mixtures by ¹H NMR. The product distributions in the ozonation of **32** under various conditions are summarized in Table 17.

Conc.	Method	Temp.	Products, moles per mole of 32				
M		<u>°C</u>	9a	13a	30	33 ª	12a ^b
0.005	normal	-20	0.22	0.56	0.78	0.22	0.00
0.05			0.45	0.11	0.56	0.44	0.00
0.10			0.47	0.06	0.52	0.47	0.00
0.20			0.50	0.00	0.50	0.50	0.00
0.05		50	0.41	0.13	0.58	0.41	0.02
0.02 ^c		-78	0.28	0.12	0.72	0.28	0.16
0.005	inverse	-20	0.10	0.81	0.91	0.09	0.00
0.05			0.21	0.59	0.80	0.20	0.00

Table 17. Product distribution from the ozonation of E-1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2diphenylethene in CD₂Cl₂

^{a.} The sum of the yields of the oxirane **33** and its rearrangement product, 2-acetoxy-2methoxy-1,2-diphenylethanone **34**.

b. About equal amounts of *cis* and *trans*.

^{c.} The concentration is restricted by the solubility of the alkene at this temperature.

The oxirane 33 was identified by comparison of the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture with that of an authentic sample prepared by the epoxidation of 32 with the dioxirane 13a. The signals at δ 3.31 and 1.83 were assigned to the methoxy and acetyl groups of 33, respectively. In many cases, the formation of the oxirane 33 was represented by the presence of the oxirane 33 itself and its rearrangement product, 2-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2diphenylethanone 34, eq 37. The rearrangement product 34 was isolated from



the reaction mixture by flash chromatography on silica gel and its structure was determined by NMR, IR, and mass spectroscopies. It gives two singlets at δ 3.22 and 2.16 for the methoxy and acetyl groups and a doublet-like signal at δ 7.92-7.95 for the ortho protons of the benzoyl group in the ¹H NMR spectrum. The signals at δ 103.75 and 192.83 in the ¹³C NMR spectrum indicate the presence of a carbon atom attached to two oxygen atoms and a ketone carbonyl carbon atom, respectively. Electron impact ionization mass spectroscopy gave the exact masses of the (M – OCOCH₃)⁺ and C₆H₅CO⁺ ions, while the chemical ionization with NH₄⁺ afforded the (M + NH₄⁺) ion at *m/e* 302.

As seen from Table 17, normal ozonation of a 0.2 M solution of 32 at -20 °C in CD₂Cl₂ produces only three products: methyl benzoate 9a, the anhydride 30, and the oxirane 33. The yields of these three products are exactly the same, i.e., 0.5 moles each from each mole of 32. The yield of the dioxirane 13a increases as the initial concentration of 32 is lowered. In the inverse ozonation of 32 at -20 °C, the yield of 13a can be as high as 0.81 moles per mole of 32 consumed (i.e., 81% yield). Methyl benzoate 9a (10%) and the oxirane 33 (9%) are minor products here. The yield of 13a is higher and the amounts of the byproducts are smaller than those in the inverse ozonation of E-8a. At this point, the inverse ozonation of 32 is a better way to produce the dioxirane 13a. Although the yield of 32 obtained (15%) by acetylation of the benzoin methyl ether anion is not satisfactory, it is possible to obtain a higher yield by changing reaction conditions because no attempt was made to optimize the yield at this stage.

It is worth noting that methyl benzoate 9a and the oxirane 33 are always produced in equal amounts. This observation implies that methyl benzoate 9a and the oxirane 33 are exclusively produced from the epoxidation of the starting alkene 32 by the dioxirane 13a. Unlike the previous cases studied, no direct ozone epoxidation is involved.

The formation of the tetroxanes 12a at lower reaction temperatures zwitterionic of the could be via the ntermediate dimer of (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide. In Chapter II, it was suggested that the zwitterionic intermediate might decompose to two molecules of methyl benzoate and one molecule of singlet oxygen. This hypothesis could not be examined in the study of the ozonation of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2diphenylethene (E- and Z-8a), but the results of the ozonation of 32 provide strong evidence against it. If this decomposition did occur, it would provide another source for the formation of methyl benzoate and therefore the yields the benzoate would be higher than those of the oxirane when 32 is ozonized at low temperatures. However, the results of the ozonation of 32 showed that even when the tetroxanes 12a are produced the yields of methyl benzoate are still the same as those of the oxirane. Thus, the decomposition of the zwitterionic intermediate does not occur.

In those ozonation reactions carried out at -20 °C, the yields of the anhydride 30 are equal to the sum of the yields of methyl benzoate 9a and the dioxirane 13a; while in those reactions carried out below -20 °C, the yields of the anhydride 30 are equal to the yields of the benzoate 9a plus the yields of the dioxirane 13a plus two times of the yields of the tetroxanes 12a. This indicates that the cleavage of the primary ozonide of 32 must exclusively in such direction the anhydride 30 and a to give occur (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a, which is the common precursor of the dioxirane 13a and the tetroxanes 12a. This is the direction that was hoped for at the beginning. If the primary ozonide cleaved in the alternative direction, (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 28 produced would lead to the formation of the peroxide 31 and the amount of methyl benzoate 9a would not be equal to that of the oxirane 33. This was not observed.

The product formation and the relative amounts of the products can be well accounted for by the mechanism as illustrated in Scheme 19. Cleavage of 30 and of 32 gives the anhydride ozonide the primary (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a. The carbonyl oxide 14a then cyclizes to the dioxirane 13a or reacts with another molecule of 14a to form the tetroxanes cis- and trans-12a when the temperature is lower than -20 °C. In the normal ozonation, the reaction of the dioxirane 13a with the unreacted starting alkene 32 gives the oxirane 33 and the benzoate 9a. In the inverse ozonation, most of the dioxirane 13a remains unreacted.

Based on the knowledge accumulated from the above study, we designed an alkene, *E*-1-acetoxy-2-isopropoxy-1,2-diphenylethene,



which combines both the electron-withdrawing and sterically bulky substituents. This alkene can be prepared by acetylation of the benzoin isopropyl ether anion. It was expected that just by simple normal ozonation of this alkene a high yield of (isopropoxy)phenyldioxirane 13c can be obtained. A preliminary experiment gave a very promising result but no detailed study has been carried out on this alkene yet.

The conclusions of this part of the study are as follows.

1. No evidence was found that (acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide can cyclize to the corresponding dioxirane.

2. (Acetoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide is another carbonyl oxide that cannot be captured by methanol.



Scheme 19. Ozonation mechanism of E-1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene

3. Because the acetoxy groups serve as electron-withdrawing substituents, 1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 29 is an electron-deficient alkene.

4. Substitution of one of the methoxy groups of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2diphenylethene E-8a with an electron-withdrawing acetoxy group gives E-1acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 32 which has greatly reduced reactivity toward ozone and dioxiranes. 5. The primary ozonide of 1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene exclusively cleaves in the direction to give acetic benzoic anhydride 30 and (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide 14a. The latter can cyclize to the dioxirane 13a or dimerize to the tetroxanes 12a.

6. The zwitterionic intermediate of the dimer of (methoxy)phenylcarbonyl oxide cannot decompose to methyl benzoate and singlet oxygen.

7. The inverse ozonation of 1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene **32** is a better way to produce (methoxy)phenyldioxirane **13a** than the inverse ozonation of 1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene **8a**.

Experimental

The ozonation, singlet oxygen oxidation, and other related reactions were carried out in the same manner described previously.

E-1,2-Diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (29) (4.24 Benzoin g, 20 mmol) dissolved in 50 mL of THF was added to a suspension of sodium hydride (1.1 g, 44 mmol) in 5 mL of DMSO at room temperature under nitrogen. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature for 30 minutes, then an excess amount of acetyl chloride (5 mL, 88 mmol) was injected. The dark-blue color of the benzoin dianion disappeared immediately and a white NaCl precipitate formed. After ten minutes, THF and the excess acetyl chloride were evaporated under reduced pressure. The residue was poured into water (100 mL) and extracted with ether (40 mL \times 3). The combined ethereal layer was washed with water, brine and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The ether was evaporated and the residue was crystallized from methanol. The crude product was purified by

recrystallization from methanol to give the product as a white granular solid (0.6 g, 10%): mp 143-144 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 2.06 (s, 6 H, COCH₃), 7.30-7.42 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.50-7.58 (m, 4 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 20.90, 127.45, 128.36, 128.58,133.48, 139.67, 168.73; FTIR: 1112, 1200, 1211, 1752 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₈H₁₆O₄: 296.1049. EIMS *m/e*: 296.1047 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₈H₁₆O₄: C, 72.95; H, 5.45. Found: C, 72.94; H, 5.43.

Z-1,2-Diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene This compound was not isolated. Irradiation of a CD_2Cl_2 solution of the *E* isomer (10 mg) in a NMR tube with a medium pressure mercury lamp at room temperature for one hour gave a mixture of the *E* and *Z* isomers. Since the ¹H NMR signals of the *E* and *Z* isomers do not overlap, the ¹H NMR signals of the *Z* isomer were drawn from the spectrum of the reaction mixture.

¹H NMR (CD₂Cl₂): δ 2.10 (s, 6 H, COCH₃), 7.30(s, 10 H, Ar).

Acetic benzoic anhydride $(30)^{73}$ The authentic sample of the mixed anhydride was prepared by the slow addition of an excess amount of acetyl chloride (10 mL, 0.18 mol) to sodium benzoate (1.44 g, 0.01 mol) in 100 mL of ether at room temperature. Sodium chloride was filtered off. Evaporation of the solvent and the excess acetyl chloride under reduced pressure gave the product as a colorless liquid (1.49 g, 91%). ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 2.37 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 7.40-7.65 (m, 3 H, Ar), 8.00-8.10 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 22.34, 128.34, 128.79, 130.41, 134.41, 162.91, 166.46; Exact mass calcd for C₉H₈O₃: 164.0473. EIMS *m/e*: 164.0474 (M⁺).

Acetyl benzoyl peroxide (31)⁷⁴ A mixture of benzaldehyde (5.3 g, 0.05 mol), acetic anhydride (10.2 g. 0.1 mol) and a trace of benzoyl peroxide was stirred vigorously for two days at room temperature while exposed to air. The reaction mixture was poured into 100 mL of cold water. A yellow oil

separated and soon crystallized. The solid was isolated by filtration and purified by recrystallization from benzene-pentane to give the peroxide (0.9 g, 10%): mp 35-36 °C (Lit.⁸⁰ mp 37-38 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 2.26 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.40-7.65 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.94-8.00 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 16.59, 128.73, 129.65, 134.23, 162.23, 166.16.

methyl *E*-1-Acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene (32) Benzoin ether (4.52 g, 20 mmol) dissolved in 50 mL of THF was added to a suspension of sodium hydride (0.53 g, 22 mmol) in 10 mL of THF at room temperature under nitrogen. After 30 minutes, acetic anhydride (2.24 g, 22 mmol) was added. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. The solvent was evaporated under reduced pressure and 100 mL of water was added to the residue. The mixture was extracted with ether (60 mL \times 3). The combined ethereal layer was washed with water, brine and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. The ether was evaporated and the residue was crystallized from methanol to afford the crude product. Recrystallization from methanol gave the product as a white granular solid (0.80 g, 15%): mp 99.5-100.0 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.98 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 3.48 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.30-7.50 (m, 8 H, Ar), 7.62-7.70 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): 8 20.78, 57.98, 126.57, 127.70, 128.19, 128.33, 128.60, 128.76, 132.98, 133.92, 134.62, 148.72, 169.68; FTIR: 1126, 1210, 1756 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₃: 268.10.79. EIMS *m/e*: 268.1100 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₃: C, 76.09; H, 6.01. Found: C, 76.09; H, 6.00.

Z-1-Acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenyletheneThiscompoundwas not isolated from the reaction mixture of irradiation of a CD_2Cl_2 solutionof the *E*-isomer. The ¹H NMR signals of this compound were obtained in thesameway as those of Z-1,2-diacetoxy-1,2-diphenylethene.¹H NMR

(CD₂Cl₂): δ 2.26 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 3.42 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.04-7.20 (m, 5 H, Ar), 7.30 (s, 5 H, Ar).

2-Acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethanone (34) A stream of ozone was introduced to a solution of *E*-1-acetoxy-2-methoxy-1,2-diphenylethene 32 (0.27 g, 1 mmol) in 5 mL of CH₂Cl₂ at room temperature until the alkene was completely consumed. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was separated by flash chromatography (silica gel, 10% ethyl acetate in hexane) to give the product (0.12 g, 42%) as a colorless oil. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 2.18 (s, 3 H, COCH₃), 3.22 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.30-7.55 (m, 6 H, Ar), 7.55-7.70 (m, 2 H, Ar), 7.89-8.00 (m, 2 H, Ar); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 21.14, 51.31, 104.19, 127.27, 128.43, 129.13, 129.80, 129.93, 132.80, 135.26, 135.32, 168.89, 193.13; FTIR: 1228, 1700, 1758 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₇H₁₆O₄: 284.1049. EIMS *m/e*: 241.0866 (M – OCOCH₃)⁺, 105.0344 (C₆H₅CO⁺); CIMS *m/e*: 302 (M + NH₄⁺).

V. INVESTIGATION OF OTHER CARBONYL OXIDES

A. Ozonation of 1,2-dialkyl-1,2-dialkoxy alkenes and 1,2dialkyl-1,2-diaryl alkenes

The previous studies showed that the (alkoxy)arylcarbonyl oxides generated from the ozonation of suitable alkenes have two special properties. First, they cannot be trapped by methanol. Second, they can cyclize to the corresponding (alkoxy)aryldioxiranes. Obviously, these special properties must result from either the existence of the two substituents, i.e., aromatic aryl group and alkoxy group, or only one of them. It is then very natural to ask whether (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides or (alkyl)arylcarbonyl oxides generated under the same conditions can cyclize to their corresponding dioxiranes. Each of the carbonyl oxides has one substituent which is the same as one of the substituents of (alkoxy)arylcarbonyl oxides. To find the answer to this question, the following investigations were carried out.

Results and Discussion

1. Ozonation of two 1,2-dialkyl-1,2-dialkoxy alkenes

The ozonation of 1,2-dialkyl-1,2-dialkoxy alkenes was expected to generate (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides. Therefore, the ozonation of 2,3-dimethoxy-2-butene **35** and 2,3-dimethyl-1,4-dioxene **36** were examined.

It was reported that vinyl ether derivatives could be prepared by alkylation of vinyl ether anions.⁸¹ By this method, a mixture of E- and Z-35 was synthesized by successive methylation of a mixture of E- and Z-1,2-dimethoxyethene as illustrated in Scheme 20. After purification with



Scheme 20. Synthesis of E- and Z-2,3-dimethoxy-2-butene

preparative GLC, the combined yield of the two isomers was 37.9%. Separation of the two isomers was not achieved. The ¹H NMR spectrum of **35** obtained showed that the major product gives two singlets with identical intensities at δ 1.77 and 3.42 in CD₂Cl₂ and the minor one gives those at δ 1.71 and 3.50. It has been reported⁸² that the ¹H NMR spectrum of a mixture of *Z*- and *E*-**35** contains two sets of signals: one at δ 1.74 and 3.51 and the other at δ 1.82 and 3.42 in acetone-D₆. According to the ¹H NMR spectrum, the final products obtained still contained some unidentified impurities. The total integrals of the signals of these impurities accounted for 13.3% of the total integrals of all signals.

Following the procedure described in the literature,⁸³ 2,3-dimethyl-1,4dioxene **36** was synthesized in 48 % yield by isomerization and cyclization of 2-(3-butyn-2-yloxy)ethanol in the presence of base at high temperature as shown in Scheme 21. The crude product was purified by preparative GLC. The purified **36** gives two singlets at δ 1.68 and 3.95 in the ¹H NMR spectrum.

The ozonation reactions were carried out in the same way as those described previously. Because the impurities also reacted with ozone,

$$HC = CCHOH \xrightarrow{\text{CH}_3} HC = CCHOCH_2CH OH \xrightarrow{\text{KOH}} O \xrightarrow{\text{CH}_3} O \xrightarrow{$$

Scheme 21. Synthesis of 2,3-dimethyl-1,4-dioxene

complete ozonation of **35** afforded a complex reaction mixture. Fortunately, it was observed that if **35** was partially ozonized to about 50% conversion the intensities of the signals of the impurities almost did not decrease, indicating that the impurities were less reactive than **35** toward ozone. The major products identified from the reaction mixtures of the partial ozonation of **35** in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C were methyl acetate and *cis*- and *trans*-1,2-dimethyl-1,2-dimethoxyoxirane, eq 38. The integrals of the signals of the methyl groups of

$$\begin{array}{ccccccc} CH_{3} & & & O_{3} \\ CH_{3} & & CH_{3} & & O_{3} \\ CH_{3} & & CH_{2} CL_{2} \end{array} & CH_{3} CO_{2} CH_{3} & + & CH_{3} & O_{1} \\ & & & CH_{3} & O_{1} \\ CH_{3} & & CH_{3} & CH_{3} \end{array}$$
(38)

methyl acetate account for approximately 38% of the total integrals of the signals of the total products and those of the oxiranes are approximately 27%. The other products that were represented by many weak to medium ¹H NMR signals were unidentified. Methyl acetate was the expected cleavage product and was readily identified from the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures. The oxiranes were identified by comparison of ¹H signals in the NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures with those of an authentic sample prepared by epoxidation of **35** with (methoxy)phenyldioxiranc **13a**. One of the oxiranes gives two singlets at δ 3.32 and 1.51 and the other gives those at δ 3.38 and 1.46.

Ozonation of 36 in CD_2Cl_2 at -20 °C yields mainly the oxirane of 36 which gives one singlet at δ 1.46 for the methyl group and a multiplet at

 δ 3.60-3.90 for the OCH₂CH₂O group, eq 39. The integrals of the signals of

the oxirane account for approximately 60% of the total integrals of the signals of all products. This oxirane was identified in the same way as above. Other products were unidentified. Two singlets with medium intensities at around δ 2.1 in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures could be due to acetyl groups. This would mean that some cleavage products are produced.

Further study of the ozonation of these two 1,2-dialkoxy-1,2dialkylethenes revealed the following common features.

First, although many signals in the ¹H NMR spectra of the ozonation mixtures were not assigned, the product distributions were identical under both the normal and inverse ozonation conditions and were independent of the concentrations of the starting materials (from 0.01 to 0.1 M) or the reaction temperatures (from 0 to -78 °C).

Second, cyclohexene oxide was never produced when a mixture of cyclohexene and **35** or **36** was ozonized or by adding cyclohexene to the reaction mixtures prepared by the inverse ozonation of **35** or **36**. A small ¹H NMR signa! at the position of tetramethyloxirane was observed in the reaction mixtures of partial ozonation of a mixture of **35** or **36** and 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene **5**. However, the intensity of this signal, unlike those of other signals, did not increase when the amount of ozone delivered was increased, indicating that tetramethyloxirane is not produced in the ozonation either.

Third, the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures showed that ozonation of a mixture of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5 and 35 or 36 resulted in the formation of 2,3-dimethyl-3-hydroperoxy-1-butene 7. The amount of 7 was approximately only one fifth of that of the oxirane of 35 or one third of that of the oxirane of 36. As discussed in Chapter II, this observation suggests that the radical chain oxidation is unlikely to occur and singlet oxygen is produced in the ozonation of the two alkenes. If this is true, in the absence of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5, the singlet oxygen generated from the ozonation of 35 or 36 should react with 35 or 36 to yield either dioxetanes or allylic hydroperoxides:

$$\begin{array}{c} H_{3}C \xrightarrow{O-O} OCH_{3} \\ H_{3}CO \xrightarrow{CH_{3}} CH_{3} \end{array} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} O \xrightarrow{CH_{3}} \\ O \xrightarrow{O} O \\ CH_{3} \end{array} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} O \xrightarrow{CH_{3}} \\ O \xrightarrow{O} O \\ CH_{3} \end{array} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} O \xrightarrow{CH_{3}} \\ O \xrightarrow{O} O \\ H_{3}CO \xrightarrow{CH_{2}} \\ O \xrightarrow{CH_{2}} \end{pmatrix} \qquad \begin{pmatrix} O \xrightarrow{CH_{3}} \\ O \xrightarrow{O} O \\ O \xrightarrow{CH_{2}} \\ O \xrightarrow{CH_{2}} \end{pmatrix}$$

However, no luminescence was observed upon addition of the reaction mixtures to hot toluene containing 9,10-dibromo- and 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene, indicating no dioxetanes are produced; and there are no signals at the vinyl proton absorption region in the ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures, indicating the allylic hydroperoxides are not produced either. The fate of singlet oxygen is unknown.

Last, when the ozonation reactions were carried out in CD₃OD, very complex spectra were obtained from either alkene. Unfortunately, only methyl acetate could be identified from the reaction mixtures of **35** and none of the products was identified from **36**. It is not clear whether the possible reaction of the carbonyl oxides with CD₃OD occurred. The oxiranes were not detected even when the reactions were carried out at -78 °C and the resulting reaction mixtures were immediately analyzed by ¹H NMR at the same temperature. Addition of CD₃OD to the ozonation reaction mixtures of **35** or 36 in CD_2Cl_2 at -78 °C resulted in the rapid disappearance of the signals of the oxiranes at the same temperature, indicating the oxiranes were decomposed in the presence of $CD_3OD.^{84}$ It was noted that the NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures after addition of CD_3OD were very similar to those from the ozonation of 35 or 36 in CD_3OD .

The first two features are in contrast to those of the ozonation of 1,2dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E- and Z-8a. If the carbonyl oxides are generated along with other cleavage products, the contrast may suggest that the (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides generated under the ozonation conditions do not cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes. However, no evidence was found that (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides are ever generated from the ozonation of either alkene. In the ozonation of 35, the formation of the cleavage product methyl acetate could mean that the carbonyl oxide is also generated. In the ozonation of 36, we even don't really know whether the cleavage products are Therefore, still doubtful produced. at present it is whether (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides cannot cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes.

Since only a few products were identified in the ozonation of **35** or **36**, no enough information needed to discuss the ozonation mechanisms has been collected. Nevertheless, the formation of the oxiranes of **35** and **36** and the evidence for the involvement of singlet oxygen imply that the oxiranes could be produced from the direct interaction of the electron-rich alkenes with ozone via the oxygenated oxiranes or similar intermediates, eq 40.

$$\begin{array}{c} R \\ RO \end{array} \xrightarrow{R} O_3 \\ OR \end{array} \xrightarrow{O^+} \left[\begin{array}{c} O^-O^- \\ R \\ RO \end{array} \right] \xrightarrow{-1O_2} R \\ RO \end{array} \xrightarrow{O^-} OR \\ RO \end{array} \right] \xrightarrow{-1O_2} R O \\ RO \end{array} OR$$
(40)

2. Ozonation of *E*- and *Z*-2,3-diphenyl-2-butene

The simplest (alkyl)arylcarbonyl oxide, (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide, can be generated by the ozonation of E- and Z-2,3-diphenyl-2-butene 37 which were synthesized by the McMurry reaction as shown in eq 41.⁸⁵

$$2 \underset{Ph}{\overset{Me}{\longrightarrow}} C = 0 \underset{THF}{\overset{TiCl_3 - LiAlH_4}{THF}} \underset{Ph}{\overset{Me}{\longrightarrow}} C = C_{u_2} \underset{Ph}{\overset{r^{r^{\mu}}Me}{Ph}}$$
(41)

It has been reported⁸⁶ that the ozonolysis of **37** on polyethylene gave the corresponding ozonide, which could not be obtained by the ozonolysis in solution. However, to my knowledge, the product formation of the ozonolysis of **37** in solution has not yet been reported.

The ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures showed that ozonation of *E*- or *Z*-37 in CD_2Cl_2 yields acetophenone as the major product and 3,6dimethyl-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane, the dimer of (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide, as a miner product, eq 42. The other minor products that are



represented by small complex ¹H NMR signals between δ 1 and δ 6 were unstable and were not identified. The methyl group of acetophenone gives a singlet at δ 2.56. The methyl groups of the tetroxane give a singlet at δ 1.28. The integral of the signal of the methyl group of acetophenone accounts for 70% of the total integrals of the signals between δ 1 and δ 6 and that of the tetroxane is approximately 7%.

The tetroxane was isolated as a white crystal by chromatography on

silica gel. The observed sharp melting point (187.5-188.5 °C) and only one singlet at δ 1.28 even at -50 °C for the methyl groups indicated that only the trans isomer of the tetroxane was formed. Similar observations were also found in literature.⁸⁷ Dimerization of carbonyl oxides should yield both cis and trans tetroxanes. It is not clear why the cis isomer was not observed.

The ozonation of **37** in CD₃OD gives only two products in equal amounts. One of them is acetophenone and the other, which gives a singlet at δ 1.56, is presumably the adduct of (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide with CD₃OD, eq 43.^{87(a)} This observation demonstrates that *E*- and *Z*-**37** are ozonized by the Criegee ozonolysis mechanism.

$$\frac{Me}{Ph} C = C \frac{e^{e^{-t}Me}}{C_{2}Ph} \frac{O_{3}}{CD_{3}OD, -20^{\circ}C} \frac{Me}{Ph} C = O + Me \frac{OOD}{Ph} OCD_{3}$$
(43)

The following observations provided evidence that (methyl)phenyldioxirane was not produced from the ozonation of E- and Z-37.

The product distributions of the ozonation of E- and Z-37 are independent of the initial concentrations (from 0.01 to 0.2 M) and the method of ozonation, i.e., the normal or inverse ozonation.

No signal of the methyl groups of oxirane of E-37 (at δ 1.26) was detected in the ozonation reaction mixtures from E-37. The ¹H NMR spectra of the reaction mixtures of Z-37 contained a singlet at δ 1.79. The intensity of this signal was increased by addition of some authentic sample of the oxirane of Z-37 prepared by epoxidation of Z-37 with *m*-chloroperbenzoic acid or with dioxirane 13a to the reaction mixture. However, this signal disappeared after the ozonation mixtures of Z-37 were allowed to stand at room temperature overnight. As the authentic sample was quite stable under the same conditions, this signal was not due to the oxirane of Z-37. Thus no oxiranes are produced from ozonation of E- and Z-37.

Based on the above observations, it is concluded that (alkyl)arylcarbonyl oxides generated under the ozonation conditions do not cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes, eq 44.

$$\begin{array}{c} R \\ Ar \end{array} \xrightarrow{R} & \begin{array}{c} O_3 \\ Ar \end{array} \xrightarrow{R} & \begin{array}{c} C \\ Ar \end{array} \xrightarrow{O} \end{array} \xrightarrow{O} & \begin{array}{c} R \\ Ar \end{array} \xrightarrow{O} \\ O \end{array}$$
(44)

Nakamura et al^{87(a)} reported that α -hydroxyacetophenone was isolated from the ozonation reaction mixture of 1-methoxy-2-phenyl-2-propene by column chromatography on silica gel. The formation of this product was accounted for by the rearrangement of (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide as shown in eq 45.

$$H_{3C} \xrightarrow{O_{3}} H_{3C} \xrightarrow{O_{3}} H_{3C} \xrightarrow{C} O^{-} \xrightarrow{H_{2}C} O^{-} \xrightarrow{OH} Ph CH_{2}OH$$
(45)

The ¹H NMR spectra of the ozonation of **37** showed a singlet at δ 4.90 which was the same as that reported by Nakamura et al for α -hydroxyacetophenone. However, this signal appeared only after the ozonation mixtures were allowed to stand at room temperature for some time. The "fresh" ozonation mixtures did not have such a signal. If α -hydroxyacetophenone were really produced from the rearrangement of the carbonyl oxide as suggested by Nakamura, it should be in the "fresh" ozonation mixtures as well because the rearrangement of the carbonyl oxide must be very rapid. The observation in this study suggests that α -

hydroxyacetophenone is produced by some slow process, such as decomposition of some unstable primary ozonolysis products.

B. Ozonation of Z-1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene and 2methoxy-1,1-diphenylpropene

It was observed in the last section that the yield of acetophenone in the ozonation of E- and Z-37 in the non-participating solvent accounts for up to 70% of all the products. If acetophenone only arose from the cleavage of the primary ozonides of E- and Z-37, the maximum yield of acetophenone would be 50%. The reaction as shown in eq 46 is suggested to account for the

$$2 \xrightarrow{Me}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{C}_{O} \xrightarrow{O}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{Ph}_{O} \xrightarrow{O}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{Ph}_{O} \xrightarrow{VO}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{Ph}_{O} \xrightarrow{VO}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{Ph}_{O} \xrightarrow{VO}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{Ph}_{O} \xrightarrow{VO}_{Ph} \xrightarrow{C=O+O_{2}} (46)$$

excess yield of acetophenone. Similar reactions have been suggested in ozonolysis of other alkenes.⁸ The oxygen evolved in this reaction may be singlet oxygen. However, the method used to detect singlet oxygen in the ozonation of 8a and other electron-rich alkenes failed here because E- and Z-37 are much less reactive toward ozone than the probe 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5. During ozonation of a mixture of E- or Z-37 and 5, ozone did not react with E- and Z-37 until 5 was completely consumed. In order to confirm the presence of this reaction and furthermore to test the property of the oxygen evolved, the study of the ozonolysis of an alkene other than 37 is needed. This alkene should satisfy two requirements. First, it should be more reactive than E- and Z-37 and its reactivity toward ozone should be comparable with that of 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene 5. Second, the cleavage of its primary ozonide can unambiguously give (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide but not acetophenone. So any acetophenone found in the reaction mixture must arise from the decomposition of (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide. The vinyl ether 1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene **38** could be a suitable alkene for this study because it must be more reactive than **37** and the cleavage of the primary ozonide of **38** should give only methyl benzoate and the desired (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide.

As shown in Scheme 22, treatment of α -chloropropiophenone with phenylmagnesium bromide in benzene according to the procedure described in literature⁸⁸ yielded 1,2-diphenyl-1-propanone. It was accidentally found that if the solvent used was tetrahydrofuran instead of benzene a completely different product 1,1-diphenyl-2-propanone was obtained. Alkylation of the anion of 1,2-diphenyl-1-propanone yielded Z-1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene **38**. The structure of **38** was identified by comparison the ¹H signals observed (two singlets at δ 1.96 and 3.25 in CDCl₃) with those reported (δ 1.93 and 3.21 in CCl₄). Alkylation of the anion of 1,1-diphenyl-2-propanone yielded 2methoxy-1,1-diphenylpropene **39** which gave two singlets at δ 1.95 and 3.58 for the methyl and methoxy groups. The reported ¹H signals of **39** are at δ 1.91 and 3.51 in CCl₄.⁸⁹ Since ozonolysis of the vinyl ether **39** would provide an authentic method to generate diphenylcarbonyl oxide, this alkene was used to study the cyclization and oxidation properties of diphenylcarbonyl oxide.

Ozonation of these two alkenes was carried out in the manner described previously. The major reaction products are consistent with the Criegee reaction process and indicate that the cleavage of the primary ozonide of the vinyl ethers is in the same direction usually observed.

The main product from the ozonation of **38** in CD_2Cl_2 at $-78^{\circ}C$ is methyl benzoate **9a**. Other identified minor products are 1-methoxy-2-methyl-



Scheme 22. Synthesis of Z-1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene **38** and 2-methoxy-1,1-diphenylpropene **39**

1,2-diphenyloxirane, 3,6-dimethyl-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane, and acetophenone. The ¹H signals of unidentified products are the same as those of ozonolysis of 1,2-diphenyl-2-butene **37**, indicating they result from the reactions of (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide. α -Hydroxyacetophenone was not observed in the "fresh" reaction mixture either but was observed later. The oxirane of **38** was identified by comparison of ¹H signals (at δ 1.32, 3.11) in the NMR spectra of the reaction mixture with those of an authentic sample prepared by epoxidation of **38** with (methoxy)phenyldioxirane **13a**. The relative intensities of the proton signals of the identified products are indicated in eq 47.

The formation of a significant amount of acetophenone provides evidence for the reaction as shown in eq 46. It seems, however, that the

$$\begin{array}{c} Ph \\ CH_{3}O \\ Ph \\ CH_{3}O \\ Ph \\ Ph \\ CD_{2}Cl_{2} \\ CD_{2}Cl_{2} \\ Ph \\ CD_{2}Cl_{2} \\ Ph \\ CD_{2}Cl_{2} \\ Ph \\ Ph \\ CD_{2}CH_{3} + Ph \\ CD_{2}CH_{3} + Ph \\ CH_{3}O \\ Ph \\ CH_{3}O \\ Ph \\ Ph \\ H_{3}C \\ O-O \\ Ph \\ H_{3}C \\ O-O \\ Ph \\ (47) \\ Ph \\ (47) \\ S \\ S \\ Ph \\ (47) \\ S \\ S \\ O-O \\ Ph \\ (47) \\ S \\ S \\ S \\ (-78^{\circ}C) \\ 100 \\ 4 \\ S \\ S \\ S \\ (-78^{\circ}C) \\ 100 \\ 4 \\ S \\ S \\ (-78^{\circ}C) \\ 100 \\ (47) \\ S \\ S \\ (-78^{\circ}C) \\ (47)$$

molecular oxygen produced from this reaction is not singlet oxygen because no signal was observed in the vinyl proton region in the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture of partial ozonolysis of **38** to 32% consumption. The control experiment showed that singlet oxygen oxidation of **38** produced one major product which gives two doublets with identical intensities at δ 5.58 and 5.87 and one singlet at δ 3.28. These signals are presumably due to the allylic hydroperoxide

The fact that no singlet oxygen is produced in the ozonolysis of **38** is further confirmed by the partial ozonolysis of a 1:2 mixture of **38** and 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene **5** since the expected allylic hydroperoxide of **5** is not observed.

Only the signals of two products, methyl acetate and 1-methoxy-1methyl-2,2-diphenyloxirane, were found in the non-aromatic proton region of the ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture of ozonation of **39** in CD₂Cl₂ at -78° C. The amount of the oxirane was about one tenth of that of the acetate. After the solvent was evaporated, another product 3,3,6,6tetraphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane was isolated as a cubic crystal, eq 48. The

oxirane of **39** which gives two singlets at δ 1.42 and 3.56 was identified by

oxirane of **39** which gives two singlets at δ 1.42 and 3.56 was identified by the same method as above. The tetroxane melts at 210-212 °C, which is identical to the melting point reported.⁹⁰ When the reaction was carried out in CD₃OD, the acetate and oxirane are also produced in the similar relative amount as in CD₂Cl₂ but some ¹H NMR signals of tetroxane was not observed, suggesting diphenylcarbonyl oxide is captured by methanol. No tetramethyloxirane **6** or cyclohexene oxide was detected from the ozonation reaction mixture of **39** and 2,3-dimethyl-2-butene **5** or cyclohexene.

For the formation of the oxirane, two alternative reactions would be postulated, i.e., direct ozone epoxidation via an oxygenated oxirane (or its analogous) and epoxidation by a reaction intermediate which could be either diphenylcarbonyl oxide or its cyclic isomer diphenyldioxirane. Of the two mechanistic alternatives, however, the latter reaction can be ruled out, since the formation of the expected oxiranes of other alkene is not observed. The same conclusion was obtained from ozonolysis of other similar vinyl ethers.⁸⁹ This means that (1) diphenylcarbonyl oxide generated by ozonolysis of alkene cannot cyclize to the corresponding dioxirane and (2) diphenylcarbonyl oxide cannot transfer an oxygen atom to other alkenes. The latter emotion is in contrast to Murray and co-workers' report.³⁸ These authors claimed that singlet oxygen oxidation of diazodiphenylmethane produced diphenylcarbonyl oxide which is able to epoxidize alkenes.

Conclusion

Because no evidence for formation of the (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides from the ozonation of 2,3-dimethoxy-2-butene **35** and 2,3-dimethyl-1,4dioxene **36** was obtained, it remains a question that whether the (alkoxy)alkylcarbonyl oxides can cyclize to the dioxiranes.

(Alkyl)arylcarbonyl oxides and diphenylcarbonyl oxide generated by the ozonation of suitable alkenes cannot cyclize to the corresponding dioxiranes.

The molecular oxygen produced by decomposition of (methyl)phenylcarbonyl oxide via a dimeric zwitterion is not singlet oxygen.

Diphenylcarbonyl oxide generated by ozonolysis of alkenes cannot transfer oxygen atom to alkenes.

Experimental

The ozonation reactions were carried out in the same manner as described previously.

1. Synthesis of E- and Z-2,3-dimethoxy-2-butene (E- and Z-35)

1,1,2,2-Tetramethoxyethane was prepared according to the procedure described in the literature.⁹¹ A mixture of a 40% aqueous solution of glyoxal (80 g, 0.55 mol) and methanol (200 mL) was saturated with dry hydrogen chloride. The methanol was removed by distillation and the residue was distilled under reduced pressure to give 1,1,2,2-tetramethoxyethane (44 g, 53%): $bp_{10}48 \ ^{\circ}C$ (Lit.⁹¹ $bp_{12}53 \ ^{\circ}C$); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 3.42 (s, 12 H, OCH₃), 4.24 (s, 2 H, OCHO).

1,2-Dichloro-1,2-dimethoxyethane was prepared according to the procedure described in the literature.⁹² 1,1,2,2-Tetramethoxyethane (43 g, 0.21 mol) was added dropwise with stirring to phosphorus pentachloride (120

g, 0.58 mol) in a water bath. Stirring was continued for 1.5 hours at room temperature until all the solid phosphorus pentachloride disappeared. Direct distillation of the reaction mixture under reduced pressure gave a 3.6:1 mixture of *meso* and *rac*. 1,2-dichloro-1,2-dimethoxyethane (33.6 g, 75%): $bp_{12}60-63 \text{ °C}$; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): *meso* δ 3.61 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 5.50 (s, 2 H, CHCl), *rac*. δ 3.63 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 5.57 (s, 2 H, CHCl) (Lit.⁹² ¹H NMR (CCl₄): δ 3.52 (s, 6 H *rac*. + 6 H *meso*), *meso* δ 5.42 (s, 2 H), and *rac*. δ 5.50 (s, 2 H)).

E- and *Z*-1,2-Dimethoxyethene were prepared according to the procedure described in the literature.⁹³ A few drops of 1,2-dibromoethane were added to a flask containing magnesium (5.1 g, 0.21 mol) and dry THF (50 mL) to initiate the reaction. Once the reaction started, a solution of 1,2-dichloro-1,2-dimethoxyethane (33.6 g, 0.21 mol) in THF (20 mL) was added dropwise to the flask at a rate to keep the reaction temperature at around 40 °C. At the end of the addition, the mixture was boiled for ten minutes, cooled to room temperature, and filtered. The filtrate was poured into a fresh aqueous ammonium chloride solution (200 mL) and the resulting mixture was extracted with ether. The extract was washed with brine and dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate. Fractional distillation gave an approximately 1:1 mixture of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxyethene (12.0 g, 65%): bp₇₁₀80-90 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): *E*-isomer δ 3.4. (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 6.26 (s, 2 H, HC=C), *Z*-isomer δ 3.58 (s, 6 H, OCH₃), 5.30 (s, 2 H, HC=C). (Lit.⁹³ ¹H NMR (acetone-D₆): *E*-isomer δ 3.40, 6.28, *Z*-isomer δ 3.49, 5.25).

E- and *Z*-2,3-Dimethoxy-2-butene (*E*- and *Z*-35): A 1.7 *M* pentane solution (24 mL, 0.041 mol) of *tert*-butyllithium was added to a stirring solution of a mixture of *E*- and *Z*-1,2-dimethoxyethene (3.6 g, 0.041 mol) in 40 mL of tetramethylethylenediamine at -40 °C under argon, and the mixture
was stirred at this temperature for two hours. Methyl iodide (2.55 mL, 0.041 mol) was added dropwise and the mixture was permitted to warm to room temperature in the course of three hours. The mixture was cooled to -40 °C again and the second portion of tert-butyllithium (27 mL, 0.045 mol) was added. After the mixture was stirred at this temperature for two hours, the second portion of methyl iodide (2.8 mL, 0.045 mol) was added and the mixture was permitted to slowly warm to room temperature. A fresh aqueous ammonium chloride solution (100 mL) was added and the mixture was extracted with ether. The extract was washed with brine, dried over anhydrous sodium sulfate, and rapidly passed through a short column of silica gel and eluted with etder. Evaporation of the solvent gave a sticky light brown liquid. Purification by preparative GLC (Column 10% SE-30 on 60/80 chromosorb W, injector 170 °C, detector 120 °C, column 80 °C, retention time 30 min.) gave a mixture (2.08 g) of the two isomers and some unidentified impurities according to the ¹H NMR spectrum. The integrals of the signals of the major isomer which gave two singlets at δ 1.71 and 3.50, the miner isomer which gave two singlets at δ 1.77 and 3.42, and the impurities accounted for 56.4%, 30.3%, and 13.3% of the total integrals of the all signals, respectively. The combined yield of the two isomers was 37.9%. The reported chemical shifts of the ¹H NMR signals of a mixture of Z- and E-35 in acetone-D₆ were at δ 1.74 and 3.51 for one isomer and δ 1.82 and 3.42 for the other isomer.82

2. Synthesis of 2,3-dimethyl-1,4-dioxene (36)

3-Butyn-2-ol was prepared according to the procedure described in the literature.⁹² Acetylene was introduced into a liquid ammonia (approximately

200 mL) solution of sodium amide (39 g, 1.0 mol) at -40 to -50 °C until the gray color of the mixture turned black. Acetaldehyde (56 mL, 1.0 mol) dissolved in 60 mL of dry ether was added dropwise to the ammonia solution. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight. During this period the ammonia was allowed to evaporate. Ether (200 mL) and a saturated aqueous solution of ammonium chloride (100 mL) were added into the black sticky residue. The ether layer was separated and the aqueous layer was extracted with ether. The combined extracts were washed with water, brine, dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was distilled to give the product (34.5 g, 50%): bp₇₀₅100-105 °C, (Lit.⁹⁴ bp₁₅₀66-67 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.48 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3 H, CH₃), 2.47 (d, J = 2.1 Hz, 1 H, HC=C), 2.50 (b, 1 H, OH), 4.54 (dq, J = 6.7 and 2.1 Hz, 1 H, CH).

2-(3-Butyn-2-yloxy) ethanol was prepared according to the procedure described in the literature.⁸⁵ 2-Bromoethanol (35 g, 0.28 mol) was added dropwise to a rapidly stirring suspension of finely powdered potassium hydroxide (16 g, 0.28 mol) in 3-butyn-2-ol (20 g, 0.28 mol) at 0 °C. During the addition, potassium bromide precipitated. The reaction mixture was stirred at room temperature overnight and then poured into water and the resulting mixture was extracted with ether. The extract was washed with water, brine, and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated and the sticky residue was distilled under reduced pressure to give 2-(3-butyn-2-yloxy) ethanol (13 g, 41%): bp₁₂70-74 °C, (Lit.⁸³ bp₁₂72-73 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.47 (d, J = 6.7 Hz, 3 H, CH₃), 2.07 (b, 1 H, OH), 2.45 (d, J = 2.1 Hz, 1 H, HC=C), 3.42-3.95 (m, 4 H, OCH₂CH₂O), 4.24 (dq, J = 6.7 and 2.1 Hz, 1 H, HCO).

2,3-Dimethyl-1,4-dioxene (36) was prepared according to the procedure described in the literature.⁸³ A slurry of finely powdered potassium hydroxide (4.0 g, 0.07 mol) in 75 mL of redistilled triethylene glycol dimethyl ether was placed in a 100 mL flask equipped with a magnetic stirrer, a dropping funnel, and a distillation apparatus. The mixture was stirred vigorously and heated to 180 ± 5 °C in an oil bath. 2-(3-Butyn-2-yloxy)ethanol (8.0 g, 0.07 mol) was added dropwise in 15 minutes. During the addition, the volatile products (bp₇₁₀ 82-85 °C) distilled from the reaction mixture. When the distillation slowed, the temperature of the oil bath was raised to 195 °C and remained at that temperature for ten minutes. The ¹H NMR spectrum showed that the distillate contained approximately 70% of the desired product. The crude product was purified by preparative GLC. (Column 10% SE-30 on 60/80 chromosorb W, injector 170 °C, detector 120°C, column 100 °C, retention time 27 min.) to give 3.8 g (48%) of the product. ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.68 (s, 6 H, CH₃C=CCH₃), 3.95 (s, 4 H, OCH₂CH₂O). (Lit.⁸³ ¹H NMR (CCl₄, TMS): δ 1.67, 3.92).

3. Synthesis of *E*- and *D*-2,3-diphenyl-2-butene (37)

This synthesis followed the procedure described in the literature.⁸⁵ To 200 mL of THF at -70 °C was added 32 g of McMurry reagent (a 4:1 mixture of TiCl₃ and LiAlH₄, purchased from Aldrich) with stirring. The mixture was allowed to warm to room temperature and 6.0 g (0.05 mol) of acetophenone was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was stirred under reflux for six hours and then at room temperature overnight. Water was added and the mixture was extracted with ether. The extract was washed with water, brine, and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. Evaporation of the

extract gave an oily residue. Fractional recrystallization from methanol yielded first E-37 (1.0 g, 20%) as white needles and then Z-37 (1.6 g, 30%) as a white powder.

E-2,3-diphenyl-2-butene: mp 95.0-97.0 °C, (Lit.⁸⁵ 94-100 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS). δ 1.88 (s, 6 H, C=CCH₃), 7.18-7.43 (m, 10 H, Ar). *Z*-2,3-diphenyl-2-butene: mp 52.0-54.0 °C, (Lit.⁸⁵ 53-63 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 2.17 (s, 6 H, C=CCH₃), 6.90-7.15 (m, 10 H, Ar).

4. Synthesis of 1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene (38)

α-Chloropropiophenone Sulfuryl chloride (28.3 g, 0.21 mol) was slowly added dropwise with stirring to propiophenone (26.8 g, 0.20 mol) contained in a flask equipped with a drying-tube at room temperature. The reaction mixture was kept stirring overnight. Distillation under reduced pressure offered the product (32.4 g, 95.0%) as a light yellow oil. bp₁₅115-120 °C, (Lit.⁸⁸ bp₁₈126-128°C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.75 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3 H, CH₃), 5.25 (q, J = 6.5 Hz, 1 H, CH), 7.42-7.65 (m, 3 H, Ar), 7.96-8.08 (m, 2 H, Ar).

1,2-Diphenyl-1-propanone Bromobenzene (18.8 g, 0.12 mol) was added to magnesium (3.65 g, 0.15 mol) in dry ether (50 mL) at such a rate to keep a gentle reflux. After finishing the addition the reaction mixture was heated to reflux for 0.5 hours. The phenylmagnesium bromide in ether was transferred to a dropping funnel and was added dropwise with stirring into the ice cooled α -chloropropiophenone (20.4 g, 0.12 mol) in benzene (100 mL). The reaction mixture was refluxed for two hours. The precipitate was removed by filtration and washed with ether. The combined filtrate was washed with ammonium chloride aqueous solution, water, brine, and dried

over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated and the crude product was obtained by distillation under reduced pressure. Recrystallization from methanol gave the purified product (13 g, 52%). $bp_{2.0}125-140$ °C, (Lit.⁸⁸ $bp_{2.5}130-145$ °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.58 (d, J = 6.5 Hz, 3 H, CH₃), 4.80 (q, J = 6.5 Hz, 1 H, CH), 7.30-7.70 (m, 8 H, Ar), 8.01-8.21 (m, 2 H,

Ar); Exact mass calcd for $C_{15}H_{14}O$: 210.1045. EIMS m/e: 210.1043 (M⁺).

Z-1-Methoxy-1,2-diphenyl-1-propene (38): 1,2-Diphenyl-1-propanone (2.1 g, 0.01 mol) was added to a suspension of sodium hydride (0.3 g, 0.013 mol) in DMSO (20 mL). The reaction mixture turned to yellow cloudy. After stirring for 15 minutes, p-TsOMe (2.05 g, 0.011 mol) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was kept stirring for three hours at room temperature. A little amount of methanol was added to the mixture to destroy the excess base. The mixture was poured to cold water (200 mL) and extract with ether (50 mL \times 3). The combined extract was washed with water, brine, and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was crystallized from methanol to give the product (0.92 g, 41%) which was assigned to be the Z isomer of the two possible isomers according to the literature.⁸⁹ mp 52.5-54.0 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.96 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 3.25 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), 7.15-7.50 (m, 10 H, ArH), (Lit.⁸⁹ ¹H NMR (CCl₄): δ 1.93, 3.21); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 19.59, 57.61, 118.15, 126.27, 127.97, 128.01, 128.23, 125.75, 135.59, 141.32, 150.78; FTIR: 1071, 1491cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for $C_{16}H_{16}O$: 224.1201. EIMS *m/e*: 224.1200 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O: C, 85.67; H 7.19. Found: C, 85.56; H, 7.30.

5. Synthesis of 1-methoxy-1,2-diphenylpropene (39)

1,1-Diphenyl-2-propanone

The preparation procedure of this

compound was exactly the same as that of 1,2-diphenyl-1-propanone except the solvent used was THF instead of benzene. Recrystallization of the crude product from methanol gave the product (11.5 g, 45.6%). bp_{1.8}130-145 °C, (Lit.⁹⁵ bp_{1.5}135-138 °C); mp 59.0-60.0 °C (Lit.⁹⁶ mp 62-63 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 2.20 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 5.10 (s, 1 H, CH), 7.18-7.35 (m, 10 H); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 29.93, 64.91, 127.15, 128.63, 128.90, 138.28, 206.27; FTIR: 1715 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₅H₁₄O: 210.1045. EIMS *m/e*: 210.1050 (M⁺).

2-Methoxy-1,1-diphenyl-1-propene (39): 1,1-Diphenyl-2propanone (2.1 g, 0.01 mol) was added to a suspension of sodium hydride (0.3 g, 0.013 mol) in DMSO (20 mL). The reaction mixture turned to yellow cloudy. After stirring for 15 min., p-TsOMe (2.05 g, 0.011 mol) was added dropwise. The reaction mixture was kept stirring for three hours at room temperature. A little amount of methanol was added to the mixture to destroy the excess base. The mixture was poured to cold water (200 mL) and extract with ether (50 mL \times 3). The combined extract was washed with water, brine, and dried over anhydrous magnesium sulfate. The solvent was evaporated and the residue was crystallized from methanol to give the product (1.3 g, 58%). mp 53.0-54.0 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.95 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 3.58 (s, 1 H, CH), 7.10-7.35 (m, 10 H, Ar); (Lit.⁸⁹ ¹ MR (CCl₄): δ 1.91, 3.51); ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 15.84, 55.94, 121.91, 125.75, 126.23, 127.63, 128.10, 129.85, 130.67, 140.41, 142.12, 150.53; FTIR: 1050, 1236, 1616 cm⁻¹; Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O: 224.1201. EIMS m/e: 224.1207 (M⁺); Anal. Calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O: C, 85.67; H 7.19. Found: C, 85.69; H, 7.24.

6. Isolation of the ozonation products

The ozonation of a mixture of *E*- and *Z*-2,3-diphenyl-2-butene **37** (0.5 g) in CH_2Cl_2 (20 mL) was carried out at 0 °C. The solvent was evaporated and the products were isolated by column chromatography on silica gel with 15% of ethyl acetate in hexane as eluent. The first fraction contained the tetroxane and the second fraction contained acetophenone.

3,6-Dimethyl-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane: mp 187.5-188.5 °C; ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 1.28 (s, 6 H, CH₃), 7.30-7.65 (m, 10 H, Ar).(Lit.⁸⁹ mp 188-190 °C; ¹H NMR: δ 1.32 (s, 6 H), 6.78-7.95 (m, 10 H)). Exact mass calcd for C₁₆H₁₆O₄: 272.1049. CIMS: *m/e* = 290 (M + NH₄⁺).

Acetophenone: δ 2.58 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 7.40-7.65 (m, 4 H, Ar), 7.90-8.05 (m, 2 H, Ar).

3,3,6,6-Tetraphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane: The ozonation of 2-Methoxy-1,1-diphenyl-1-propene **39** (0.7 g, 3 mmol) in CH₂Cl₂ (20 mL) was carried out at -40 °C. The solvent was evaporated and the tetroxane was crystallized from the residue. Recrystallization from methanol afforded the tetroxane (0.33 g, 28%) as a cubic crystal. mp 210-212 °C (Lit.⁹⁰ mp 214-215 °C); ¹H NMR (CDCl₃, TMS): δ 6.70-7.90 (m, 20 H, Ar). ¹³C NMR (CDCl₃): δ 111.45, 128.21,128.33, 128.69, 128.77, 130.11, 130.83, 136.50, 137.55. Exact mass calcd for C₂₆H₂₀O₄: 396.1362. CIMS: *m/e* = 414 (M + NH₄+).

7. The chemical shifts of oxiranes

The following oxiranes were not isolated. The ¹H NMR chemical shifts of them were obtained from the spectra of the authentic samples. The procedure of preparation of authentic samples of the oxiranes are as follows. Inverse ozonation of E-1,2-dimethoxy-1,2-diphenylethene E-8 $_{\odot}$ (0.4 mg) in CD₂Cl₂ (0.5 mL) at -26 °C gave a reaction mixture containing (methoxy)phenyldioxirane 13a. To this mixture a small amount of the interested alkene was added and the ¹H NMR spectrum of the resulting reaction mixture was then recorded at -20 °C. The signals that were not due to the materials of known structures were assigned to the newly produced oxirane.

trans- and *cis*-2,3-dimethoxy-2,3-dimethyloxirane: ¹H NMR $(CD_2Cl_2, -20 \ ^\circ C): \delta 1.51 \ (s, 6 \ H, CH_3), 3.32 \ (s, 6 \ H, OCH_3), and \delta 1.46 \ (s, 6 \ H, CH_3), 3.38 \ (s, 6 \ H, OCH_3).$

2,3-dimethyl-1,4-dioxene oxide: ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.46 (s, 6 H, CH₃), 3.60-3.90 (m, 4 H, OCH₂CH₂O).

trans-1-Methoxy-2-methyl-1,2-diphenyloxirane ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.32 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 3.11 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), and signals of the aromatic protons.

1-Methoxy-1-methyl-2,2-diphenyloxirane ¹H NMR (CD_2Cl_2 , -20 °C): δ 1.42 (s, 3 H, CH₃), 3.56 (s, 3 H, OCH₃), and signals of the aromatic protons.

169

VI. DISCOVERY OF TETROXANES AS A NEW CLASS OF CHEMILUMINESCENT MOLECULES

Searching for potentially luminescent molecules that are not 1,2dioxetanes is one of the research subjects in this laboratory. Among several structures that were considered was octamethyl-1,4,6,7,9,12,13,14octaoxadispiro[4.2.4.2.]tetradecane **40** which might undergo decomposition to four molecules of acetone and two of carbon dioxide, eq 45. The reaction

$$4 (CH_3)_2 CO + 2 CO_2 (45)$$

is calculated to be exothermic by 108.9 kcal/mole using the data in Table 18.97

Group	Δ <i>H⁰f</i> (kcal/mol)	Group	ΔH^{0}_{f} (kcal/mol)
C-(H) ₃ (C)	-10.08	0-(C) ₂	-23.2
C-(O)(C) ₃	6.6	0-(C)(0)	-4.5
C-(O)(C)(H) ₂	-8.5	(CH ₃) ₂ CO	-51.7
C-(O) ₄	-43.1	H ₂ CO	-26.0
_CO ₂	-94.05		
Strain Corrections			
ring correction (1,3-dioxolane) 6.0			
alkane gauche correction 0.8			
ether oxygen gauche correction 0.3			

Table 18. Enthalpies of formation (kcauthol) used in thermochemical calculations^a

Since 40 would quite likely be kinetically stable and may require an activation energy for decomposition of upwards of 30 kcal/mole,⁹⁸ the

difference in the heats of formation of the transition state for decomposition of 40 and the products should be 130 kcal/mole or more. This is more than enough to form an electronically excited acetone molecule and is greater than that, 90 kcal/mole, available in the thermolysis of tetramethyl-1,2-dioxetane.⁹⁹

An obvious reaction that might lead to 40 is the dimerization of the corresponding carbonyl oxide which might be generated from ozonolysis of alkene 41, eq 46. Since there was no straightforward method to prepare 41,

the ozonolysis of the readily available model compound tetramethoxyethene 1 was reexamined.²² However, as mentioned in Chapter I, the results of the ozonolysis of 1 showed that the major products are dimethyl carbonate, methyl trimethoxyacetate and the dioxetane. Only a small amount of cleavage product is formed. No evidence could be obtained for the formation of dimethoxycarbonyl oxide during the reaction. It therefore seems that the tetroxane 40 can not be prepared by ozonolysis of the tetraalkoxy substituted ethene 41.

It was found that 1,4,6,7,9,12,13,14-octaoxadispiro[4.2.4.2]tetradecane 20 (the dimer of the ethylene carbonate oxide) is produced from ozonation of 2-[(methoxy)phenyl]methylene-1,3-dioxolane 15 (see Chapter III), eq 47. The

structure of 20 is very similar to that of 40. This reactive is calculated to

release 74.7 kcal/mole of heat if it decomposed to four molecules of formaldehyde and two of carbon dioxide, eq 48.

$$\begin{bmatrix} 0 & 0 - 0 & 0 \\ 0 & 0 - 0 & 0 \end{bmatrix} \xrightarrow{\Delta H_{f} = -75 \text{ kcal/mole}} 4 H_{2}CO + 2 CO_{2}$$
(48)

Indeed, a flash of luminescence was observed upon thermolysis of 20 in the presence of the fluorescent 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene at 180 ° C in a melting point tube. In the absence of the fluorescer, no light was observed. Surprizingly, only ethylene carbonate 17 was detected by ¹H NMR and the expected formaldehyde was not found, indicating that the thermolysis of 20 gives ethylene carbonate 17 and (presumably) oxygen instead of formaldehyde and carbon dioxide, eq 49.

$$\begin{array}{c|c} 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 0 & 0 & 0 \\ \hline 20 \end{array} \xrightarrow{\text{thermolysis}} \begin{array}{c} 0 \\ \hline 0 \\ 0 \\ \hline 0$$

For this mode of decomposition, no special structure teacher is needed for tetroxanes. To confirm this, the luminescent property reado other types of tetroxanes, 7,8,15,16-tetraoxadispiro[5.2.5.2]tetradodecane 42 and a mixture of *cis*- and *trans*-3,6-diethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-1,2,4,5-tetroxane 12b,



were investigated. Thermolysis of the tetroxanes 12b or 42 in the presence of 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene at 180 °C in a melting point tube also

results in a flash luminescence. These are the first examples of tetroxanes as a new class of luminescent molecules.

The lowest temperature at which a methyl benzoate solution of a tetroxane and a fluorescer (0.1 M each) gives visible light was investigated. Due to the availability, only two tetroxanes, **12b** and **42**, and two fluorescers, 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene and 1,4-dimethoxy-9,10-diphenylanthracene, were used in this study. It was found that the lowest temperature was independent of the tetroxanes but dependent on the fluorescers. When 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene was used, at about 190 °C the mixture began giving a dim light which could be last for a few minutes; when 1,4-dimethoxy-9,10-diphenylanthracene was used, the lowest temperature was 180 °C.

It was reported by Schuster¹⁰⁰ that thermolysis of diphenoyl peroxide (DPP) in a variety of solvents in the presence of any of several easily oxidized fluorescent hydrocarbons (ArH) generates carbon dioxide, benzocoumarin and light, eq 50. Schuster and co-workers also showed that the ArH is a catalyst for the reaction, and that its catalytic effectiveness depends inversely on its oxidation potential. The mechanism advanced to

explain these, among other, observations is called as chemically initiated electron-exchange luminescence (CIEEL) mechanism.

We suspect that the mechanism of thermolysis of tetroxanes in the

presence of the fluorescers is similar to that of thermolysis of diphenoyl peroxide (DPP), i.e., a CIEEL mechanism as shown in Scheme 23. The first



Scheme 23. r. ally initiated electron-exchange luminescence (CIEEL) mechanism proposed for the thermolysis of a tetroxume in the presence of a fluorescer

step is the diffusion together of a tetroxane molecule and a fluorescer molecule (e.g., 1,4-dimethoxy-9,10-diphenylanthracene) to form an encounter complex. Thermal activation of the encounter complex results in transfer of an electron from the fluorescer to the tetroxane. Molecular oxygen is released from the resulting radical anion of the tetroxane and a carbonyl compound and a radical anion of this carbonyl compound are produced. Back-electron transfer from the radical anion of the carbonyl compound to the radical cation of the fluorescer results in the annihilation of these oppositely charged radical ions and the formation of the electronically excited \mathbf{f}_{i} succer which then emits light in the process of degradation to its ground state.

The above observed lowest fluorescence temperatures of the two fluorescers are consistent with this mechanism. Because of the presence of the two electron-donating methoxy substituents in 1.4-dimethoxy-9.10diphenylanthracene, it is expected that the one-electron oxidation potential of it would be lower than that of 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene. (The oxidation potential of 1,4-dimethoxy-9,10-diphenylanthracene is 0.79 V.¹⁰¹ The oxidation potential of 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene is unavailable but is expected to be similar to that of 9,10-diphenylanthracene which is 1.35 V.¹⁰²) This means the electron transfer will take place more easily between a tetroxane 1,4-dimethoxy-9,10-diphenylanthracene and and thus the fluorescence temperature is lower.

Experimental

1. Identification of the thermolysis product of the tetroxane 20

A small amount of 20 was placed in a NMR tube which was then sealed under vacuum. Upon heating to 180 °C the solid tetroxane 20 was decomposed to a liquid. The seal was opened while the NMR tube was placed in a dry ice-acetone bath and 0.5 mL of CD_2Cl_2 was added. The ¹H NMR spectrum of the reaction mixture was then recorded at room temperature.

2. Study of the lowest luminescence temperatures

Methyl benzoate solutions (0.1 M) of 3,6-diethoxy-3,6-diphenyl-

1,2,4,5-tetroxane 12b, 7,8,15,16-tetraoxadispiro[5.2.5.2]tetradodecane 42, 9,10-bis(phenylethynyl)anthracene, and 1,4-dimethoxy-9,10-diphenylanthracene were prepared. A mixture of 0.5 mL of the solution of a fluorescer and the same volume of the solution of a tetroxane in a test tube was put into a preheated oil bath in a dark room. The temperature of the oil bath at which the mixture began giving visible light was recorded.

References

- 1. Bailey, P. S. Ozonation in Organic Chemistry; Academic Press; New York, 1978, Vol. 1; 1982, Vol. 2.
- 2. (a) Criegee, R. Rec. Chem. Prog. 1957, 18, 111.
 (b) Criegee, R. Angew. Chem. Int. Ed. Engl. 1975, 14, 745.
- Huisgen, R. In 1,3-Dipolar Cycloaddition Chemistry; Padwa, A., Ed.; Wiley: New York, 1984; Vol. 1, Chapter. 1.
- 4. (a) Fliszar, S.; Renard, J.; Simon, D. Z. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 93, 6953.
 (b) Fliszar, S.; Granger, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 3330.
 (c) Fliszar, S.; Chylinska, J. B. Can. J. Chem. 1967, 45, 29.
- 5. (a) Griesbaum, K.; Greunig, H.-J.; Volpp, W.; Jung, I.-C. Chem. Be 1991, 124, 947.
 - (b) Griesbaum, K.; Zwick, G. Chem. Ber. 1986, 119, 229.
 - (c) Griesbaum, K.; Meister, M. Chem. Ber. 1987, 120, 1573.
 - (d) Griesbaum, K.; Zwick, G.; Agarwal, S.; Keul, H.; Pfeffer, B.; Murray, R. W. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4194.
- Woodward, R. B.; Hoffman, R. The Conservation of Orbital Symmetry; Verlag Chemie: Weinheim/Bergstr., Germany, and Academic Press: New York, 1970.
- Murray, R. W.; Story, P. R.; Kaplan, M. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 526.
- 8. (a) Fliszar, S.; Gravel, D.; Cavalieri, E. Can. J. Chem. 1966, 44, 1013.
 (b) Fliszar, S.; Chylinska, J. B. Can. J. Chem. 1968, 46, 783.
 (c) Girard, M.; Griller, D. J. Phys. Chem. 1986, 90, 6801.
- 9. Riezebos, G.; Grimmelikhuysen, J. C.; van Dorp, D. A. Recl. Trav. Chim. Pays Bas 1963, 82, 1234.

- 10. Murray, R. W.; Lin, W. P.; Grumke, D. A. Adv. Chem. Ser. 1972, 112, 9.
- 11. For a recent review of ozonide formation, see: Kuczkowski, R. L. Chem. Soc. Rev. 1992, 21, 79.
- (a) Bailey, N. C.; Thompson, J. A.; Hudson, C. E.; Bailey, P. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 1822.
 - (b) Lattimer, R. P.; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 348.
 - (c) Bailey, P. S.; Ferrell, T. M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 899.
- 13. (a) Zvilichovsky, G.; Zvilichovsky, B. In Chem. Hydroxyl, Ether Peroxide Groups; Patai, S. Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, UK, 1993; pp 687-784.
 - (b) McCullough, K. J.; Nojima, M. In Organic Peroxides; Ando, W., Ed.;
 Wiley: Chichester, UK, 1992; pp 661-728.
- 14. Ref. 1, Vol. 1, Chapter 11.
- 15. (a) Bailey, P. S.; Ward, J. W.; Hornish, R. E.; Potts III, F. E. Adv. Chem. Ser. 1972, 112, 1.
 - (b) Bailey, P. S.; Ward, J. W.; Carter, T. P.; Nieh, Jr., E.; Fisher, C. M.;
 Khashab, A. Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 6136.
- 16. (a) Bailey, P. S.; Lane, A. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 4473.
 (b) Bailey, P. S.; Hwang, H. H.; Chiang, C. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 231.
- 17. Gillies, C. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 1276.
- (a) Murray, R. W.; Kong, W.; Rajadhyaksha, S. N. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 315.
 - (b) Schank, K.; Moschel, S. Phosphorus, Sulfur Silicon Relat. Elem.
 1993, 74. 419.
 - (c) Andreozzi, R.; Caprio, V.; D'Amore, M. G.; Insola, A. Oxid. Commun. 1993, 16, 96.

- (d) Hon, Y. S.; Lu, L.; Chang, R. C.; Chu, K. P.; Lin, S. W. Youji Huaxue 1993, 13, 286.
- (e) Hatakeyama, S.; Akimoto, H. Bull. Chem. Soc. Jpn. 1990, 63, 2701.
- (f) Bunnelle, W. H. Adv. Cycloaddit. 1993, 3, 67.
- (g) Toshiya S.; Koichi, T.; Norinaga, N.; Masatomo, N. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 135.
- (h) Treacy, J.; El. Hag, M.; O'Farrell, D.; Sidebottom, H. Ber. Bunsen-Ges. Phys. Chem. 1992, 96, 422.
- (i) Bunnelle, W. H.; Isbell, T. A. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 729.
- 19. (a) Kuczkowski, R. L. In Advances in Oxygenated Processes; Baumstark,
 A. L., Ed.; JAI Press: Greenwich, CT, 1991, Vol. 3, pp 1-43.
 - (b) Mori, M.; Sugiyama, T.; Nojima, M.; Kusabayashi, S.; McCullough,
 K. J. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 2285.
 - (c) Griesbaum, K.; Kim, W-S. J. Org. Chem. 1992, 57, 5574.
 - (d) Tabuchi, T.; Nojima, M.; Kusabayashi, S. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 1 1991, 3043.
 - (e) Sugiyama, T.; Yamakoshi, H.; Nojima, M. J. Org. Chem. 1993, 58, 4212.
- (a) Wojciechowski, B. J.; Chiang, C.-Y.; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1120.
 - (b) Nojima, M. Rev. Heteroat. Chem. 1991, 5, 23.
- Pryor, W. A.: Giamalva, D.; Church, D. F. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1983, 105, 6858.
- 22. Kopecky, K. R.; Molina, J.; Rico, R. Can. J. Chem. 1988, 66, 2234.
- 23. (a) Mayo, F. R. Acc. Chem. Res. 1968, 1, 193.
 - (b) Van Sickle, D. E.; Mayo, F. R.; Arluk, R. M.; Syz, M. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1967, 89, 967.

- Inoue, Y.; Ikeda, H.; Hakushi, T. J. Chem. Soc., Perkin Trans. 2 1986, 259.
- 25. (a) Merz, A.; Tomahogh, R. J. Chem. Res. (M), 1977, 3070.
 (b) Lumbroso H.; Lund H., Simonet J. Comptes Rendus Hebdomadaires des Seances. Academie des Sciences. Serie C. 1986, 278, 1449.
- 26. Kuhn, R.; Trischmann, H. Chem. Ber. 1961, 94, 2258.
- Kimpe, N. D.; Buyck, L. D.; Verhe R.; Schamp N. Chem. Ber. 1983, 116, 3631.
- 28. (a) Bartlett, P. D.; Baumstark, A. L.; Landis, M. E. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 1974, 96, 5557.
 - (b) Bartlett, P. D.; McKennis, J. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1977, 99, 5334.
- 29. Deslongchamps, P. Stereoelectronic Effects in Organic Chemistry; Pergamon Press: London, 1983.
- 30. (a) Murray, R. W. Chem. Rev. 1989, 89, 1187.
 - (b) Adam, W.; Hadjiarapoglou, L. P.; Curci, R.; Mello, R. In Organic
 Peroxides, Ando, W., Ed.; Wiley: Chichester, UK, 1992; pp 195-219.
- 31. (a) Murray, R. W.; Jeyaraman, R. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2847.
 - (b) Mello, R.; Fiorentino, M.; Sciacovelli, O.; Curci, R. J. Org. Chem.1988, 53, 3891 and references.
- 32. Kopecky, K. R.; Xie, Y.; Molina, J. Can. J. Chem. 1993, 71, 272.
- Higgins, R.; Foote, C. S.; Cheng, H. In Adv. Chem. Ser., Gould, R. F., Ed.; Am. Chem. Soc. Publish: Washington, D. C., 1968, Vol. 77, pp 102-117.
- 34. Bartlett, P. D.; Gunther, P. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1966, 88, 3288.
- 35. Brill, W. F.; Barton, B. J. J Org. Chem. 1964, 29, 140.
- 36. Girard, M.; Griller, D. J. Phys. Chem. 1986, 90, 6801.
- 37. Cremer, D.; Schmidt, T.; Gauss, J.; Radhakrishnan, T. P. Angew. Chem.,

Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 427.

- 38. Hinrichs, T. A.; Ramachandran, V.; Murray, R. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1979, 101, 1283.
- 39. Bartlett, P. D.; Mendenhall, G. D. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 210.
- 40. (a) Story, P. R.; Whited, E. A.; Alford, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1972, 94, 2143.
 - (b) Yang, N. C. Can. R. V. Tetrahedron Lett. 1973, 5142
- 41. (a) Kopecky, K. R.; Locswood, P. A.; Filby, J. E.; Reid, R. W. Can. J. Chem. 1973, 57, 468
 - (b) Yang, N. C.; Libr , J. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 1782.
- 42. Bunnelle, W. H. Chem Rev. 7 11, 91, 335.
- 43. Smith, L. I. J. Am. Chem. S .. 1925, 47, 1850.
- 44. Criegee, R.; Lohaus, G. Justus Liebigs Ann. Ch. n. 1953, 583, 6.
- 45. Tabuchi, T.; Nojima, M. J. Org. Chem. 1991, 56, 6591.
- 46. Gerrard, J. Unpublished results.
- Wojciechowski, B. J.; Pearson, W. H.; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Org. Chem.
 1989, 54, 115.
- Inamoto, N.; Masuda, S.; Nagai, Y.; Shimamura, O. J. Chem. Soc. 1963, 1433.
- 49. Bromberg, A.; Muszkat, K. A. Tetrahedron 1972, 28, 1265.
- 50. Wieringa, J. H.; Strating, T.; Wynberg, H.; Adam. W. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 169.
- 51. Bartlett, P. D.; Ho, M. S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 627.
- 52. Karimian, K.; Mohanazadeh, K.; Rezai, S. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4681.
- 53. Harries, C. D. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1905, 243, 311.
- 54. (a) Lovas, F. J.; Suenram, R. D. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1977, 51, 453.
 (b) Martinez, R. I.; Huie, R. E.; Herron, J. T. Chem. Phys. Lett. 1977, 51, 51.

457.

(c) Suenram, R. D.; Lovas, F. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1978, 100, 5117.

- 55. (a) Keay, R. E.; Hamilton, G. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1976, 98, 6578.
 - (b) Murray, R. W.; Agarwal, S. K. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4698.
 - (c) Zadok, E.; Rubinraut, S.; Frolow, F.; Mazur, Y. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 2647.
- 56. Cremer, D.; Schmidt, T.; Gauss, J.; Radhakrishnan, T. P. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1988, 27, 427.
- 57. Salem, L.; Rowland, C. Angew. Chem., Int. Ed. Engl. 1972, 11, 92.
- 58. Murray, R. W.; Shiang, D. L. J. Chem. Soc. Perkin Trans. 2, 1990, 349.
- 59. Baumstark, A. L.; McClosekey, C. J. Tetrahedron Lett. 1987, 28, 3311.
- Murray, R. W.; Jeyaraman, R.; Mohan, L. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 2470.
- 61. Still, W. C.; Kahn, M.; Mitra, A. J. Org. Chem. 1978, 43, 2923.
- 62. Rio, G.; Berthelot, J. Bull. Soc. Chim. Fr. 1971, 3555.
- 63. Tipson, R. S.; Clapp, M. A.; Cretcher, L. H. J. Org. Chem. 1947, 12, 33.
- 64. Prepared by U. Schulz in this laboratory.
- 65. Flad, G; Sabourin, R.; Chovin, P. Bull. Soc. Chim. France 1975, 5, 1347.
- 66. Parker, C. O. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1956, 78, 4944.
- 67. Bartlett, P. D.; Traylor, T. G. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1962, 84, 3408.
- 68. Braun, J.; Anton, E.; Weissbach, K. Chem. Ber. 1930, 63, 2840.
- 69. Weizmann, C.; Sulzbacher, M.; Bergmann, E. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1948, 70, 1153.
- Riley, H. A.; Gray, A. R. In Organic Synthesis Coll. Vol. II; Blatt, A. H., Ed.; John Wiley and Sons, Inc.: New York, 1943; p 509.
- 71. Henery-Logan, K. R.; Fridinger, T. L. Chem. Comm. 1968, 130.

- 72. (a) Wojciechowski, B. J; Chiang, C.-Y.; Kuczkowski, R. L. J. Org. Chem. 1990, 55, 1120.
 - (b) Griesbaum, K.; Volpp, W.; Huh, T.-S.; Jung, I. C. Chem. Ber. 1989, 122, 94.
 - (c) Lapalme, R.; Borschberg, H. J.; Soucy, P.; Deslongchamps, P. Can. J. Chem. 1979, 57, 3272.
 - (d) Fliszar, S.; Granger, M. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1969, 91, 3330 and 1970, 92, 3361.
- 73. Gerhardt, C. Justus Liebigs Ann. Chem. 1853, 87, 81. also Beilstein 9, 163 h.
- 74. Cooper, W. J. Chem. Soc. 1951, 3106.
- 75. Murray, R. W.; Agarwal, S. K. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4698.
- 76. (a) Yang, N.-C.; Libman, J. J. Org. Chem. 1974, 39, 1782.
 (b) Jackson, S.; Hull, L. A. J. Org. Chem. 1976, 41, 3340.
 (c) Jenkins, J. A.; Mendenhall, G. D. J. Org. Chem. 1981, 46, 3997.
- 77. Odinokov, V. N.; Kukovinets, O. S.; Khalilov, L. M.; Tolstikov, G. A.;
 Kosnikov, A. Y.; Lindeman, S. V.; Struchkov, Y. T. Tetrahedron Lett.
 1985, 26, 5843.
- 78. Altwicker, E. R.; Basila, J. Tetrahedron 1973, 29, 1969.
- 79. Houk, K. N.; Sims, J.; Watts, C. R.; Luskus, L. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 1973, 95, 7287.
- 80. Juracka, F.; Chromecek, R. Chem. Prumysl 1956, 6, 27. also Chemical Abstract 1956, 50, 15458.
- Wenkert, E.; Greenberg, R. S.; Raju, M. S. J. Org. Chem. 1985, 50, 4681.
- 82. Schubert, U.; Fisher, E. O. Chem. Ber. 1973, 106, 1062.
- 83. Bottini, A. T.; Moroski, J. G. J. Org. Chem. 1973, 38, 1455.

- 84. Gassman, PG.; Creary, X. Tetrahedron Lett. 1972, 4411.
- 85. McMurry, J. E.; Fleming, N. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 4708.
- B6. Griesbaum, K.; Volpp, W.; Greiner, R.; Greunig, H.-J.; Schmid, J.; Henke, H. J. Org. Chem. 1989, 54, 383.
- 87. (a) Nakamura, N.; Nojima, M.; Kusababyashi, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc.
 1987, 109, 4969.
 - (b) Milas, N. A.; Davis, P.; Nolan, Jr. J. T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 77, 2536.
 - (C) McCullough, K. J.; Morgan, A. R.; Nonhebel, D. C.; Pauson, P. L.;
 White, G. J. J. Chem. Res. (S) 1980, 34; (M) 1980, 601.
- 88. Sawaki, Y.; Ogata, Y. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1975, 97, 6983.
- Kitamura, T.; Kobayashi, S.; Taniguchi, H. J. Am. Chem Soc. 1986, 108, 2641.
- 90. Briner, E; Fliszar, S. Helv. Chim. Acta 1960, 43, 1113.
- 91. Fiesselmann, H.; Horndler, F. Chem. Ber. 1954, 87, 911.
- 92. Bou, A.; Pericas, M. A.; Serratosa, F. Tetrahedron 1981, 37, 1441.
- 93. Lnglin, T. A.; Berson, J. A. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1986, 108, 3394.
- 94. Kreimeier, O. R. Chemical Abstract 1938, 32, 2547.
- Schultz, E. M.; Mickey, S. Organic Synthesis Coll. Vol. III, Weiley, New York, N. Y., 1955; p 343.
- 96. Ruggli, P.; Dahn, H. J.; Wegman, J. Helv. Chim. Acta 1946, 29, 113.
- 97. (a) Benson, S. W. "Thermochemical Kinetics", 2nd ed. John Wiley and Sons, New York, 1976.
 - (b) Hine, J.; Klueppel, A. W. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1974, 96, 2924.
- 98. Story, P. R.; Denson D. D.; Bishop, C. E.; Clark, B. C.; Farine, Jr. J. C. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1968, 90, 817.
- 99. O'Neal, H. E.; Richardson, W. H. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1970, 92, 6553.

- 100. (a) Schuster, G. B. Acc. Chem. Res. 1979, 12, 366.
 - (b) Darmon, M. J.; Schuster, G. B. J. Org. Chem. 1982, 47, 4658.
 - (c) Horn, K. A.; Schuster, G. B. Tetrahedron 1982, 38, 1095.
- 101. Catalani, L. H.; Wilson, T. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1989, 111, 2633.
- 102. Faulkner, L. R.; Tachikawa, H.; Bard, A. J. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1971, 94, 691.
- 103. Norton, F. H.; Hass, H. B. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1936, 58, 2148.
- 104. Foote, C. S.; Wexler, S. J. Am. Chem. Soc. 1964, 86, 3880.
- 105. Cafferata, L. F. R.; Eyler, G. N.; Mirifico, M. V. J. Org. Chem. 1984, 49, 2107.

Appendix

The Question of Dioxirane Formation in the Ozonolysis of Tetramethylethylene

Recently Murray and co-workers published a paper entitled "The Ozonolysis of Tetramethylethylene. Concentration and Temperature Effects" 18(a) The following summarizing statements were made by these authors. "The products of the ozonolysis of tetramethylethylene in hexane or methylene chloride are remarkably dependent on the concentration of tetramethylethylene. Ozonolysis in neat tetramethylethylene gives mostly tetramethylethylene epoxide as product. As the concentration of tetramethylethylene is reduced, more acetone diperoxide is formed until it becomes the major product. The reaction also produces 3-hydroperoxy-2,3dimethyl-1-butene. The product distribution is also quite dependent on reaction temperature. At a given concentration of the alkene the epoxide yield decreases as the temperature is lowered. Simultaneously the acetone diperoxide yield increases with lower temperature. The results are explained by postulating that energy-rich acetone oxide can be partially converted to dimethyldioxirane which is primarily responsible for the epoxidation."

It is necessary to reconsider these authors' conclusion.

First of all, there are many obvious inconsistencies in the paper. For example, these authors claimed: "The major reaction products were tetramethylethylene epoxide, 8, the hydroperoxide 9, and acetone diperoxide, 5." However, according to Table I of the paper, even in the best case the total yield of these three products was just 16.29%. Actually, the major reaction product of ozonolysis of TME must be acetone. But these authors did not even mention it.

Second, all the discussions of these authors were based on the results of ozonolysis of TME to only 2% conversion. These authors stated: "When higher conversions are used it is more difficult to obtain precision in the data since the ozone/oxygen stream tends to carry away products even when a dry ice/acetone condenser is used." This statement implies that at higher conversions the yields of the above three products were lowered due to the loss of the products. No control experiment was carried out to support this statement. It is sure that the ozone/oxygen stream will carry away some products, but the amounts of the products lost will be very low especially at low temperature (the temperature was varied from 0 °C to -80 °C by these authors). The boiling points of the starting alkene and the solvents are TME 73 °C, methylene chloride 39.8-40.0 °C, and hexane 68-69 °C. The boiling point of the product TME oxide is 90.2-91.4 °C (753 mmHg),¹⁰³ higher than those of TME and either solvent. The boiling point of the hydroperoxide under atmospheric pressure is unavailable, but the reported bp is 54 °C (9 mmHg).¹⁰⁴ Acetone diperoxide is a solid and the reported melting point is 132-132.5°C.105 The vapor pressures of the three products are lower than those of the starting alkene or the solvents. Furthermore these three products just account for very small fractions of the whole reaction mixtures even if the conversion of TME were raised to higher than 2% or neat TME was used. Actually, in most cases the concentrations of TME were 10, 30 and 50%. Most importantly, there is no question that the main component of the gas stream is oxygen. Considering all these factors, one can easily conclude that the partial pressures of these three products in the outlet gas stream are extremely low. Thus, if the gas stream carries away something from the reaction mixture, it will carry away mainly the solvent or TME instead of the products. Therefore, it is not likely that higher conversion will affect the

precision of the data collected. Experimentally, whether the gas stream will carry away enough products to make the data collected inaccurate can be easily examined by carrying out a control experiment, such as passing a stream of oxygen through a solution of TME oxide for a certain time under the ozonolysis conditions and analyzing how much of TME oxide was lost.

Third, in the discussion part, these authors stated: "Thus at high concentrations of 4 (i.e., TME) higher yields of epoxide are formed since dioxirane 13 (or carbonyl oxide 12) has a greater opportunity to react with 4. Concurrently there is a decrease in the formation of the diperoxide 5 as the concentration of 4 is increased since the carbonyl oxide precursor is removed by conversion to 13 and subsequent reaction with 4 to give epoxide."

The first sentence implies that at the lower concentrations of TME, the dioxirane formed has less opportunity to react with TME, so the lower yields of epoxide are obtained. In the another paper, Murray has reported that solutions of dimethyldioxirane can be stored at low temperature for several davs.⁵⁹ Therefore. at the temperatures these authors employed dimethyldioxirane should not decompose in a short time. The time needed to finish the reaction between TME and dimethyldioxirane under the ozonolysis conditions these authors employed can be estimated as follows. Since only 2% of TME were converted to products, the concentration of TME is almost unchanged and is much larger than the concentrations of the dioxirane and the epoxide. Therefore, the second-order kinetic equation

$$t = \frac{1}{a-b} \ln \frac{b(a-x)}{a(b-x)} \frac{1}{k_2}$$

can be simplified to

$$t = \frac{1}{a} \ln \frac{b}{b-x} \frac{1}{k_2}$$

where a is the initial concentration of TME, b is the initial concentration of the dioxirane, and x is the concentration of the epoxide. The half-time (when x = 1/2b) for this reaction is

$$t_{\nu_2} = \frac{\ln 2}{a \cdot k_2}$$

The second-rate constant for this epoxidation reaction at 25 °C was reported to be 7.1 \pm 0.6 $M^{-1}S^{-1.60}$ The lowest concentration of TME these authors employed is 1% (v/v), that is 0.11 *M* (the density of TME is 0.875 g/mL, the molecular weight is 84.16. So, 1×0.875/84.16/0.1 \approx 0.10). Thus,

$$t_{\nu_2} = \frac{\ln 2}{0.10 \cdot 7.1} = 0.98$$
 second

In neat TME, the concentration of TME is 10.4 M ($100 \times 0.875/84.16/0.1$). Thus,

$$t_{\nu_2} = \frac{\ln 2}{10.4 \cdot 7.1} = 0.01 \text{ second}$$

These data mean that as long as the dioxirane is produced, even at the lowest concentration of TME the epoxidation reaction can be completely finished in a few seconds. In other words, the opportunities of the reaction of dioxirane with TME are actually the same at different concentrations of TME and so the yields of epoxide should be independent of the initial concentrations of TME.

The second sentence implies that the conversion of the carbonyl oxide to either the dioxirane or the diperoxide is dependent on the initial concentration of TME. This can only happen if the following two alternative equilibria were present in the reaction system even though the authors did not clearly say so.

$$\frac{H_{3}C}{H_{3}C} = \frac{O-O}{O-O} = \frac{CH_{3}}{CH_{3}} = \frac{12}{H_{3}C} = \frac{H_{3}C}{H_{3}C} = \frac{O-O}{H_{3}C} = \frac{H_{3}C}{H_{3}C} = \frac{O}{O} = \frac{TME}{H_{3}C} = \frac{H_{3}C}{H_{3}C} = \frac{O}{C} = \frac{CH_{3}}{H_{3}C} = \frac{12}{12}$$

or

$$\begin{array}{c} H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ H_{3}C \\ \end{array} \xrightarrow{O-O} \\ CH_{3} \\ CH_$$

Thus, at higher concentrations of TME, the equilibria were shifted to the right so higher yields of the epoxide and lower yields of the diperoxide were obtained. However, to the best of our knowledge, there is no evidence or precedent of the equilibrium between the dioxirane and the corresponding carbonyl oxide or the diradical intermediate.^{30(a)} Because such kinds of equilibria do not exist, the conversion of the common precursor carbonyl oxide to either dioxirane or diperoxide should not depend on the initial concentrations of TME. The competition between the formation of dioxirane and the formation of diperoxide from the common precursor carbonyl oxide should be dependent on the temperature because the two reactions have different reaction activation energies, as found in our study and also agreed by the authors. The other factors that may affect this competition would be the concentration of the carbonyl oxide and the polarity of the solvent.

Last, without considering the possible autooxidation of TME, these authors attributed the formation of TME epoxide and the hydroperoxide to the reactions of TME with dioxirane and singlet oxygen. In my opinion, the epoxide and the hydroperoxide are most likely formed from a radical chain oxidation reaction as discussed in Chapter I of this thesis. TME is such a material that it is very easy to undergo autooxidation. As described by the authors, a trace of epoxide could be detected by just storing a purified sample of TME at room temperature for 3 hours and 20 minutes and after 24 hours both epoxide and hydroperoxide could be detected. It can be expected that if a stream of oxygen is passed through the sample (as in the ozonolysis), a much shorter time will be needed to form the two products. Unfortunately, this simple control experiment was not carried out by the authors. Furthermore, the hydroperoxide, once it is produced, will react with ozone. It has been shown that the reaction between hydroperoxide and ozone will result in the formation of various radicals.³⁴ If this reaction does occur here, the resulting radicals will serve as initiators and the radical chain reaction will be largely accelerated. Thus, the formation of the epoxide and the hydroperoxide in less than 10% yield can be well accounted for by the radical chain oxidation reaction and the involvement of dioxirane epoxidation and singlet oxygen oxygenation is unnecessary.

On the basis of the above discussion, personally I believe these authors did not provide convincing evidence to support their conclusion that the dimethyldioxirane is involved in the ozonolysis of TME.